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throughout the United States. The company
owns 67 hotels with a total of 8,196 suites or
rooms in 23 states and focuses on acquiring
and/or developing Residence Inn by Marrioft
and other upscale extended-stay hotels and

the rebranding and repositioning of

\ other hotel properties.
4
\

>

g ot

e T

!._;i....—« s







/1AL 8 R

7
v i
K
- ”';" | :




B

-




gisidiii

f




To Qur Shareholders

The last two years have been among the most challenging in the history of

trough phase of the current cycle, and | am proud of the fact that
Innkeepers USA Trust remains on solid ground and continues to
enhance value to our shareholders. In 2003, we will celebrate our
ninth anniversary as a public company. We have built our business on a
sturdy foundation of core principals that have withstood the test of time
and have protected and enhanced the long-term value of our company:
* 88 percent of our percentage lease revenue is derived from our
dffiliation with the strongest franchisors in the hotel industry, Marrioft and Hilton.
* 86 percent of our percentage lease revenue is derived from the two leading
brands in their respective chain and price segments, i.e., Residence
Inn by Marrioft in the upscale, extended-stay segment and
Hampton Inn, a Hilion brand that dominates the midscale,
mid-price segment.
® 90 percent of our percentage lease revenue s,
or we expect will soon be, managed by Innkeepers
Hospitality, our offilictled manager. We believe that we
derive a number of benefits from having a single operctor
manage most of our hotels, including responsiveness and
significant operating, marketing and revenue synergies
in markets where we have more than one property.
e 70 percent of our percentage lease revenue

is derived from our hotels in major MSAs, eg.,

the travel, leisure and hotel industries. We now appear to be in the



MAINTAINING PROFITABILITY
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Chicago, Philadelphia and San Francisco, which are generally
characterized by significant barriers to entry and strong déhcnd
generators.

* Maintaining a strong and low-levered balance sheet. We have
one of the strongest capital structures in the REIT universe, with debt-
to-investment in hotels a low 27 percent and $0 outstanding on our
$135 million line of credit. Unlike more highly leveraged companies,
we were not faced with having to sell quality assets in a tough
environment at distressed prices to shore up our balance sheet, or
with having to cut or defer our capital expenditures.

* During the past two difficult years, we have spent $51 million on
capital expenditures at our hotels to ensure their strong competitive
position in the marketplace.

* Maintaining a disciplined approach to allocating capital. From
1995 to 1998, we implemented a very deliberate approach to acquiring
only hotel properties with the right franchisors, in the right locations and
at the right price, while at the same time maintaining @ strobng and
low-levered capital structure. In 1999 and 2000, the peak of the hotel
QCle, we suspended our acquisition program because the pricing of
such assets had become unjustifiably high. Now that we are close to
the bottom of the cycle, we are waiting for hotel properties to once
again become atiractively priced. With our strong balance sheet, we
have the capacity to acquire hotels during this part of the cycle.

* Fostering a strong owner/manager relationship by working in tandem
with our dffiliated operator, Innkeepers Hospitality, to creatively identify
new revenue demand generators, enhance guest satisfaction scores,
increase market share and refine revenue management techniques.

This solid foundation will allow us to enhance shareholder value by
increasing earnings, cash flow and dividends when a recovery in hotel
room demand occurs. Additionally, hotel supply growth is at historic
lows, projected at only 1 percent for 2003 and 2004. We believe that
there is significant revenue upside potential at many of our properties.
For example, our Silicon Valley hotels have lost 40 percent of their room
revenue since 2000. Even though the timing of a recovery is uncertain,
Silicon Valley remains the nucleus of the important high-tech industry, @

key industry which has in the past rebounded from similar downturns.
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We also expect our earnings, cash flow and dividends to be enhanced by acquiring attractively priced properties,
in the trough phase of the corrent cycle, and by selectively developing hotels in markets with high barriers to entry and
numerous demand generators. A good example of our disciplined development can be found throughout this annual report
in the photos and captions of our new Saddle River, New Jersey Residence Inn by Marriott, which opened in September
2002 and has been performing in line with our projections.

Shareholder value has also been enhanced by selectively selling assets. We have sold five hotels during our nine years
as a public company. These properties were sold because they did not fit info our long-term strategy; the sales were not
motivated by financial problems. We will selectively prune hotels from our portfolio when we determine that a property has
maximized its revenue and income potential and will then reinvest the proceeds in hotels that meet our brand and loca-
tion requirements and have stronger long-term growth prospects.

At this time, we are negotiating to acquire the lessee position for 61 of our 67 hotels. By acquiring the leases, we will be
able to participate in any lessee net income earned by the hotels. Our prudent and disciplined approach of waiting to
acquire the lessee position meant that we were not fully exposed to the unprecedented two-year period in the lodging
industry, which was characterized by declining RevPAR, operating margins and lessee net income. We believe that now is
an advantageous time to acquire the lessee position, as we approach the bottom of this cycle.

We expect 2003 to be another difficult year, not only for Innkeepers but for the entire hotel industry. We understand
the cyclical nature of our business and have the utmost confidence in our strategies, our assets and our management team.
We and our operators will remain focused on preserving and enhancing the cash flow at our hotels, aggressively
marketing our properties to business and leisure travelers, controlling operating costs at our hotels, maintaining our
low-debt capital structure, and aggressively pursuing acquisifion opportunities when conditions warrant.

We know the importance of our dividend to our shareholders and will continue to look for opportunities fo improve our
resulls in order to enhance both the dividend amount, currenfly $0.32 paid annudlly, and its sustainability. With what we
believe is the coming upswing in the cycle, we are hopeful that we will be able to grow our quarterly dividend again.

We appreciate your continued support over the past nine years. Looking ahead, we are very optimistic about the

long-term future of your company, and we will continue to work diligently to maximize shareholder returns.

Respectfully yours,

D —

Jeffrey H. Fisher :
. Chief Executive Officer and President
- ; March 14, 2003
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THIS REPORT CONTAINS AND INCORPORATES BY REFERENCE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” WITHIN THE
MEANING OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, STATEMENTS CONTAINING THE WORDS
“ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS,” “BELIEVES,” “ANTICIPATES,” “EXPECTS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR IMPORT. FACTORS
IDENTIFIED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS REPORT WHICH COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER INCLUDE
BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO THOSE DISCUSSED IN THE SECTIONS ENTITLED “RISK FACTORS,” “INTERNAL GROWTH
STRATEGY,” “PROPERTY OPERATIONS,” “ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY,” AND “MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.” SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS RELATE TO FUTURE EVENTS AND THE FUTURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF OUR COMPANY AND INVOLVE
KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS OF OUR COMPANY TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE RESULTS OR ACHIEVEMENT
EXPRESSED AND IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS
ARE DISCUSSED IN THE “RISK FACTORS” SECTION OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K, AND IN OTHER REPORTS FILED
BY US FROM TIME TO TIME WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. WE ARE NOT OBLIGATED TO UPDATE ANY
SUCH FACTORS OR TO REFLECT THE IMPACT OF ACTUAL FUTURE EVENTS OR DEVELOPMENTS ON SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS.

PARTI
Item 1. Business
(a) General

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”).
Innkeepers owns interests in 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,196 rooms/suites (the “Hotels”) through its
partnership interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and
collectively with Innkeepers, the “Company™).

The Company leases 61 of the Hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. (or affiliated entities, collectively the
“IH Lessee”) and six of the Hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels™) to affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc. (the
“Summerfield Lessee” and together with the IH Lessee, the “Lessees”), pursuant to percentage leases (the
“Percentage Leases™). The Percentage Leases allow the Company to participate in revenue from the Hotels by
providing for the payment of rent based on percentages of room revenues. Each Percentage Lease also provides for
a minimum base rent to be paid in the event that percentage rent does not exceed that base rent. The IH Lessee
manages 44 of the Hotels it leases from the Company. The IH Lessee has entered into management contracts (the
“Marriott Management Agreements”) with wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”) to
manage 17 of the Hotels. The Summerfield Lessee has entered into management contracts with its affiliates to
manage the six Summerfield Hotels.

Jeffrey H. Fisher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of
Trustees, controls the TH Lessee. Rolf E. Ruhfus, a Trustee of the Company, is also a director of Wyndham
International, Inc.

Recent Events

Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels. In January 2003, the Company and the IH
Lessee entered into a letter of intent with Marriott for a transaction under which the IH Lessee will convert the
Marriott Management Agreements into long-term franchise agreements. The IH Lessee will pay a royalty fee of 6%
% of room revenues to Marriott for the first ten years of each franchise agreement and a 5 % royalty thereafter. The
term of the franchise agreements will be a minimum-of 1[5 years. Marriott will have enhanced rights to terminate
after 10 years the franchise agreements for the five “Generation 1” Residence Inn by Marriott hotels that are among
the 17 hotels, and Marriott will have the right to terminate the franchise agreement for one hotel after four years.
The TH Lessee will also pay Marriott a conversion fee each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004, equal to $850,000
plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (after rent under the Percentage Leases) in excess of a specified
threshold. A portion of the conversion fee allocable to any hotel will be waived for a year if, generally, the hotel’s
room revenues for that year decline below certain levels and certain other conditions are met. The Company will




guarantee the IH Lessee’s obligations under the new franchise agreements, including payment of the conversion fee.
In connection with these conversions, the [H Lessee and the Company will generally release Marriott from any
liability accruing with respect to any Marriott-branded hotel owned by the Company as of the conversion date, The
TH Lessee expects to convert four of the 17 hotels on or about March 28, 2003 and the balance on-or before June 20,
2003. The terms described above and the conversion of the 17 hetels to management by the IH Lessee are subject
to the execution of definitive documentation by the TH Lessee, Marriott and the Company, and the satisfaction of
other conditions including obtaining lender consents.

Potential Transaction Involving the TH Lessee’s Lease Position. Prior to the passage of the REIT
Modernization Act (“RMA”) effective January 1, 2001, REITs were generally required to lease their hotels to
entities in which they owned less than a 10% interest. The RMA permits a REIT to lease its hotels to taxable REIT
subsidiaries (“TRS”™) in which the REIT can own up to a 100% interest. TRS pay corporate level income tax and
may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to use the TRS structure. One of those
conditions is that the TRS must hire, to manage the hotels, an ‘eligible independent contractor’ (“EIC”) that is
actively engaged in the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the REIT. An EIC cannot (i) own
more than 35% of the REIT, (ii) be owned more than 35% by persons owning more than 35% of the REIT or (iii)
provide any income to the REIT (i.e., the EIC cannot pay fees to the REIT and the REIT cannot own any debt or
equity securities of the EIC). Affiliates of the IH Lessee are in the process of obtaining management contracts on
hotels owned by parties other than the REIT, in order to qualify as an EIC.

Due to Mr. Fisher’s control of the IH Lessee and his position with the Company, the Company’s Board of
Trustees formed a special committee of disinterested trustees, consisting of all of the Company’s trustees other than
Mr. Fisher, to review the strategic alternatives regarding the lessee position available under the RMA. The special
committee engaged an independent financial advisor to assist it in the analysis and also retained independent
counsel to advise it in connection with the negotiations and any transaction. In December 2002, the special
committee began negotiations with the IH Lessee regarding the possible structure and terms of a transaction (the
“TRS Transaction”), and those negotiations are continuing.

Overview of the Company’s Hotels

The Company focuses primarily on upscale extended-stay hotels and 52 of the Company’s 67 hotels are in
the upscale extended-stay segment. Upscale extended-stay hotels are typified by the following characteristics: (i)
their principal customer base is business travelers who are on assignment for executive training and consulting,
project assignment and corporate relocations; (ii) their service and amenities include complimentary breakfast and
evening cocktails, limited meeting space, daily linen and room cleaning service, 24-hour front desk, guest grocery
services, and an on-site maintenance staff, and (iii) their physical facilities include large rooms, quality construction,
full separate kitchens, quality room furnishings, pool, and exercise facilities. The upscale extended-stay hotel
concept was developed by Jack P. DeBoer, who founded the Residence Inn brand and, with co-founder Rolf E.
Ruhfus, the Summerfield Suites brand. Both Mr. DeBoer and Mr. Ruhfus serve on the Company’s Board of
Trustees.

The following charts set forth certain information with respect to the Hotels at December 31, 2002:



Number of Number of

Franchise Affiliation Hotels Rooms/Suites
Upscale Extended-Stay
Residence Inn by Marriott 46 5,489
Summerfield Suites by Wyndham 5 650
Sunrise Suites 1 96
52 6,235
Mid-Priced
Hampton Inn 12 1,526
Courtyard by Marriott 1 136
TownePlace Suites by Marriott 1 95
Holiday Inn Express 1 204
15 1,961
67 8,196
Number Number of Percentage of
State of Hotels Suites/Rooms Suites/Rooms

California 10 1,512 18.4%
Washington S 624 7.6
Florida 5 599 7.3
[ilinois 4 560 6.8
Texas 4 544 6.6
Michigan 5 516 6.3
New Jersey 4 482 6.0
Georgia 3 429 52
Pennsylvania 3 325 4.0
New York 3 319 39
Maryland 2 310 3.8
Virginia 3 305 3.7
Massachusetts 2 303 3.7
Colorado 2 284 35
Connecticut 2 192 23
Kentucky 2 176 2.1
Indiana 2 168 2.0
Minnesota 1 126 1.5
Oregon 1 112 1.4
North Carolina 1 88 1.1
Ohio 1 80 1.0
Maine 1 78 1.0
Kansas 1 64 0.8

67 8,196 100.0%

(b) Financial Information About Industry Segments

The Company is in the business of acquiring equity interests in hotel properties and limits its activities to
one industry segment.

(<) Narrative Description of Business
General. The Company is a self-administered Maryland real estate investment trust, which owned equity

interests in 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,196 rooms/suites at December 31, 2002. The Company had 22
employees at December 31, 2002. The ownership of the Partnership is as follows at December 31, 2002:




Class A Class B

Common Preferred Preferred
Units % Units (1) % Units (1) %
Innkeepers 37,483,913 96.98% 4,630,000 100.00% -- --
Third parties 1,167,893 3.02% -- - 3,884,469 100.00%
Total 38,651,806 100.00% 4,630,000 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%

(1) For a description of the Class A Preferred Units and the Class B Preferred Units, please see Note 5 to the
Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1.

Internal Growth Strategy. The Percentage Leases are designed to allow the Company to participate in
growth in room revenue at the Hotels by providing for the payment of rent based upon percentages of room
revenues (“Percentage Rent™). Under the Percentage Leases, once room revenues at a Hotel reach a specified level
(a “Revenue Break Point”), the Company receives between 68% and 70% of incremental room revenues. Each
Percentage Lease also provides for a fixed annual base rent (“Base Rent”). Percentage Rent and Base Rent are
referred to sometimes in this document as “Rent.” The Percentage Leases generally provide that annual Base Rent

and the Revenue Break Points for the payment of Percentage Rent are adjusted annually based on changes in the
U.S. Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).

The Company seeks to increase Percentage Lease payments through the following: (i) aggressive asset
management, which includes monitoring the operators’ marketing programs, sales management policies and
operational initiatives at the Hotels, (i1) significant and continuing reinvestment in the Hotels, and (iii) the possible
development of hotels on a selected basis.

Sales and Revenite Management. The TH Lessee uses market-oriented sales management programs to

coordinate, direct and manage the sales activities of personnel located at each hotel it operates. Each property has a

detailed marketing and business plan that outlines its strategy relative to corporate accounts, market segments, group
revenue targets and new business goals.

Daily and weekly sales reports are generated by each salesperson through the daily use of an account
management database program. Sales associates input data that identifies all sales related activities which have
taken place during the day (e.g., appointments, sales calls, direct mailings, incoming calls) and the results of such
actions (e.g., appointments made, literature sent, revenue booked). Each salesperson also inputs any comments
made by prospective or existing customers, the potential for new or continued business and the timing of the follow-
up action required. The data from each hotel is synchronized regularly with the corporate office and maintained in a
master database for monitoring and strategy purposes.

At December 31, 2002, the IH Lessee employed four regional managers and dedicated sales associates at
each hote] to oversee sales and marketing efforts. The sales reports permit management to promptly evaluate a
salesperson’s productivity as measured by the quantity of sales calls versus targets, call results and revenue booked.
These sales reports also allow comparisons of the ongoing sales efforts at the applicable hotel to the marketing and

business plan established for each hotel and allow management to adapt the marketing and business plan
accordingly.

The IH Lessee employs a corporate revenue management team to provide leadership, guidance and
expertise in support of the properties’ planning and execution of fundamental revenue management principles. This
includes pricing relative to market demand and competitors’ pricing; corporate account and group pricing; yield
management tactics; and turndown and market share analysis. Additionally, this team ensures that each property’s
reservation system is set up effectively. Marriott and the Summerfield Lessee have similar initiatives in place.

Capital Improvements, Renovation and Refurbishment. The Percentage Leases require the Lessees to
maintain the Hotels in a condition that complies with their respective franchise licenses and the Marriott
Management Agreements, among other requirements. In addition, the Company may upgrade the Hotels in order to
capitalize on opportunities to increase revenue, and as needed to meet competitive conditions and preserve asset
quality. The Company may also renovate Hotels when it believes the investment in renovations will provide an



attractive return to the Company through increased revenue under the Percentage Leases or is otherwise in the best
interests of the Company.

The Percentage Leases generally obligate the Company to make available to the Lessees an amount equal
to 4% or 5% of room revenue, on a monthly basis, for use by the Lessees (or Marrioft, under the Marriott
Management Agreements) to repair or replace furniture, fixtures and equipment and for other capital expenditures at
the Hotels. The Company’s obligation is cumulative and carries forward to the extent that such amounts are not
used by the Lessees (or Marriott). The Company expended approximately $21 million, $30 million and $19 million
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, for furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at
the hotels owned during these periods. The Company expects to spend approximately $25 million for such
purposes in 2003. These amounts substantially exceeded the amounts required to be made available under the
Percentage Leases.

The Company anticipates that it will engage an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett™) to perform
certain renovation projects in 2003. The Company anticipates that it will enter into renovation contracts with the
Hatchett affiliate totaling approximately $2 to $3 million in 2003. The affiliate of Hatchett is approximately 45%
owned by Equity Inns, Inc. (“Equity”). An affiliate of the IH Lessee is negotiating to manage a hotel owned by
Equity commencing in 2003. The IH Lessee expects this contract to assist its affiliates in qualifying as an EIC
under the RMA, which would facilitate a TRS Transaction. The Company has taken, and will continue to take,
steps to confirm that the pricing, quality and service that the Hatchett affiliate provides is substantially comparable
to that which is generally available in the marketplace for products and services that the Company will acquire from
or through the Hatchett affiliate.

Property Operations ~ The IH Lessee. The Company believes that the quality of the on-site hotel
operators is important to the future growth in Percentage Lease revenue from the Hotels. The IH Lessee leases 61
of the Hotels pursuant to the Percentage Leases. The IH Lessee and its affiliates manage 44 of the Hotels and, as
described in “— Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels,” beginning in 2003, the IH Lessee expects to
manage 61 of the Hotels.

Under the Percentage Leases, the IH Lessee generally is required to perform or provide for all operational
and management functions necessary to operate the Hotels that it leases. Such functions include front desk,
accounting, periodic reporting, ordering supplies, direct sales and marketing, maid service, laundry, and preventive
maintenance and repairs. The IH Lessee is entitled to all revenue from the Hotels after the payment of rent under
the Percentage Leases and other operating expenses, including any management fees payable to third-party
managers.

The TH Lessee operates Hampton Inn, Residence Inn by Marriott, Courtyard by Marriott and Holiday Inn
Express hotels under franchise agreements. The Company has paid or will pay the cost of obtaining certain
franchise license agreements. The franchise agreements require the TH Lessee to pay fees based on a percentage of
hotel revenue. As described above under “— Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels,” the TH Lessce
will be obligated to pay additional conversion fees under the franchise agreements expected to be executed for the
17 hotels currently managed by Marriott. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to confirm
adherence to their operating standards. The results of these inspections can result in additional capital expenditure
requirements for the Company, or additional operational, marketing or repairs and maintenance expenses for the TH
Lessee. The Company has guaranteed certain obligations of the IH Lessee under the franchise licenses, generally in
exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company terminates the related Percentage
Lease. See “—Internal Growth Strategy — Sales and Revenue Management’”” above for more information on the IH
Lessee’s operations, and “Properties — The Percentage Leases” below for further information on the Percentage
Leases.

Property Operations — Marriott Management. Marriott currently operates 16 Residence Inn by Marriott
hotels and one TownePlace Suites by Marriott hotel pursuant to the Marriott Management Agreements with the TH
Lessee. The Marriott Management Agreements allow the hotels subject thereto to be operated as Residence Inn by
Marriott.or TownePlace Suites hotels for the duration of the agreements, provided that the hotels are maintained in
accordance with system standards.




Under each Marriott Management Agreement, the IH Lessee is required to pay to Marriott a base
management fee, a franchise system fee and a marketing fee, alt of which are based on the revenues at the relevant
Hotel, and an incentive management fee based on net income of the hotel. The IH Lessee is responsible for making
all payments to Marriott under the Marriott Management Agreements. The Company has loaned the TH Lessee the
working capital deposit required under the IH Lessee’s management agreements with Marriott (these loans totaled
$860,000 at December 31, 2002). The Company has also agreed to be secondarily liable for certain of the IH
Lessee’s obligations, generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company
terminates the related Percentage Lease. Please also refer to “~ Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed
Hotels” above.

Property Operations — The Summerfield Lessee. The Summerfield Lessee leases and operates six of the
Summerfield Hotels. Under the Percentage Leases, the Summerfield Lessee generally is required to perform or
provide for all operational and management functions necessary to operate the Hotels. Such functions include
accounting, periodic reporting, ordering supplies, front desk, advertising and marketing, maid service, laundry, and
repairs and maintenance. The Summerfield Lessee is entitled to all revenue from the hotels after the payment of
rent under the Percentage Leases, management or franchise fees and any other hotel operating expenses (including
property and casualty insurance). Summerfield may be terminated as lessee of a hotel if certain performance criteria
set forth in the Percentage Leases are not met, subject to certain exceptions.

The Company believes that the Summerfield Lessee failed certain performance tests at one or more of the
Summerfield Hotels in 2002, which may give rise to certain rights under the Percentage Leases for the effected
Summerfield Hotels, possibly including the right to terminate those Percentage Leases. The Company is in
discussions with the Summerfield Lessee regarding the Company’s rights under the Percentage Leases and a
possible resolution of these matters.

Acquisition and Development Strategy. The Company’s primary acquisition and development strategy
includes acquiring or developing hotels that are (i) upscale extended-stay hotels, (i) located in markets with
relatively high barriers to entry and/or strong demand characteristics and (iii) located near other hotels owned by the
Company thereby allowing its operators to enhance revenue by capitalizing on local knowledge and directing
overflow business to Company-owned hotels. The Company also seeks to selectively acquire under-performing
hotels to which the Company can add value through repositioning in the market, renovation or re-flagging to
premium hotel brands.

Target Markets. The Company’s focus is on markets that have high barriers to entry relative to other
markets, such as in the Middle Atlantic (specifically New York and New Jersey), New England, and the Pacific
coast region states, which are generally characterized by scarcity or high cost of available land, extensive permit
approval requirements, restrictive zoning, stringent local development laws, a relatively long lead time required to
develop an upscale extended-stay hotel and the relatively higher costs associated with such development. In
addition, the Company seeks out submarkets within favorable regions that have multiple fast-growing demand
generators, such as major office or manufacturing complexes, airports, major colleges and universities and medical
centers with convenient access to major thoroughfares. Additionally, the Company seeks hotels in proximity to
hotels already owned by the Company, where the Company’s operators may draw upon their knowledge of local
market conditions, develop certain economies of scale and cross-market among the Hotels in the same area.

Acquisition of Upscale Extended-Stay Hotels. The Company focuses on acquiring upscale extended-stay
hotels because of the performance of that segment, which has resulted primarily (i) from the prevailing social and
economic changes that are increasing the demand for upscale extended-stay hotels, including the increasing
tendency of businesses to conduct on- and off-site training for employees, corporate out-sourcing and the use of
consultants, and the general increased mobility of the United States workforce, (ii) from the ability to generate a
more consistent revenue stream than traditional hotels due to higher average occupancies and longer average stays
and (iii) because we believe that the demand for hotel rooms by guests who stay longer than five consecutive room
nights has exceeded the number of currently existing extended-stay hotel rooms. Extended-stay hotels also require
less staff and have lower fixed costs than full-service hotels and are designed and operated in a way that typically
has resulted in higher operating margins than most full-service hotels. Relatively low fixed costs and relatively high
margins, as compared to full-service hotels, help maintain and enhance the cash flow from, and asset value of,



extended-stay hotels, particularly in a down economic period. The Company also believes that its relationships,
particularly with Marriott, will provide it with opportunities to acquire desirable hotel properties, primarily in the
upscale, extended-stay segment.

Acquisition of Under-Performing Hotels. Although the primary focus of the Company is on the upscale
extended-stay segment, the Company will from time to time consider acquisition of under-performing mid-priced
and full-service hotels that have the potential for strategic repositioning in the market or re-flagging to a premium
franchise brand, or that can benefit from substantial renovation. Generally, hotels that meet the Company’s
investment criteria include (i) poorly managed hotels that have the potential for increased performance following
the introduction of a quality management team, (ii) hotels in deteriorated physical condition that could benefit
significantly from renovation, and/or (iii) hotels in attractive locations that the Company believes could benefit
significantly by changing franchises to a brand the Company believes is superior, such as Hampton Inn or
Courtyard by Marriott.

Development. The Company developed and opened a 121-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in
Tysons Corner, VA on January 8, 2001. The total cost of this project was $14.0 million.

The Company developed and opened a 174-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in Saddle River,
NJ on September 15, 2002. The total cost of this project was $22.9 million.

The Company also reviews other development opportunities for hotels that are consistent with its target
market, product and brand strategies. The Company intends to only pursue selective development of hotels that
meet its underwriting requirements (i) when the Company believes that projected incremental returns adequately
compensate for the costs and any incremental risk assumed by the Company, (ii) when the Company believes that a
hotel developed by the Company will create or increase synergies with other Company-owned hotels in the area that
will enhance the performance of all of those hotels or (iii) in order to maintain control of a site determined to have
superior hotel potential.

Risk Factors. An investment in the Comipany is subject to significant risks, including those that we
disclose in reports filed from time to time with the SEC. A discussion of “Risk Factors™ is included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K beginning on page R-1.

Available Information. The Company’s Internet website is www.innkeepersusa.com. The Company
makes available free of charge through its website its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information on the Company’s website is not, and shall not
be deemed to be, a part of this report or incorporated into any other filings that-we make with the SEC.

Item 2. Properties

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Hotels.

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Number Lease
of Suites/ Room Payment Occupancy ADR RevPAR
Rooms Revenue 1 2) 2) (2)
Residence Inn:
Addison, TX 150 $3,136,557 $1,283,323 67.86% $84.42 $57.29
Altamonte Springs, FL 128 2,780,768 1,194,229 71.02 83.81 59.52
Arlington, TX 114 2,845,687 1,233,816 77.06 88.75 68.39
Atlanta (Downtown), GA 160 4,124,896 1,440,529 7033 100.43 70.63
Atlanta (Peachtree Corners), GA 120 2,414,753 1,010,523 69.30 79.55 55.13
Bellevue, WA 120 4,328,140 2,133,271 77.75 127.10 98.82
Binghamton, NY 72 1,711,502 658,716 7429 87.66 65.13
Bothell, WA 120 3,233,182 1,434,312 69.37 106.41 73.82
Cherry Hill, NJ 96 2,641,347 1,055,841 81.18 92.86 75.38
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Year Ended December 31,2002

Number Lease
of Suites/ Room Payment Occupancy ADR RevPAR
Rooms Revenue 1) (2) 2) 2)

Columbus East, OH 80 1,657,967 506,476 68.64 82.72 56.78
Denver (Downtown), CO 156 4,365,140 1,773,132 82.57 92.85 76.66
Denver (South), CO 128 2,951,711 1,223,343 71.39 88.49 63.18
East Lansing, MI 60 1,451,191 570,324 72.67 91.19 66.26
Eden Prairie, MN 126 2,588,857 912,178 70.03 80.38 56.29
Fort Wayne, IN 80 1,421,546 486,615 66.82 72.86 48.68
Fremont, CA 80 2,008,424 712,544 67.27 102.25 68.78
Gaithersburg, MD 132 4,110,076 1,950,199 81.87 104.19 85.31
Grand Rapids, M1 96 2,203,754 906,704 73.40 85.69 62.89
Harrisburg, PA 80 2,395,833 1,028,237 80.16 102.36 82.05
Indianapolis, IN 88 1,759,839 527,715 69.88 78.41 54,79
Lexington, KY 80 1,945,678 714,625 79.42 83.90 66.63
Livonia, M1 112 3,127,597 1,293,039 81.12 94.32 76.51
Louisville, KY 96 2,283,214 1,027,946 80.31 81.13 65.16
Lynnwood, WA 120 3,165,316 1,586,325 82.44 87.66 72.27
Mountain View (Palo Alto), CA - 112 3,901,988 2,130,805 72.37 131.90 95.45
Ontario, CA i 199 5,809,981 2,731,837 81.37 98.30 79.99
Portland, ME 78 1,950,467 781,057 81.09 84.48 68.51
Portland South, OR 112 2,694,829 1,384,637 82.60 79.81 65.92
Richmond, VA 80 1,804,340 649,974 74.68 82.74 61.79
Richmond NW, VA 104 1,879,306 898,981 61.88 80.01 49.51
Rosemont, IL 192 5,955,608 2,693,919 81.57 104.19 84.98
Saddle River, NJ 174 926,077 261,339 41.25 119.48 4928
San Jose, CA 80 2,811,947 1,258,940 83.34 115.55 96.30
San Jose South, CA 150 5,056,581 2,183,344 77.04 119.89 92.36
San Mateo, CA 159 4,491,978 1,989,865 73.92 104.71 77.40
Shelton, CT 96 2,947,734 1,368,517 76.17 110.44 84.12
Silicon Valley I, CA 231 6,866,373 3,477,046 69.30 117.51 81.44
Silicon Valley I, CA 247 7,089,802 3,631,420 63.73 123.39 78.64
Troy (Central), MI 152 3,543,344 1,582,109 66.86 95.52 63.87
Troy (Southeast), MI 96 1,977,931 735,353 60.61 93.13 56.45
Tukwila, WA 144 3,775,265 2,190,240 77.94 92.16 71.83
Tyson's Corner, VA 121 3,824,273 1,976,981 72.49 119.45 86.59
Vancouver, WA 120 2,326,862 1,472,026 71.90 73.89 53.12
Wichita East, KA 64 1,451,385 471,814 75.06 82.77 62.13
Windsor, CT 36 2,569,259 963,275 73.34 99.98 73.32
Winston-Salem, NC 38 1,676,508 638,056 67.55 77.27 52.20
Summerfield Suites:

Addison, TX 132 2,478,357 1,297,150 68.94 74.62 51.44
Belmont, CA 132 4,694,222 2,285,983 82.58 117.98 97.43
El Segundo 122 3,831,358 1,665,084 88.92 96.76 86.04
Las Colinas, TX 148 4,336,509 1,880,058 84.46 95.04 80.28
Mount Laurel, NJ 116 3,406,532 1,246,189 91.64 87.79 80.46
West Hollywood, CA (3) - 1,861,690 819,583 80.62 103.85 83.72
Hampton Inn:

Albany (Latham), NY 126 2,555,640 1,292,191 60.22 92.28 55.57
Germantown, MD 178 2,682,273 1,203,227 51.65 79.94 41.28
Islandia (Long Island), NY 121 3,852,032 2,014,928 67.55 129.12 87.22
Lombard, IL 128 1,897,600 737,759 51.25 79.25 40.62
Naples, FL 107 1,533,558 500,330 52.61 74.64 39.27
Norcross, GA 149 1,749,902 762,048 50.30 63.97 32.18
Schaumburg, IL 128 2,296,473 1,103,454 57.19 85.95 49.15
Tallahassee, FL 93 2,130,475 1,103,577 81.05 77.44 62.76
West Palm Beach, FL 135 2,331,845 881,738 69.40 68.18 4732
Westchester, IL 112 2,417,311 1,221,462 63.91 92.53 59.13
Willow Grove (Philadelphia), PA 150 3,772,820 2,019,323 68.35 100.81 68.91
Woburn, MA 99 1,996,458 854,394 54.63 101.13 55.28
Sunrise Suites:

Tinton Falls, NJ 96 2,760,933 900,174 78.98 99.76 78.79
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Year Ended December 31, 2002

Number Lease
of Suites/ Room Payment Occupancy ADR RevPAR
Rooms Revenue 1) 2) 2) )]

Holiday Inn Express:
Lexington, MA 204 2,751,641 1,037,193 41.70 88.63 36.95
Courtyard:
Fort Lauderdale, FL 136 2,686,038 1,211,976 63.72 84.92 54.11
TownePlace Suites:
Horsham, PA 95 2,158,229 1,152,871 85.42 72.86 62.24
Consolidated Total / Weighted Average 8,196 $200,166,707 $89,326,189 71.09% $94.84 $67.42

(1) Represents Percentage Lease revenue from the Lessees to the Company calculated in accordance with the Percentage Leases.

(2) Represents the occupancy, average daily rate (“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR”) of the Hotels for the year. RevPAR for
a hotel is calculated by multiplying its ADR by its occupancy rate.

(3) Hotel sold on July 24, 2002. Information for this hotel is limited to the period owned by the Company.

The Percentage Leases. Each Percentage Lease contains provisions substantially similar to those
described below, and the Company intends that future percentage leases with respect to additional hotels it may
acquire will contain substantially similar provisions.

Percentage Lease Terms. Each Percentage Lease has an initial term of at least ten years (except that the
leases for the Tysons Corner, VA and Saddle River, NJ hotels have terms of five years), subject to earlier
termination upon the occurrence of defaults thereunder and certain other events described in the Percentage Lease.
Each of the IH leases has a cross default provision with the other leases between the Company and the IH Lessee.
The terms of the oldest of the Company’s Percentage Leases begin expiring in the fourth quarter of 2004. Certain
of the Percentage Leases contain renewal terms of up to 15 years, which may be exercised by the Lessees. Under
the renewal provisions for each such Percentage Lease, the rent formula for the renewal term will be re-set to
produce a then-current market rate rent. The Company also currently expects to renew any expiring Percentage
Lease with the TH Lessee that does not specifically provide for a renewal term with a rent formula that is set to
produce a then-current market rate rent.

Amounts Payable Under the Percentage Leases. The Lessees are obligated to pay to the Company the
greater of Base Rent or Percentage Rent. Percentage Rent is based on percentages of room revenues for each of the
Hotels. Both the Base Rent and the Revenue Break Point (as defined in “Business — Narrative Description of
Business — Internal Growth Strategy” above) in each Percentage Rent formula are adjusted annually for inflation
based upon the change in the CPI during the prior calendar year. The CPI increases effective January 1, 2003 and
2002 were 2.37% and 1.30%, respectively. Under the Percentage Rent formula, the Company receives between
30% and 36.5% of room revenue up to the Revenue Break Point and between 68% and 70% of room revenue in
excess of the Revenue Break Point.

Other than real estate and personal property taxes, ground lease rent (where applicable), the cost of certain
furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain capital expenditures, and property and casualty insurance, which are
obligations of the Company, the Percentage Leases require the Lessees to pay Base Rent, Percentage Rent and the
operating expenses of the Hotels during the terms of the Percentage Leases. Unlike the IH Lessee, the Summerfield
Lessee also must pay for property and casualty insurance for the six Summerfield Hotels it leases.

Maintenance and Modifications. The Percentage Leases obligate the Company to make available to the
Lessees for the repair, replacement and refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital
expenditures at the Hotels, when and as deemed necessary by the Lessees, an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room
revenues, per month on a cumulative basis. The Company’s obligation is carried forward to the extent that the
Lessees have not spent such amount, and any unspent amounts remain the property of the Company upon
termination of the Percentage Leases. In addition, the Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in
excess of the obligated amounts if necessary to comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise license or




Marriott Management Agreement and otherwise to the extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in
the best interests of the Company. Otherwise, the Lessees are required, at their expense, to (i) maintain the Hotels
in good order and repair, (ii) pay for all operating expenses of the Hotels and (iii) comply with the requirements of
any of the Company’s loan agreements (to the extent applicable to property operations or cash management), any
franchise agreement, the Marriott Management Agreements and applicable law.

Insurance. Each Percentage Lease specifies comprehensive insurance te be maintained on each of the
Hotels, including liability, property and casualty and extended coverage. The Company’s loan agreements also
require insurance which may be more comprehensive than that required by the Percentage Leases. See “Risk
Factors — Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — Jack P. DeBoer” and “Risk Factors — Investment
Risks in the Real Estate Industry Generally may Adversely Affect our Ability to Make Distributions to our
Shareholders — Uninsured and Underinsured Losses” below.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Other than as described below, the Company is not presently a defendant in any material litigation, nor, to
its knowledge, is any material litigation threatened against the Company or its properties, other than routine
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business and which is expected to pose no material financial risk to the
Company and/or is expected to be covered by the Company’s or the Lessees’ insurance policies.

In May 2000, the former Chief Operating Officer of the Company (who is a minority shareholder of certain
of the IH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company, the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleges that he was
wrongfully terminated by the Company under his employment contract with the Company, was wrongfully
terminated by the IH Lessee under his employment contract with the IH Lessee, was injured by various breaches of
fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director and majority shareholder of the IH Lessee, and various
other related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. In December 2002, the defendants entered into a
settlement agreement with the plaintiff that is contingent upon the closing of a TRS Transaction (see “Business —
General — Potential Transaction Involving the IH Lessee’s Lease Position™ above). In exchange for a complete
release of all claims and in settlement of the litigation, (a) the Company agreed to pay plaintiff $1.8 million in cash
and vest 116,908 unvested restricted common shares, which resulted in a non-cash charge of $1.2 million, and (b)
the IH Lessee agreed to pay the plaintiff $5.9 million. Mr. Fisher agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s equity interests:
in- the IH Lessee for $1 million. The Company also agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s 116,908 restricted shares, at
his option, upon closing of a TRS Transaction at the then-current market price. If a TRS Transaction does not close
by April 30, 2003, in the absence of a further agreement among the parties, the litigation will resume and the
Company (and the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher) presently intends to continue to aggressively defend all allegations.

Item 4, Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders between October 1, 2002 and
December 31, 2002.

PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters
The Company’s common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “KPA.”

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices for the common shares, as
traded on such exchange.

High Low
2002
First qQUarter.......ooeceverrrescnvnnrereconienns $ 1145 $ 9.41
Second quarter 11.95 8.91
Third quarter............ 9.49 6.45
Fourth quarter............cccocccmvcencnnnncae 8.07 6.42
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High Low

2001
FIrst QUATtET......ooovvecriereeierccee v s 12.43 10.63
Second quarter 12.25 10.00
Third quarter-......... 11.95 7.00
Fourth quarter 9.91 6.81

At March 3, 2003 the Company had approximately 428 holders of record of its common shares and
approximately 37 holders of record of the Series A Preferred Shares. It is estimated that there were approximately
10,000 beneficial owners of the common shares.

IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO
QUALIFICATION OF THE COMPANY AS A REIT, THE COMPANY’S DECLARATION OF TRUST
LIMITS THE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES THAT MAY BE OWNED BY ANY SINGLE PERSON
OR AFFILIATED GROUP TO 9.8% OF THE OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES. SEE “RISK
FACTORS - OUR SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMITATION MAY PREVENT CERTAIN TRANSFERS OF
OUR COMMON SHARES” BELOW.

The following table sets forth information regarding the declaration and payment of distributions by the
Company on its common shares and Series A Preferred Shares for the years ending December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Series A
Common Preferred
share Share
Quarter to which distribution Record Payment distribution distribution
relates date date amount amount
2002

FIrst qUATET ..o vvriercseree e 03/29/2002 04/30/2002 $0.08 $0.53906
Second quarter 06/28/2002 07/30/2002 0.08 0.53906
Third quarter........ 09/27/2002 10/29/2002 0.08 0.53906
Fourth quarter........... 12/27/2002 01/28/2003 0.16 0.53906
First QUArter .....oooveevecerericenicerierecens 03/30/2001 04/24/2001 0.30 0.53906
Second quarter 06/29/2001 07/31/2001 0.30 0.53906
Third quarter........ 09/28/2001 10/30/2001 0.30 0.53906
Fourth quarter.............ccovvecenniecenens 12/28/2001 01/29/2002 0.01 0.53906

Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1 delineates the portion of the
distributions that represent ordinary income, return of capital, long-term capital gains and unrecaptured Section
1250 gains.

On February 25, 2003, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.08 per
common share and common unit, $0.53906 per Series A Preferred Share and $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit to
holders of record on March 28, 2003. The distribution is payable on April 29, 2003.

The Company had no sales of unregistered securities to report for the year ended December 31, 2002,
except for the issuance to Rolf E. Ruhfus, a trustee of the Company, of 79,275 common shares in August 2002,
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, upon redemption by him of 79,275 Common Units
(See Note 5 to the Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1, where Common Units are defined and
the redemption rights are described).

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following tables set forth selected financial and other data for the Company and the IH Lessee. The
following data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated or combined financial statements and notes

thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the
Company and the TH Lessee included herein.
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The selected financial and other data for the Company and the IH Lessee have been derived from the
consolidated or combined financial statements of the Company and the IH Lessee audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants.

Innkeepers USA Trust
Selected Financial Data
(in thousands, except share For the years ended December 31,
and per share data) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Operating data:
Total revenue $89,325 $106,932 £125,160 $113,702 $102,958
Income from continuing operations 1,605 26,162 44,664 36,295 32,279
Discontinued operations (3,362) 256 324 353 552
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels 530 (250) (214) -- 333
Net income (loss) (1,227) 26,168 44774 36,648 33,164
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations 0.23) 0.47 1.01 0.77 0.77
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.31) 0.47 i.02 0.78 0.80
Other data:
Funds from operations (“FFO™) (1) $52,431 $70,846 $89,644 $79,368 $72,968
Denominator for FFO per share (1) 48,062,407 46,538,200 46,693,539 46,638,031 44,273,585
Dividends per common share 0.40 0.91 1.12 1.12 1.12
Dividends per preferred share 2.16 2.16 2.16 2.16 1.50
Cash provided by operating activities 53,844 75,028 92,559 79,809 70,498
Cash used by investing activities (13,872) (37,308) (26,828) (74,189) (159,263)
Cash provided (used) by
financing activities (23,682) (47,053) (55,725) (3,858) 87,179
December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Balance sheet data:
Investment in hotels, at cost $863,818 $865,882 $837.472 $831,371 $764,221
Total assets 734,048 752,920 765,155 766,700 725,114
Debt 236,730 261,116 246,185 243,875 191,183
Minority interest in Partnership 52,458 54,249 58,304 59,457 59,802
Shareholders’ equity 428,160 426,003 440,544 443,457 454,392
(1) Please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ~ Funds From Operations.”
IH Lessee
Selected Financial Data
Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Operating Data:
Gross operating revenue $186,068 $209,339 $233,627 $215,080 $188,579
Departmental expenses 41,292 42713 46,906 44,656 39,295
Tota! departmental profit 144,776 166,626 186,721 170,424 149,284
Unallocated operating expenses 58,056 62,488 66,751 61,851 54,120
Gross profit 86,720 104,138 119,970 108,573 95,164
Insurance ) (1,518) (1,072) (1,033) (970) (955)
Lessee overhead ) (5,086) (4,736) (3,810) (3,468) (2,364)
Litigation settlement ) (5,875) -- - -- --
77777 Percentage Lease expense (79,996 (93,942) (110,122) (99,193). (87,735)-
" Net income (loss) (1) $ (5,755) $ 4,388 $ 5,005 $ 4,942 $ 4,110

(1) The IH Lessee has elected status as 2 Subchapter S corporation for federal income tax purposes and, generally, pays no corporate level tax
on its net income.
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data

(unaudited, in thousands except First Second Third Fourth

share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
2002
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $16,273 $16,879 $21,807 $34,366 $89,325
Income (loss) from continuing operations (4,041) (2,6006) 2,864 5,388 1,605
Net income (loss) (3,971) (2,549) 1,884 3,409 (1,227)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.19) (0.15) 0.01 0.08 (0.23)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.19) (0.14) (0.02) 0.02 (0.31)
Other data (2):
FFO assuming conversions $12,386 $14,796 $15,115 $10,134 $52,431
Denominator for FFO per share assuming

conversions 46,549,467 47,282,941 49,117,188 49,259,480 48,062,407
2001
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $16,557 $18,821 $31,420 $40,134 $106,932
Income (loss) from continuing operations (3,534) (1,037) 11,413 19,320 26,162
Net income (loss) (3,507) (989) 11,449 19,215 26,168
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.18) 0.10) 0.26 045 0.47
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.18) (0.10) 0.26 0.45 0.47
Other data (2):
FFO assuming conversions $20,989 $20,607 $18,233 $11,017 $70,846
Denominator for FFO per share assuming

conversions 46,653,959 46,537,993 46,535,623 46,427,055 46,538,200
2000
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $15,730 $19,594 $38,506 $51,330 $125,160
Income (loss) from continuing operations (4,299) (298) 18,055 31,206 44,664
Net income (loss) (4,242) (181) 18,157 31,040 44,774
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.20) (0.08) 0.43 0.72 1.01
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.20) (0.08) 0.43 0.71 1.02
Other data (2):
FFO assuming conversions $19,201 $23,831 $26,151 $20,461 $89,644
Denominator for FFO per share assuming

conversions 46,672,944 46,702,483 46,693,830 46,705,712 46,693,539

(1) The operating data reflect the adoption of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”) “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements.” SAB 101 effectively defers recognition of Percentage Rent from the first and second quarters to the
third or fourth quarters. SAB 101 has no impact on the Company’s distribution policy, cash flow, reported quarterly FFO or the annual
recognition of Percentage Lease revenue.

(2) Please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Funds From Operations.”

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
General

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes of Innkeepers USA Trust and the combined financial statements and related notes of
the IH Lessee, beginning on page F-1. The notes contain essential information and the definitions of certain
capitalized terms used herein.

Occupancy, average daily rate (“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR”) for the hotels are
presented in the following table. No assurance can be given that the trends reflected in the following table will
continue or that occupancy, ADR and RevPAR will not decrease due to changes in national or local economic,
hospitality or other industry conditions.
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Years ended Percentage

December 31, increase
2002 2001 (decrease)

The Hotels (1)

Occupancy 71.42% 72.94% (2.08)%

ADR $ 9475 $105.36 (10.07)%

RevPAR $ 67.67 § 76.85 (11.94)%
Upscale, extended-stay hotels (2):

Occupancy 75.21% 75.52% 041)%

ADR $ 96.92 $109.57 (11.55)Y%

RevPAR $ 72.89 $ 82.75 (11.91)%
Limited service hotels (3):

Occupancy 59.65% 64.92% (8.12)%

ADR $ 86.22 $.90.09 (4.29%

RevPAR § 5143 $ 58.49 (12.0M%

(1) 67 hotels, includes one hotel sold on July 24, 2002 for the period owned by the Company and excludes one hotel
opened on September 15, 2002

(2) 52 hotels, includes one hotel sold on July 24, 2002 for the period owned by the Company and excludes one hotel
opened on September 15, 2002

(3) 15 hotels

Innkeepers USA Trust

Critical Accounting Policies

We discuss below accounting policies that the Company believes are critical to an investor’s understanding
of its financial results and condition, and require management to make complex judgments and/or assessments of
risks. Information regarding certain other accounting policies is included in the notes to the Company’s financial
statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts.
Substantially all of the Company’s receivables at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were comprised of rent due from the
Lessees under the Percentage Leases ("Rent"), which were fully paid in January 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Historically, the Company has not experienced any losses on the Lessees’ receivables. However, the Lessees rely
primarily on cash flow from their operation of the hotels to pay rent, and collection of future receivables from the
Lessees, therefore, cannot be assured.

Long-Lived Assets. Hotel properties are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are
based on management’s estimates of the period over which the assets will generate revenue.

The Company reviews its hotel properties for “impairment” whenever events or changes in business
circumstances indicate that the value of the assets on our books may not be fully recoverable. The Company
reviewed each of its hotel properties at December 31, 2002 for impairment and, based on its estimate of each hotel’s
future undiscounted cash flows, determined that an impairment existed on one of its hotels at December 31, 2002.
The Company recorded an impairment charge of $6,500,000 in the fourth quarter on this hotel. If the Company’s
estimate of the future cash flows of the remaining hotels were to decrease in future periods, the Company may be
required to recognize further impairment charges in such periods and the impairment charges may be significant.

The Company classified the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotel located in West Hollywood, CA as
“held for sale” at December 31, 2001. Held for sale properties are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or
the estimated fair value less costs to sell. Based on this criteria, the Company recognized a loss of $250,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001 on this hotel. The sale of this hotel closed on July 24, 2002 and the Company
recognized a gain on the sale of this hotel of $530,000 in the 2002 third quarter due to the expenses of the sale being
less than expected.
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The Company has classified another one of its hotels as “held for sale” at December 31, 2002. Based on
this classification, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $3,713,000 during the year ended December 31,
2002 on this hotel. The actual loss that may be incurred on the sale of this hotel may be more or less than the
estimated loss based on the final sales price and/or the actual costs incurred during the sales process. The Company
ceased recording depreciation on this hotel in 2002.

REIT Qualification Tests. The Company is subject to numerous operational and organizational
requirements to maintain its REIT status. Based on tests performed by management for the years ended December
31, 2002 and 2001, the Company believes that it satisfied the requirements needed to maintain its REIT status.
However, the Company is subject to audit and if the taxing authorities determined that the Company failed one or
more of these tests, the Company could lose its REIT status. If the Company did not qualify as a REIT, its income
would become subject to federal and state income taxes, which would be substantial, and the resulting adverse
effects on the Company's results of operations, liquidity and amounts distributable to shareholders would be
material.

Accrual for Certain Litigation Settlements and Costs. In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief
Operating Officer (who is a minority shareholder in certain of the IH Lessee entities) filed suit against the
Company, the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleges that he was wrongfully terminated by the Company in
breach of his employment contract with the Company and also alleges various other related claims against the
Company, the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. In December 2002, the Company (and, at the same time, the IH Lessee
and Mr. Fisher) entered into a settlement agreement with the former officer that is contingent upon the closing of a
TRS Transaction as described in “Business — General — Potential Transaction Involving the 1H Lessee’s Lease
Position” above. Under the settlement, the Company agreed to pay the former officer $1.8 million in cash and vest
116,908 unvested restricted common shares, which resulted in a non-cash charge of $1.2 million. The Company
also agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s 116,908 restricted shares, at his option, upon closing of a TRS Transaction at
the then-current market price. If a TRS Transaction does not close by April 30, 2003, in the absence of a further
agreement among the parties, the litigation will resume and the Company (and the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher)
presently intends to continue to aggressively defend all allegations.

Results of Operations
The following paragraphs discuss the results of operations for the Company.
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2002 (2002} 1o the Year Ended December 31, 2001 (“2001")

The Company had revenues for 2002 of $89,325,000, consisting of $88,688,000 of Percentage Lease
revenue from the Lessees and $637,000 of other revenue, compared with $106,932,000, $105,540,000 and
$1,392,000, respectively, for 2001. The decrease in Percentage Lease revenue of $16,852,000, or 16.0%, was due
primarily to a 11.9% RevPAR decrease at the Hotels, which resulted primarily from a slowing economy beginning
in early 2001 and the materially adverse effects that the September 11, 2001 attacks had, and continue to have, on
travel, particularly business travel that historically has driven the Company’s business. The Company’s eight hotels
in the Silicon Valley area of California were affected more dramatically than the remainder of the portfolio, due to
the reliance of these hotels on technology related business. These eight hotels experienced a RevPAR decline of
24.2% in 2002 and represented approximately 19.6% of the Company’s Percentage Lease revenue in 2002. The
decrease in Percentage Rent was partially offset by an increase in Base Rent. Generally, on January 1 of each year,
the Base Rent (and the room revenue threshold used in the Percentage Rent calculation) for each hotel increases
based on the change in the U.S. Consumer Price Index (the "CPI") for the previous year.

Depreciation, amortization of franchise costs, amortization of loan origination fees, and amortization of
unearned compensation (“Depreciation and Amortization™) were $39,504,000 in the aggregate for 2002 compared
with $41,423,000 for 2001. The decrease in Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to certain assets
becoming fully depreciated in 2002 and the sale of the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotel located in West
Hollywood, CA, partially offset by the depreciation of renovations completed during 2001, depreciation on the
Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in Saddle River, NJ which was placed in service on September 15, 2002,
and the amortization of the costs incurred in obtaining a Line of Credit amendment (see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Financing” below).

15




Interest expense for 2002 was $17,485,000 compared with $18,565,000 for 2001. This decrease was due
primarily to principal reductions on the Company’s amortizing debt, the repayment of all borrowings outstanding on
the Line of Credit in early June 2002, the capitalization of interest on the Company’s development costs incurred on

the Saddle River, NJ hotel development project and decreases in the interest rates on the Company’s variable rate
debit.

Property taxes and insurance increased by $1,569,000, or 14.4%, in 2002, compared with 2001. This
increase was due primarily to (i) a $1,102,000 increase in insurance premiums, (ii) property taxes and insurance on
the Saddle River, NJ hotel and (iii) the receipt in 2001 of certain real estate tax refunds that did not re-occur in
2002. The Company renewed its insurance policies effective November 1, 2002, and the premiums increased an
average of 26.3% from the previous policy year.

General and administrative expenses increased by $342,000, or 9.5%, in 2002, compared with 2001. This
increase primarily resulted from the elimination of the bonus accrual for the Company’s executives in 2001.

Other charges increased $9,185,000, due primarily to the conditional settlement of litigation with the
Company’s former Chief Operating Officer ($2,946,000) and an impairment charge on one of its Hotels
($6,500,000), partially offset by a decrease in costs incurred in connection with the Company’s consideration of its
alternatives under the REIT Modernization Act ($161,000) and the lease termination expense recognized in 2001
upon the termination of the West Hollywood, CA lease ($172,000), which did not re-occur in 2002.

The Company has recorded an impairment loss (which is included in “discontinued operations” in the
statements of operations) of $3,713,000 on a hotel it has classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2002.

The Company recognized a $530,000 gain in 2002 from the sale of its Summerfield Suites by Wyndham
hotel located in West Hollywood, CA in July 2002.

Net loss applicable to common shareholders for 2002 was ($11,210,000), or ($0.31) per diluted share,
compared with net income of $16,185,000, or $0.47 per diluted share, for 2001. This change is due primarily to the
factors discussed previously.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2001 (“2001 ") to the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (“2000")

The Company had revenues for 2001 of $106,932,000, consisting of $105,540,000 of Percentage Lease
revenue from the Lessees and $1,392,000 of other revenue, compared with $125,160,000, $123,477,000 and
$1,683,000, respectively, for 2000. The decrease in Percentage Lease revenue of $17,937,000, or 14.5%, was due,
primarily, to the reduction in RevPAR at the Hotels of 10.8% in 2001 as compared to 2000. The lower revenues
were attributable to a sluggish economy during the year and the dramatic falloff in business travel following the
September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks. The Company’s eight hotels in the Silicon Valley area of California were
affected more dramatically than the remainder of its portfolio, due to the reliance of these hotels on technology
related business. These eight hotels experienced a RevPAR decline of 21.0% in 2001 and represented
approximately 24.3% of the Company’s Percentage Lease revenue in 2001.

Depreciation and Amortization were $41,423,000 in the aggregate for 2001 compared with $40,079,000
for 2000. The increase in Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to the depreciation on the Company’s
hotel in Tysons Corner, VA (which opened on January 8, 2001) and renovations completed at the Hotels during
2000. The amortization of certain restricted share awards granted in November 2000 also contributed to the
increase in Depreciation and Amortization.

Interest expense for 2001 was $18,565,000 compared with $18,190,000 for 2000. This increase was due
primarily to an increase in weighted average borrowings of approximately $8,650,000, which was partially offset by
decreases in the interest rates on the Company’s variable rate debt.

Property taxes and insurance were $10,882,000 for 2001 compared with $11,035,000 for 2000. The
decrease was due primarily to a reduction in real estate tax accruals for certain hotels and the receipt of refunds of
prior year real estate taxes which resulted from the successful appeal of certain hotels’ assessed values, which was
partially offset by the real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance on the Company’s hotel in
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Tysons Comner, VA. The Company has renewed its property and other insurance coverages for the policy year
ending October 31, 2002. The new property insurance policies reduced the limits of certain coverages, and the
premiums increased over 130% from approximately $927,000 for the 2001 policy year to $2,201,000 for the 2002
policy year.

General and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of total revenue to 3.4% from 3.1% in 2000.
However, general and administrative expenses actually decreased by $279,000 due primarily to no 2001
performance bonuses being paid to the Company’s executive management team.

Other charges were $782,000 in 2001 and $640,000 in 2000. In 2001 and 2000, the Company accrued
$300,000 and $200,000, respectively, for legal costs related to the litigation with the Company’s former Chief
Operating Officer. In 2001 and 2000, the Company accrued $310,000 and $200,000, respectively, in costs for
advisory services related to the Company’s consideration of its alternatives under the REIT Modemization Act.
Also in 2001, the Company expensed approximately $172,000 of costs associated with terminating its Percentage
Lease with the Summerfield Lessee on its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West Hollywood, CA, which was
then leased to the [H Lessee until it was sold. Upon closing of the Line of Credit in May 2000, the previous line of
credit was extinguished and the unamortized loan origination fees and costs associated with the previous line of
credit of $240,000 were expensed.

Net income applicable to common shareholders decreased to $16,185,000, or $0.47 per diluted share, in
2001 from $34,791,000, or $1.02 per diluted share, in 2000 as a result of the items discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal source of liquidity is rent payments from the Lessees under the Percentage
Leases, and the Company is dependent on the Lessees to make such payments to provide cash for debt service,
distributions, capital expenditures at its Hotels, and working capital. The Company does not expect that its cash
provided by operating activities will be adequate to meet all of its liquidity and capital expenditure needs. The
Company currently expects to fund any liquidity or capital expenditure shortfall and its external growth objectives
primarily by borrowing on its Line of Credit or other facilities, exchanging equity for hotel properties or possibly
accessing the capital markets if market conditions permit.

The TH Lessee, which leases 61 of the Company’s hotels, reported a net loss of $5,755,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2002, which included a charge of $5,875,000 for its conditional settlement of litigation with its
former president (who is also a minority shareholder in certain [H Lessee entities). See “— The IH Lessee — Critical
Accounting Policies — Accrual for Certain Litigation Settlements and Costs” below. The IH Lessee has advised the
Company that its cash flow from the operation of the Hotels will be sufficient to meet most of its obligations under
the Percentage Leases for 2003. However, the [H Lessee may be required to borrow to meet its operating costs (and
any other liquidity needs) in the first quarter of 2003. The IH Lessee established a $1,000,000 line of credit (see
Note 3 to the IH Lessee’s financial statements). In March 2003, the IH Lessee borrowed $1,000,000 under the line
of credit.

The Summerfield Lessee leases six of the Hotels that are not leased by the IH Lessee, under Percentage
Leases. The obligations of the Summerfield Lessee under its Percentage Leases and related agreements are
collateralized by $4,759,220 in irrevocable letters of credit, one of which is pledged to a lender to the Company, and
are guaranteed by Wyndham. According to Wyndham, it had a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002 of
approximately $500 million. As a result, we believe that Wyndham may be unable to meet its guarantee
obligations, and relies exclusively on the cash flow of the Summerfield Hotels to generate sufficient cash flow to
pay rent and satisfy its capital expenditure and other obligations under its Percentage Leases. There can be no
assurance that the Summerfield Hotels will generate sufficient cash flow to allow the Summerfield Lessee to meet
its obligations under the Percentage Leases. See also “Business — General — Property Operations ~ The
Summerfield Lessee” above.

Cash Flow Analysis
Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents) at December 31, 2002

and 2001 were $35,518,000 and $24,215,000, including $7,227,000 and $8,838,000, respectively, which the
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Company is required, under the Percentage Leases, to make available to the Lessees for the replacement and
refurbishment of furniture and equipment and certain other capital expenditures. Additionally, cash and cash
equivalents included $6,924,000 and $10,300,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, that was held in
escrow by lenders to pay for insurance, taxes, and capital expenditures for certain Hotels. The increase in cash
balances was due primarily to net proceeds of $12,280,000 from the sale of the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham
hotel located in West Hollywood, CA.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was
$53,844,000 and $75,028,000, respectively. The $21,184,000 decrease is primarily due to the $16,852,000
reduction in Rent paid or payable under the Percentage Leases for the year ended December 31, 2002, as compared
to the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in cash provided by operating activities is also due to the
decrease in other revenue ($755,000), the increase in property taxes and insurance ($1,569,000), the increase in
general and administrative expenses ($342,000), an increase in premium payments under the Company’s insurance
policies ($466,000}, a reduction in accounts payable ($678,000), which were partially offset by a reduction in
interest expense ($1,080,000).

Net cash used in investing activities was $13,872,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. This was
comprised primarily of (a) renovations at certain hotels of $17,315,000 and (b) costs on the Company’s hotel
development in Saddle River, NJ of $13,824,000 (including franchise fees of $69,000), which were partially offset
by (i) the net proceeds from the sale of the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotel located in West Hollywood, CA
of $12,280,000 and (ii) withdrawals of $4,987,000 in cash from certain restricted cash accounts for renovations
completed during the period.

Net cash used in investing activities was $37,308,000 for the year December 31, 2001. This was
comprised primarily of (a) renovations at certain hotels of approximately $26,343,000, (b) development costs on the
Company’s project in Tyson’s Corner, VA of approximately $1,496,000, (c) costs on the Company’s hotel
development in Saddle River, NJ of approximately $8,998,000 and (d) net deposits in restricted cash accounts of
$471,000. A

Net cash used by financing activities was $23,682,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002, consisting
primarily of (a) distributions paid of $23,686,000; (b) the redemption of 22,909 Common Units in the Partnership
for $236,000; (c) loan costs paid of $300,000; (d) net repayments on the Line of Credit of $21,000,000; and (e)
principal payments on amortizing debt of $3,386,000, which were partially offset by $24,926,000 of net proceeds
from the issuance of 2,600,000 common shares.

Net cash used by financing activities was $47,053,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001, consisting
primarily of distributions paid of approximately $57,129,000, the redemption of 178,860 Class B Preferred Units
and 152,574 Common Units in the Partnership for approximately $3,893,000, the repayment of a mortgage that
matured of approximately $3,027,000, fees incurred with the extension of the maturity date on the Line of Credit of
approximately $639,000 and principal payments on amortizing debt of approximately $3,042,000, which was
partially offset by net borrowings under the Line of Credit of approximately $21,000,000.

Distributions/Dividends

The Company has paid regular distributions on its common shares and Common Units, and each of the
2002 quarterly distributions was $0.08 per share or unit. In addition, the Company declared a special fourth quarter
distribution of $0.08 per common share and unit. Quarterly preferred distributions of between $0.275 and $0.28875
are payable on each Class B Preferred Unit (depending on the level of common share dividend paid), and each of
the 2002 quarterly distributions was $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit. Each Series A Preferred Share is entitled to
annual dividends equal to the greater of (i) $2.15624 ($0.53906 payable quarterly) or (ii) the cash dividend paid or
payable on the number of common shares into which a Series A Preferred Share is then convertible (1.4811). The
Company paid a dividend of $0.53906 on each Series A Preferred Share for each of the 2002 quarters. The timing
and amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees in its sole discretion
based on factors it deems relevant and no assurance can be given that the current dividend levels will be sustained.
The holders of the Common Units and Class B Preferred Units may redeem each of their units for cash equal to the
then-trading value of a common share or, at the election of Innkeepers, one common share. Under federal income
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tax law provisions applicable to REITs, the Company is required to distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to
maintain its REIT status.

The Company has issued an aggregate of 4,630,000 8.625% Series A cumulative convertible preferred
shares of beneficial interest (the “Series A Preferred Shares™). Each Series A Preferred Share is convertible into
1.4811 common shares at any time. The Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed by the Company after May 18,
2003 for $25 per share and have no stated maturity or sinking fund requirements. Each Series A Preferred Share
has a liquidation preference of $25 per share.

Financing

In making future investments in hotel properties, the Company may incur additional indebtedness. The
Company may also incur indebtedness to meet distribution requirements imposed on a REIT under the Internal
Revenue Code, to fund its renovation and upgrade program or to fund any other liquidity needs to the extent that
working capital and cash flow from the Company’s operations are insufficient to fund such needs. The Company’s
Declaration of Trust limits aggregate indebtedness to 50% of the Company’s investment in hotel properties, at cost,
after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any indebtedness. The Company has bank-funding
commitments available under the Line of Credit of approximately $125,000,000 at December 31, 2002. However,
the actual amount that can be borrowed is subject to borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement.
During the first quarter of 2002, the Company negotiated an amendment to the Line of Credit. This amendment
reset certain financial covenant thresholds for 2002 and increased the allowable percentage of total debt to implied
value of the Hotels from 40% to 50%. The interest rate on the Line of Credit, as amended, is LIBOR plus 122.5 to
225 basis points, depending on certain financial ratios. At December 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance
with the financial covenants contained in its various loan agreements, as amended, and there were no borrowings
outstanding under the Line of Credit. In January 2003, the Company obtained an extension of the Line of Credit
amendment obtained in the first quarter of 2002, which is effective until December 31, 2003. If the operating
environment in 2003 worsens substantially from the Company’s current expectations and the Company violates the
amended covenants, the Company may have to locate replacement financing for borrowings that may then be
outstanding under the Line of Credit, reduce distributions to its shareholders and/or significantly reduce its planned
capital expenditures.

The following table summarizes certain information concerning the Company’s debt at December 31, 2002
and 2001:

2002 2001
Investment in hotels, at cost $863,818,000 $865,882,000
Debt 236,730,000 261,116,000
Percentage of debt to investment in hotels, at cost 27.4% 30.2%
Percentage of fixed rate debt to total debt 95.8% 88.1%
Weighted average implied interest rates on:
Fixed rate debt 7.54% 7.54%
Variable rate debt 1.30% 3.08%
Total debt 7.28% 7.01%
Number of hotels properties:
Encumbered 39 39
Unencumbered 28 28
Debt service coverage ratios:
Interest coverage ratio (EBITDA divided by
interest expense) 4.1x 5.0x
Fixed charge coverage ratio (EBITDA divided
by fixed charges) 1.7x 2.0x
Total debt to EBITDA 3.3x 2.8x
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The following table delineates the Company’s calculation of fixed charges for purposes of calculating the
debt service coverage ratios listed in the preceding table (in thousands):

2002 2001
Interest expense $17,485 $18,565
FF&E reserve at 4% of hotel room revenues 8,010 9,095
Series A Preferred Share dividends 9,983 9,983
Class B Preferred Unit distributions 4273 4,433
Principal amortization 3,386 3,042
Total fixed charges $43,137 $45,118

The following table reconciles net income (loss) calculated in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles to eamnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA™) (in thousands):

- 2002 2001

Net income (loss) $(1,227) 326,168
Depreciation 36,928 39,087
Amortization of franchise costs 57 59
Interest expense 17,485 18,565
Amortization of loan origination fees 1,173 928
Amortization of unearned compensation 1,346 1,349
Other charges 9,967 782
Minority interest, common (380) 615
Minority interest, preferred 4273 4,433
Discontinued operations 3,362 (256)
(Gain) loss on sale of hotels (530) 250
EBITDA ‘ $72,454 $91,980

In the future, the Company may seek to increase or decrease the amount of its credit facilities, negotiate
additional credit facilities, or issue corporate debt instruments, all in compliance with the Company’s debt
limitation. Any debt incurred or issued by the Company may be secured or unsecured, short-term or long-term, bear
a fixed or variable interest rate and may be subject to such other terms as management or the Board of Trustees of
the Company deems prudent. The Company has no interest rate hedging instrument exposure or forward equity
commitments.

Capital Expenditures

The Percentage Leases generally require the Company to make available to the Lessees an amount equal to
4% of room revenues from the Hotels, on a monthly basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of
furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels. Each of the Company’s term
loans require that the Company make available for such purposes, at the Hotels collateralizing those loans, amounts
up to 5% of gross revenues from such Hotels. The Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in excess
of such obligated amounts, if necessary, to comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise agreement and
otherwise to the extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in the best interests of the Company. See
also “Business — Narrative Description of Business — Internal Growth Strategy — Capital Improvements, Renovation
and Refurbishment” above.

Management believes that the amounts required to be made available by the Company under the
Percentage Leases will be sufficient to meet most of the routine expenditures for furniture, fixtures and equipment at
the Hotels. However, in the past, the Company has spent substantially more on capital expenditures than the
Percentage Leases require. Management believed these additional expenditures were necessary to meet competitive
pressures from other hotels, many of which are newly constructed. In many cases, the expenditures were also
required by franchisors of the Hotels, such as Marriott’s requirements to substantially upgrade and “refresh” the
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Company’s Generation | Residence Inn by Marriott hotels. Management believes that for the foreseeable future the
Company will continue to spend more on capital expenditures than it is required to make available to the Lessees
under the Percentage Leases or loan agreements. The extent to which the actual expenditures exceed the amounts
required to be made available will vary from year to year, based on a number of factors. Those factors include, for
any given year market and franchisor requirements, the point in the normal recurring upgrade cycle the hotels are at
in that year, and the revenue of the hotels for that year. In 2003, management expects to spend approximately $25
mitlion on capital expenditures. To the extent that the Company spends more on capital expenditures than is
available from the Company’s operations, the Company intends to borrow under the Line of Credit.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of transactions and arrangements that involve conflicts of interest.
For a description of the transactions and arrangements, please see “Risk Factors — Conflicts of Interest and Related
Party Transactions” below. See also Notes 9, 10, 11 and 14 to the Company’s financial statements that begin on
page F-1.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s obligations and commitments to make future payments
under contracts, such as debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments.

Payments due by period (000°s)

Obligation 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total

Debt $ 4,556 $ 4,883 $5,884 $ 221,407 $ 236,730
Ground leases (1) 498 498 498 19,256 20,750
Construction contracts (2) 3,700 -- -- - 3,700

Guarantee of IH Lessee obligations (3) - - -
Capital expenditure reserve under

Percentage Leases (4) -- - - -
Tax indemnifications (35) - - - -- -
Other commitments (6) 2,565 - - - 2,565

$11,319 $ 5,381 $ 6,382 $ 240,663 $263,745

(1) The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 and May 2035, respectively, and a 98-year term ground lease
expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its hotel properties. Minimum annual rent payable under these leases is
approximately $498,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on increases in the consumer price index.

(2) The Company has executed approximately $3.7 million in purchase orders and other construction contracts for work to be completed in
2003.

(3) The Company has guaranteed most of the IH Lessee’s obligations under the franchise licenses and Marriott Management Agreements,
generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company terminates the related Percentage Lease. The IH
Lessee’s franchise fees for 2002 were $11,961,000 and its management fees under the Marriott Management Agreements were $2,576,000.
However, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent the Company may incur liability under these guarantees.

(4) Under the Percentage Leases, the Company is obligated to make available to the Lessees an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room revenues.
The Company has expended amounts significantly in excess of this requirement in prior years and, therefore, is not obligated to make
available any amounts under this obligation in 2003. However, not withstanding this, the Company expects to spend approximately
$25,000,000 on selected renovations in 2003. See “— Capital Expenditures” above.

(5) With respect to 13 of the Hotels, if the Company were to sell those Hotels in taxable transactions, the Company would become liable for
certain tax liabilities incurred by Unit holders who exchanged interests in those Hotels for Units in the Partnership when the Company
acquired the Hotels. The tax reimbursement liability with respect to a Hotel is generally limited to a period within 10 years of the Hotel’s
acquisition date. However, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent the Company may incur liability under these
indemnifications.

(6) In December 2002, the Company entered into a conditional litigation settlement agreement, which requires the Company to pay the plaintiff
$1,772,000 in cash upon closing of a TRS Transaction. The settlement agreement also requires (contingent upon closing of a TRS
Transaction) the Company to purchase up to 116,908 restricted common shares owned by the plaintiff, in his discretion, and, based on the
$6.78 common share price on February 21, 2003, this obligation would be $793,000. See “Legal Proceedings” and “Business — General —
Potential Transaction Involving the IH Lessee’s Lease Position” above.

Seasonality of Hotel Business

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Historically, the Hotels’ operations have generally reflected
higher occupancy rates and ADR during the second and third quarters. To the extent that cash flow from the
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Percentage Leases for a quarter is insufficient to fund all of the operating expenses and distributions for such quarter
due to seasonal and other factors, the Company may fund quarterly operating expenses and distributions with
available cash and/or borrowings under the Line of Credit.

Inflation

Operators of hotels, including the Lessees and any third-party managers retained by the Lessees, generally
possess the ability to adjust room rates quickly. However, competitive pressures and other factors have limited and
may in the future limit the ability of the Lessees and any third-party managers retained by the Lessees to raise room
rates in response to inflation. In fact, room rates have decreased over the last two years while inflation has been
modest. However, there can be no assurance that these modest inflation levels will not increase in future years or
that the Company will not continue to be constrained from raising room rates.

Funds From Operations -

Funds From Operations (“FFO”) is a widely used performance measure for an equity REIT. FFO, as
defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), is income (loss) before minority
interest, including any income or loss from discontinued operations, (determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles), excluding gains (losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property and
extraordinary items, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated
partnerships and joint ventures. FFO is presented to assist investors in analyzing the performance of the Company.
The Company’s method of calculating FFO and the denominator for FFO per share is different than the NAREIT
definition and may be different from methods used by other REITs. Accordingly, the Company’s method of
calculating FFO and the denominator for FFO per share may not be comparable to such other REITs. Moreover,
FFO (i) does not represent cash flows from operating activities as defined by generally accepted accounting
principles, (ii) is not indicative of cash available to fund all cash flow and liquidity needs, including its ability to
make distributions, and (iii) should not be considered as an alternative to net income (as determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles) for purposes of evaluating the Company’s operating performance.

The following presents the Company’s calculations of FFO and the denominator for FFO per share for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands, except share data):

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $(11,210) $ 16,185 $ 34,791
Depreciation 37,136 39,380 38,198
Impairment charge 6,500 -- --
Litigation settlement 2,946 -- -
Write-off of deferred loan costs - -- 240
Minority interest, common (380) 615 1,525
Reserve for impairment loss 3,713 -- -

(Gain) loss on sale of hotels (530) 250 214
Basic FFO $ 38,175 $ 56,430 $ 74,968
Minority interest, preferred 4273 4,433 4,693
Preferred share dividends 9,983 9,983 9,983
FFO assumirﬁconversions $ 52,431 $ 70,846 $ 89,644
Denominator for basic earnings per share 35,954,229 34,293,929 34,193,546
Weighted average:

Common Units 1,231,494 1,320,403 1,520,832
Denominator for basic FFO per share 37,185,723 35,614,332 35,714,378
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 36,088,951 34,461,134 34,251,885
Weighted average:

Common Units 1,231,494 1,320,403 1,520,832

Class B Preferred Units 3,884,469 3,899,170 4,063,329

Series A Preferred Shares 6,857,493 6,857,493 6,857,493

Denominator for FFO per share assuming conversions 48,062,407 46,538,200 46,693,539
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) has issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 addresses significant
issues regarding the recognition, measurement, and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and disposal
activities, including restructuring activities that are currently accounted for pursuant to the guidance that the
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the FASB has set forth in EITF Issue No 94-3, “Liability Recognition for
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring).” The scope of SFAS No. 146 also included (1) costs related to terminating a contract that is not a
capital lease and (2) termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of
a one-time benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred compensation
contract. SFAS No. 146 will be effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS
No. 146 had no impact on our results of operations or financial position for 2003.

The FASB has issued SFAS No. 147, “Acquisitions of Certain Financial Institutions,” which is effective
for certain transactions arising on or after October 1, 2002. SFAS No. 147 will have no impact on the Company.

The FASB has issued SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and
Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to
require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for
stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company has
adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148. The Company currently accounts for stock-based employee
compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations. Accordingly, the alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation mandated by SFAS No. 148 are not applicable to the
Company at this time.

FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5,
57, and 107 and rescission of FASN Interpretation No. 34,” was issued in November 2002. FIN 45 elaborates on
the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under
certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies - that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN 45 does not
prescribe a specific approach for subsequently measuring the guarantor’s recognized liability over the term of the
related guarantee. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a
prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal
year-end. The disclosure requirements in FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has made the disclosures required by FIN 45.

FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an interpretation of
ARB No. 51,” was issued in January 2003. FIN 46 requires existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be
consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved.
FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and to variable interest
entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it
acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company believes that it has no unconsolidated variable interest entities that
would be consolidated under the requirements of FIN 46.
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IH Lessee

Critical Accounting Policies

We discuss below accounting policies that the IH Lessee’s management believes are critical to an
investor’s understanding of the IH Lessee’s financial results and condition, and that require the IH Lessee’s
management to make complex judgments and/or assessments of risks. Information regarding certain other
accounting policies is included in the notes to the IH Lessee’s financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The IH Lessee has recorded an allowance for accounts receivable that
may not be collectible. The IH Lessee has based the allowance on its prior experience with its customers and
industry norms. While the IH Lessee believes that it has considered all factors relevant to estimating its allowance,
the IH Lessee’s estimate could be incorrect and the TH Lessee would expense any receivables that are not collectible
in excess of the allowance in the period in which such determination is made. The IH Lessee has had less than
$200,000 of bad debts in each of the past three years.

Marketable Securities. The TH Lessee classifies its investment in marketable securities as “available for
sale” and, therefore, carries such investment at market value. The market value of such securities is based on the
New York Stock Exchange quoted market prices for such securities. Any future decreases in the value of the
securities could adversely affect shareholder’s equity of the TH Lessee.

Accrual for reported and unreported health plan claims. The TH Lessee sponsors a self-insured health plan

for its employees. The IH-Lessee provides for both (i) claims reported, but unpaid, at December 31, 2002 and" (i)~

unreported claims. The IH Lessee has based its accrual on its prior claims experience and current trends in claim
payments. The [H Lessee believes that it has made an adequate provision for both reported, but unpaid claims and
unreported claims and, at December 31, 2002, the provision was $850,000. However, the actual payments for these
claims could exceed such provision.

Accrual for Certain Litigation Settlements and Costs. 1n May 2000, the ITH Lessee’s former President (who
is a minority shareholder in certain of the ITH Lessee entities and who was an officer of the Company) filed suit
against the IH Lessee, the Company and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleges that he was wrongfully terminated by the TH
Lessee in breach of his employment contract with the IH Lessee and also alleges various other related claims against
the IH Lessee, the Company and Mr. Fisher. In December 2002, the TH Lessee (and, at the same time, the Company
and Mr. Fisher) entered into a settlement agreement with the former officer and shareholder that is contingent upon
closing of a TRS Transaction. Under the settlement, the TH Lessee agreed to pay the former officer $5,875,000, of
which $400,000 was paid in December 2002 and the remainder is to be paid upon closing of a TRS Transaction. In
connection with this settlement, Mr. Fisher agreed to purchase the former shareholder’s interests in the IH Lessee
for $1,000,000. Please see “Business — General — Potential Transaction Involving the IH Lessee’s Lease Position”
above.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2002 (“2002") to the Year Ended December 31, 2001 (2001 )

The IH Lessee had total revenue for 2002 of $186,068,000, consisting of $178,849,000 of room revenue
and $7,219,000 of other revenue. Room revenue decreased by $21,168,000, or 10.6%, from $200,017,000 in 2001.
This decrease was primarily due to decreases in RevPAR at the 44 IH Lessee-managed Hotels of 10.5% and at the
17 Marriott-managed Hotels leased by the TH Lessee of 14.0%. The lower revenues were attributable to a slowing
economy beginning in early 2001 and the materially adverse effects that the September 11, 2001 attacks had, and
continue to have, on travel, particularly business travel that historically has driven the Hotel’s business. The IH
Lessee’s seven hotels in the Silicon Valley area of California were affected more dramaticatly than the remainder of
the portfolio, due to the reliance of these hotels on technology related business. These seven hotels experienced a
RevPAR decline of 24.1% in 2002. '

Departmental and unallocated operating expenses decreased by $5,853,000, or 5.6%, to $99,348,000 in
2002 from $105,201,000 in 2001. Departmental and unallocated operating expenses actually increased when
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expressed as a percentage of total revenue, from 50.3% in 2001 to 53.4% in 2002, as revenues fell more than
operating expenses. Insurance costs increased by $446,000, or 41.6%, due to premium increases incurred during its
policy renewals in November 2001 and 2002. Lessee overhead increased by $350,000, or 7.4%, due to lower
interest income on its temporary cash investments, the decrease in distributions on Innkeepers common shares held
by the IH Lessee and settlement of litigation with its former Vice President of Operations, which were partially
offset by reduced corporate staffing costs. The IH Lessee also recorded a litigation settlement charge of $5,875,000
related to the conditional settlement of the litigation with its former President and minority shareholder in 2002.
Percentage Lease payments decreased by $13,946,000, or 14.8%, due to the decrease in room revenue at the hotels
resulting in lower Percentage Rent payable to the Company; the effect of the declining room revenues on the
Percentage Lease payments was not as pronounced at hotels where Base Rent was reached. As a result of these
items, net loss for 2002 was $5,755,000, which was a decrease of $10,143,000 from $4,388,000 in net income for
2001.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2001 (<2001 ") to the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (*2000")

The TH Lessee had total revenue for 2001 of $209,339,000, consisting of $200,017,000 of room revenue
and $9,322,000 of other revenue. Room revenue decreased by $22,789,000, or 10.2%, from $222,806,000 in 2000.
This decrease was primarily due to decreases in RevPAR at the IH Lessee-managed hotels of 8.6% and at the
Marriott-managed hotels of 14.5%. The lower revenues were attributable to a sluggish economy during the year
and the dramatic falloff in business travel following the September 11 terrorist attacks.

Departmental and unallocated operating expenses decreased by $8,456,000, or 7.4%, to $105,201,000 in
2001 from $113,657,000 in 2000. Departmental and unallocated operating expenses actually increased when
expressed as a percentage of total revenue, from 48.6% in 2000 to 50.3% in 2001, as revenues fell more than
operating expenses. Insurance costs increased by $39,000, or 3.8%, due to premium increases incurred during its
policy renewal in November 2001. Lessee overhead increased $926,000, or 24.3%, due to lower interest income on
its temporary cash investments, a decrease in distributions on Innkeepers common shares held by the IH Lessee and
additional corporate staffing costs related to ten hotels the IH Lessee began managing in late 2000 and early 2001.
Percentage Lease payments decreased by $16,180,000, or 14.7%, due to the decrease in room revenue at the hotels
resulting in lower percentage rent payable to the Company. As a result of these items, net income for 2001 was
$4,388,000, which was a decrease of $617,000, or 12.3%, from $5,005,000 for 2000. Net income as a percentage
of total revenue was 2.1% in 2001 and 2000.

Marriott Management Agreement Termination

In January 2003, the Company and the IH Lessee entered into a letter of intent with Marriott for a
transaction under which the IH Lessee will convert the Marriott Management Agreements into long-term franchise
agreements. Upon the conversion of the Marriott Management Agreements into franchise agreements, a conversion
fee will be payable to Marriott over a 10-year period. Please see “Business — General — Management Conversion of
Marriott-Managed Hotels” above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The [H Lessee’s principal source of revenue is the revenue derived from the hotels it operates under leases
from the Company. The IH Lessee is dependent on this revenue to provide cash for the payment of its operating
expenses, insurance, overhead and rent under the Percentage Leases. The TH Lessee has a shareholder deficit of $6
million (which includes a $5,875,000 contingent litigation settlement charge) at December 31, 2002 and is
dependent upon the cash flow from operating activities to meet substantially all of its liquidity needs, including
working capital. The IH Lessee has advised the Company that it currently believes that its cash flow from the
operation of the Hotels will be sufficient to meet most of its obligations under the Percentage Leases for 2003.
However, the IH Lessee may be required to borrow to meet its operating costs (and any other liquidity needs) in the
first quarter of 2003. The IH Lessee established a $1,000,000 line of credit (see Note 3 to the IH Lessee’s financial
statements). In March 2003, the TH Lessee borrowed $1,000,000 under the line of credit.
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Net cash flow from operating activities was $(1,705,000) and $2,784,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The decrease in operating cash flow of $4,489,000 was due primarily to the decrease in net income (loss) of
$10,143,000, partially offset by the non-cash conditional litigation settlement charge of $5,475,000. Net cash flow
used in investing activities was $50,000 and $239,000 in 2002 and 2001. Net cash flow used in financing activities
was $976,000 and $3,458,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectively, which consisted primarily of distributions paid to its
shareholders.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates on its Line of Credit and other
debt. At December 31, 2002, the Company had total outstanding indebtedness of approximately $236,730,000.
The Company’s interest rate risk objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate fluctuations on earnings and cash
flows and to lower its overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, the Company manages its exposure to
fluctuations in market interest rates for a portion of its borrowings through the use of fixed rate debt instruments to
the extent that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable with such arrangements. The Company may enter into
derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps or caps and treasury options or locks to mitigate its
interest rate risk on a related financial instrument or to effectively lock the interest rate on a portion of its variable
rate debt. Currently, the Company has no derivative financial instruments. The Company does not enter into
derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Approximately 95.8% of the Company’s
outstafiding debt was subject to fixed rates with a weighted average interest rate of 7.54% at December 31, 2002.
The Company regularly reviews interest rate exposure on its outstanding borrowings in an effort to minimize the
risk of interest rate fluctuations.

For debt obligations outstanding at December 31, 2002, the following table presents principal repayments
and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates (in thousands):

Fair
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total Value
Debt:
Fixed Rate $ 4,556 $ 4,883 $ 5,884 36,399 $27,566  $177.442 $226,730 $226,730
Average Interest Rate 7.56% 7.57% 7.59% 7.59% 8.03% 7.46% 7.54% -
Variable Rate - - - - - $ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 10,000
Average Interest Rate - - - - - 1.30% 1.30% -

The table incorporates only those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2002 and does not consider
exposures or positions that could arise after that date. As a result, the Company’s ultimate realized gain or loss with
respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the exposures that arise during the future period, prevailing
interest rates, and the Company’s hedging strategies at that time. There is inherent rollover risk for borrowings as
they mature and are renewed at current market rates. The extent of this risk is not quantifiable or predictable
because of the variability of future interest rates and the Company’s financing requirements.

The Company’s Line of Credit, which currently has no outstanding borrowings under it, matures in July
2004. All of our other debt matures in 2007 or thereafter.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information réquired by this item is included herein and begins on page F-1.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None,
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PART 11
Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Incorporated herein by reference from “Proposal One — Election of Trustees” and “Executive
Compensation — Executive Officers” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7,
2003.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated herein by reference from “Executive Compensation™ in the Company’s definitive proxy
statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on May 7, 2003.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The Company’s share incentive plan for emplovees and officers (the “1994 Plan”) reserves 3,700,000
common shares for issuance (a) upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-qualified options or (b) as
restricted shares and performance shares. The Company may grant up to 1,200,000 restricted shares and
performance shares under the 1994 Plan. The 1994 Plan has been approved by the Company’s shareholders.

The Company’s trustees share incentive plan provides for the granting of up to 200,000 incentive share
options and restricted shares to trustees. The trustees share incentive plan has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

Available
Available Granted under for grant
under plan plan under plan
1994 Plan
Options, restricted shares and performance
shares (1) 3,700,000 2,375,388 1,324,612
Restricted shares and performance shares 1,200,000 721,638 478,362
Trustees plan
Options, restricted shares and performance
shares 200,000 140,616 59,384

(1) The 2,375,388 shares outstanding under the 1994 Plan include: 1,281,500 outstanding options,
370,000 options granted to a former officer, 721,638 restricted shares and performance shares
granted, and 2,250 cancelled options.

Additional information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from “Ownership of the
Company’s Common Shares” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7, 2003.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Incorporated herein by reference from “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in the

Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with
respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7, 2003.
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(a)

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

Innkeepers USA Trust

Within ninety (90) days prior to the filing date of this report, the Company evaluated, under the supervision
and with the participation of the Company’s management (including its chief executive officer and chief financial
officer), the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to
Exchange Act Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14.

Based on their evaluation of such disclosure controls and procedures, the Company’s chief executive
officer and chief financial officer have concluded that such controls were effective as of March 3, 2003, are
operating as designed and will alert them on a timely basis to any material information relating to the Company
required to be included in the Company’s periodic SEC filings.

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or other factors that could
significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, and no corrective actions with regards
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses (of which none were noted) were required.

Innkeepers Hospitality

Innkeepers Hospitality has advised the Company that within ninety (90) days prior to the filing date of this
report, Innkeepers Hospitality evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of Innkeepers
Hospitality’s management (including its vice president of accounting), the effectiveness of the design and operation
of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14.

Innkeepers Hospitality has advised the Company that based on this evaluation of such disclosure controls
and procedures, Innkeepers Hospitality’s vice president of accounting has concluded that such controls were
effective as of March 3, 2003, are operating as designed and will alert him on a timely basis to any material
information relating to Innkeepers Hospitality required to be included in the Company’s periodic SEC filings.

Innkeepers Hospitality has advised the Company that there have been no significant changes in Innkeepers
Hospitality’s internal controls or other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of
their evaluation, and no corrective actions with regards to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. (of
which none were noted) were required.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
Financial Statements

Innkeepers USA Trust

Report of Independent ACCOUNTANES .......oiiivrrer et ree st s esete et eesaesae s e e s e sas s e seseesaeseneeans E-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001........ccevveieeieoreeieiie e F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 .........ccocuriiriirrnriinie et e F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders® Equity for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 .........cooeviirieeiiiieiie ettt ere st e et ctresraeereesaeerne e ares F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 .........coeoriririeenieieeieee sttt en e e seeee F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .........c..ocovvirrrienericroenee et F-7

Innkeepers Hospitality

Report of Independent ACCOUNTANES .........ceerirceuierereeieeiiteine e setessesresreste st e e se e mee e seeeseensenees F-20
Combined Balance Sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001 ..o e F-21

28



(b

(©)

Combined Statements of Operations for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 ......ociiririieire et F-22
Combined Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (deficit) for

the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000..........ocooreiiimniinrecinvernr e F-23
Combined Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 ......cc.oioiiviieiie ettt e F-24
Notes to Combined Financial Statemerits. . .......cccouioiruiiriiiiririiririieeee e F-25

Financial Statement Schedule of Innkeepers USA Trust

Report of Independent ACCOUNLANTS .......c..ciiiireririeierees ettt sttt s et be bt e e F-30
Schedule 3 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31, 2002 ........cocovvvcniccnnen. F-31

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

Reports on Form 8-K

2002.
Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6(a)

10.6(b)

No reports on Form 8-K were filed by the Company in the period from October 1, 2002 to December 31,

Description of Exhibits

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Bylaws of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Common Share Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1-A to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Form of Percentage Lease (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Right of First Refusal and Option to Purchase (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust 1994 Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Innkeepers USA Trust Non-Employee Trustees’ Share Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 13, 1997).

Employment Agreement of Jeffrey H. Fisher (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(a) to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Employment Agreement of David Bulger (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(b) to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).
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10.6(c)
10.6(d)

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10(a)

10.10(b)

10.10(c)

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Employment Agreement of Gregory M. Fay (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(c) to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Employment Agreement of Mark A. Murphy (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(d) to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Form of Exclusive Hotel Development Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No.
33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Innkeepers
Hospitality, Inc. for the Hampton Inn - West Palm Beach, Florida (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Consolidated Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and
Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. for certain hotels (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2000, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, Bank of America, N.A., Bank One, N.A., First Union National Bank and
PNC National Association and the lenders named therein (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the
Coempany’s Current Report on Form §-K filed March 9, 2001).

First Amendment of Credit Agreement, Dated April 19, 2002 and effective as of March 29, 2002,
among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Bank of America, N.A., as
Issuing Bank, and Credit Lyonnais New York Branch, as Syndication Agent (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-k filed May 31, 2002).

Second Amendment of Credit Agreement, dated April 19, 2002 and effective as of March 29,
2002, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Bank of America,
N.A., as Issuing Bank, and Credit Lyonnais New York Branch, as Syndication Agent (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 15,
2003).

Seven Contribution Agreements, each dated as of September 16, 1996, between various
partnerships and Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership for the seven DeBoer Hotels (previously
filed as Exhibits 2.1 - 2.7 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 22, 1996 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Contribution Agreement between a partnership subsidiary of Innkeepers USA Trust and a
Summerfield Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of percentage lease agreement for Summerfield acquisition hotels (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Agreement on Franchise-Related matters between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships,
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Management Company, L.P., dated
as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18,
1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Lease Master Agreement between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Lease Company, L.P., dated as of June 20, 1997
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Voting Agreement among Jeffrey H. Fisher, Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, the Sumimerfield Contributing Partnerships, and the beneficial holders of Units issued
to the Summerfield Group, dated June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.30
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Redemption and Registration Rights Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships and the beneficial holders of
Units issued to the Summerfield Group dated as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan agreement, dated as of September 24, 1999, among Bank of America, N.A., as lender, and
Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated September 24, 1999, from Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers
Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2000, from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Addison (TX), L.P., and Innkeepers RI Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,
2001).

Form of Deed of Trust for the loan evidenced by the Promissory Note filed as Exhibit 10.20
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,
2001).

Loan Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1995, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Financing Partnership II, L.P., as borrower.

Promissory Note, dated as of October 6, 1995, from Innkeepers Financing Partnership II, L.P. to
Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

Assumption and Release Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1996, between Innkeepers
Residence Sili II, L.P. and Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Deed of Trust and Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of May 31, 1995, by
Innkeepers Residence Sili II, L.P. (as successor to original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts
Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Promissory Note, dated as of May 31, 1995, by Innkeepers Residence Sili II, L.P. (as successor to
original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Loan Agreement, dated as of March 5, 1997, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Wichita East,
L.P., Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers Financing Partnership III, L.P., as
borrowers.

Promissory Note, dated as of March 5, 1997, by Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P.,
Innkeepers Residence Wichita East, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers
Financing Partnership lII, L.P. to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

Loan Agreement, dated as of February 19, 1998, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P., Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers
Westchester, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General 11, L.P., as borrowers.

Promissory Note, dated as of February 19, 1998, by Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P.,
Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers Westchester, L.P., and Innkeepers Summerfield
General II, L.P., to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule 3 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31, 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNKEEPERS USA TRUST

March 14, 2003 /s/ Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chairman of the Board and President

March 14, 2003 /s/ David Bulger
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 14, 2003 , /s/ Gregory M. Fay
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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/s/ Jack P. DeBoer
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C. Gerald Goldsmith
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Chief Executive Officer, President and
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Chief Financial Officer and
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Trustee
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Trustee
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of shareholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Innkeepers USA Trust at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 and Note 13 to the financial statements, the Company adopted FASB No. 145,
“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” and
FASB No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” during 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 25, 2003




Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2002 and 2001

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2002 2001
ASSETS
Investment in hotel properties:
Land and improvements $101,104 $ 100,076
Buildings and improvements 655,373 652,899
Furniture and equipment 104,513 103,668
Renovations in process 828 241
Hotels held for sale, net 2,000 --
Hotels under development -- 8,998
863,818 865,882
Accumulated depreciation (180,789) (154,574)
Net investment in hotel properties 683,029 711,308
Cash and cash equivalents 21,367 5,077
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,151 19,138
Due from Lessees 8,784 10,264
Deferred expenses, net 3,685 4,546
Other assets 3,032 2,587
Total assets $734,048 $752,920
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Debt $236,730 $261,116
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,700 8,376
Distributions payable 9,000 3,176
Minority interest in Partnership 52,458 54,249
Total liabilities 305,888 326,917
Commitments (note 9)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized,
4,630,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 :
and 2001 115,750 115,750
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
37,483,913 and 34,774,156 issued and outstanding at December
31, 2002 and 2001, respectively 375 348
Additional paid-in capital 393,259 367,596
Unearned compensation. (1,036) (3,482)
Distributions in excess of earnings (80,188) (54,209)
Total shareholders’ equity 428,160 426,003
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $734,048 $752,920

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands, except per share data)

2002 2001 2000
Revenue: (Note 13) (Note 13)
Percentage Lease revenue $88,688 $105,540 $123,477
Other revenue 637 1,392 1,683
Total revenue 89,325 106,932 125,160
Expenses:
Depreciation 36,928 39,087 37,924
Amortization of franchise costs 57 59 65
Ground rent 493 485 470
Interest expense 17,485 18,565 18,190
Amortization of loan origination fees 1,173 928 909
Property taxes and insurance 12,451 10,882 11,035
General and administrative (excluding amortization of
unearned compensation) 3,927 3,585 3,864
Amortization of unearned compensation 1,346 1,349 1,181
Other charges 9,967 782 640
Total expenses 83,827 75,722 74,278
Income before minority interest 5,498 31,210 50,882
Minority interest, common 380 (615) (1,525)
Minority interest, preferred (4,273) (4,433) (4,693)
Income from continuing operations 1,605 26,162 44,664
Discontinued operations (3,362) 256 324
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels 530 (250) (214)
Net income (loss) (1,227) 26,168 44,774
Preferred share dividends . {9,983) (9,983} (9,983)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $(11,210) $16,185 $34,791
Earnings (loss) per share data:
Basic-continuing operations $(0.23) $0.47 $1.01
Basic $(0.31) $0.47 $1.02
Diluted-continuing operations $ (0.23) $0.47 $1.01
Diluted $(0.3D) $0.47 $1.02

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands, except share data)

Preferred Shares Common Shares Additional Distributions Total
Redemption Par Paid-in Unearned in Excess of  Shareholders’
Shares Value Shares Value Capital  Compensation Earnings Equity
Balance at December 31, 1999 4,630,000 $115,750 34,676,586 $347 $367,191 $(5,144) $(34,687) $443,457
Issuance of restricted shares -- -- 82,200 1 857 (858) - -
Amortization of unearned
compensation - - - -- - 1,181 - 1,181
Shelf registration statement costs -- - -- -- (23) -- -- (23)
Net income - -- -- -- -- - 44,774 44,774
Distributions declared (8$1.12 per
common share) -~ - -- - - -- (38,862) (38,862)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
_preferred share) -- - - - - -- (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 2000 4,630,000 115,750 34,758,786 348 368,025 ~(4,821) (38,758) 440,544
Issuance of restricted shares - -- 1,000 - 10 (10) - --
Amortization of unearned
compensation -- -- - - - 1,349 -- 1,349
Shelf registration statement costs -- -- -- - 24 - -- (24)
Allocation to minority interest - - - - (577) - - 577
Conversion of Common Units -- -- 14,370 - 162 -- -- 162
Net income - - - - - - 26,168 26,168
Distributions declared ($0.91 per
common share) - - - - - - (31,636) (31,636)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
_preferred share) -- -- -- -- -- -- (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 2001 4,630,000 115,750 34,774,156 348 367,596 (3,482) (54,209) 426,003
Issuance of restricted shares -- - 10,402 -- 74 (74) -- --
Issuance of common shares, net of
$1,412 in costs - - 2,600,000 26 24,900 - - 24,926
Amortization of unearned
compensation -- - -- - -- 1,346 - 1,346
Write-off of shares vested under
litigation settlement - - -- -- -- 1,174 -- 1,174
Conversion of Common Units -- - 99,355 1 6389 - -- 690
Net loss - -- -- -- -- - (1,227) (1,227)
Distributions declared ($0.40 per
common share) - - -- - - - (14,769) (14,769)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
preferred share) -- -- -- -- -- -- (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 2002 4,630,000 $115,750 37,483,913 $375 $393,259 $ (1,036) $ (80,188) $428,160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands)

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities: '
Net income (loss) $(1,227) $ 26,168 $ 44,774
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 39,712 41,716 40,353
Minority interests 3,893 5,048 6,218
Write-off of shares vested under litigation settlement 1,174 -- --
Impairment charge 6,500 -- --
(Gain) loss on sale of hotels (530) 250 214
Reserve for loss on hotel classified as held for sale 3,713 -- --
Write-off of deferred loan costs -- -- 240
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Due from Lessees 1,480 1,926 294
Other assets (445) (1,145) 249
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (426) 1,065 217
Net cash provided by operating activities 53,844 75,028 92,559
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in hotel properties (31,070) (36,837) (26,606)
Proceeds from sale of hotels 12,280 - 6,173
Net withdrawals (deposits) into restricted cash accounts 4,987 471) (6,393)
Payments for initial franchise fee (69) -- --
Net cash used by investing activities (13,872) (37,308) (26,828)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from debt issuance 4,000 29,500 66,000
Payments on debt (28,386) (14,569) (63,690)
Dividend reinvestment plan and shelf registration costs paid - (24) (23)
Distributions paid to unit holders (4,584) (6,125) (6,416)
Distributions paid to shareholders (19,102) (51,004) (48,821)
Redemption of units (236) (3,893) (985)
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares 24,926 -- --
Loan origination fees and costs paid (300) (938) (1,790)
Net cash used by financing activities (23,682) (47,053) (55,725)
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,290 (9,333) 10,006
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,077 14,410 4,404
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $21,367 $ 5,077 $ 14,410
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $17,492 $18,121 $18,280

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”), which at
December 31, 2002, owned 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,196 rooms/suites (the “Hotels”) through its partnership
interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and collectively
with Innkeepers, the “Company™). The ownership of the Partnership was as follows at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

Class A Class B
Common Preferred Preferred
Units %o Units % Units %

2002

Innkeepers 37,483,913  96.98% 4,630,000 100.00% -- -
Third parties 1,167,893 3.02% -- -- 3,884,469 100.00%
Total 38,651,806 100.00% 4,630,000 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%
2001

Innkeepers 34,774,156  96.42% 4,630,000 100.00% -- -
Third parties 1,290,157 3.58% -- -- 3,884,469 100.00%

Total 36,064,313 100.00% 4,630,000 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%

The Hotels are comprised of 46 Residence Inn by Marriott hotels, 12 Hampton Inn hotels, five Summerfield
Suites by Wyndham hotels, one Sunrise Suites hotel, one TownePlace Suites by Marriott hotel, one Courtyard by
Marriott hotel and one Holiday Inn Express hotel. The Hotels are located in 23 states, with 10 hotels located in
California, five each in Washington, Florida, and Michigan, and four each in Illinois, Texas and New Jersey.

At December 31, 2002, the Company leased 61 of the Hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. {(or other entities
under common control, collectively the “IH Lessee”) and six of the Hotels to affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc.
(the “Summerfield Lessee” and, together with the TH Lessee, the “Lessees™) pursuant to leases (“Percentage Leases™)
which provide for rent (“Percentage Rent”) based on fixed percentages of annual room revenue both below and in
excess of certain specified levels (“Thresholds™), subject to a minimum annual base rent (“Base Rent”). Base Rent
and Thresholds increase each year based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index for the previous year. Jeffrey H.
Fisher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, controls the IH
Lessee. Rolf E. Ruhfus, a trustee of the Company, is also a director of Wyndham International, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Innkeepers and
the Partnership after elimination of all significant intercompany accounts and transactions.

Investment in hotel properties. Hotel properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-
- line- method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (five years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for land
improvements and five to 40.years for buildings and improvements). Costs directly related to the acquisition and
development of hotels are capitalized. Real estate taxes, insurance and interest incurred during the development
period are also capitalized.

Under the Percentage Leases, routine repairs and maintenance at the Hotels are the responsibility of the
Lessees; major renewals and betterments are the responsibility of the Company and are capitalized.

Upon sale or disposition of an asset, the asset and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts, and the gain or loss is included in operations.
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The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of each hotel property to determine if circumstances
that indicate impairment in the carrying value of the investment exist or that depreciation periods should be modified.
If circumstances support the possibility of impairment, the Company will prepare a projection of the undiscounted
future cash flows, without interest charges, of the specific hotel and determine if the investment in such hotel is
recoverable. If impairment is indicated, the carrying value of the hotel property is written down to its estimated fair
value based on the Company’s best estimate of the hotel’s discounted future cash flows.

Hotels held for sale. For hotels classified as held for sale, the Company estimates the net selling price of
such hotel. Net selling price is estimated as the amount at which the hotel could be bought or sold (fair value) less
costs to sell. Fair value is determined considering prevailing market conditions and/or current estimated net sales
proceeds from pending offers, if appropriate. If the hotel’s net selling price is less than the carrying amount of the
hotel, a reserve for loss is established. Depreciation is no longer recorded on hotels held for sale.

Cash and cash equivalents. All highly liquid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and the
balances may at times exceed federal depository insurance limits.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include amounts the Company must make available to the Lessees for
the replacement and refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the
Hotels and amounts held in escrow by certain lenders for the payment of insurance, real estate taxes and additional
capital expenditures.

Deferred expenses. Deferred expenses are recorded at cost and consist primarily of loan origination fees and
costs and franchise application and transfer fees. Loan origination fees and costs are amortized using the interest
method over the original terms of the related indebtedness, which are three to 12 years. Amortization of franchise fees
is computed using the straight-line method over the original lives of the franchise agreements, which range from
approximately seven to 20 years. Accumulated amortization of deferred expenses is $2,827,000 and $1,997,000 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Minority interest. Minority interest represents the common unit holders’ proportionate share in the capital of
the Partnership and the Class B Preferred Unit holders® liquidation preference in the Partnership. Income is allocated
to the preferred unit holders based on their priority in the earnings of the Partnership (which is equal to the distribution
preference of the preferred unit holders as described in Note 5); then, income or loss is allocated to the common unit
holders based on their weighted average percentage ownership in the Partnership.

Revenue recognition. Each Hotel is leased by the Company to the Lessees under a Percentage Lease
agreement that provides for the payment of Percentage Rent based on room revenues, subject to minimum Base Rent.
Base Rent is paid monthly and Percentage Rent is paid on a schedule set forth in each Percentage Lease. Percentage
Rent is paid no later than 25 days subsequent to the end of each calendar quarter.

Base Rent is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the term of ecach Percentage Lease.
Percentage Rent is recognized as income when room revenues exceed the annual specified Thresholds.

Stock based compensation. The Company accounts for share option grants in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25) and related Interpretations. Under APB 25, no
compensation expense is recognized for employee share option grants because the exercise price of the options
granted to date has equaled the market price of the underlying shares on the date of grant (the “intrinsic value
method”).

If the Company had recognized compensation cost for options granted to employees and trustees based on the
fair value method, the Company would have recognized compensation cost of $85,000, $84,000 and $250,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. This would have reduced net income (loss) available to
common shareholders per share by less than $0.01 in each of these years. The fair value of each share option is
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: (1)
common dividend vield of 2.61% for 2002 grants, 8.89% for 2001 grants and 7.57% for 2000 grants, (2) expected
volatility of approximately 21.98% for 2002 grants, 20.85% for 2001 grants and 18.16% for 2000 grants in the




Company’s common share price, (3) a risk-free interest rate of 3.50% for 2002 grants, 4.60% for 2001 grants and
6.09% for 2000 grants and (4) an expected option life of four years for 2002, 2001 and 2000 grants.

Distributions. The Company intends to pay distributions which, at a minimum, will be sufficient for the -
Company to maintain its REIT status.

Income taxes. The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust under the Internal
Revenue Code and, generally, pays only minimal amounts of federal income taxes. Earnings and profits, which
determine the taxability of distributions to the Company’s shareholders, will differ from net income (loss) reported for
financial reporting purposes primarily due to the differences in the estimated useful lives and methods used to
compute depreciation for federal income tax purposes, impairment charges, reserves on held for sale hotels and any
litigation settlements.

The following table sets forth certain per share information regarding the Company’s common and preferred
share distributions for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000
Common shares
Ordinary income $0.3860 $0.850 $1.101
Return of capital 0.0140 -- --
Capital gain - 0.037 0.019
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain -- 0.023 --
Total distribution $0.4000 £0.910 $1.120
Preferred shares
Ordinary income $2.08064 $2.01424 $2.11872
Return of capital 0.07560 - -
Capital gain -- 0.08800 0.03752
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain -- 0.05400 --
Total distribution $2.15624 $2.15624 $2.15624

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from
the Lessees, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and distributions payable approximate fair value due to the short
maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of debt is not materially different from its carrying amount and is estimated based on current
interest rates believed to be available to the Company for similar debt.

Reclassification of extraordinary loss in 2000. The Company adopted the provisions of FASB No. 145,
“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” during
2002 and, accordingly, the $240,000 write-off of deferred loan costs recorded in 2000 as an extraordinary loss has
been reclassified to other charges in the accompanying 2000 statement of operations.

3. Acquisitions and Sales of Hotels

On November 3, 2000, the Company sold its Comfort Inn hotel in Allentown, PA for net proceeds of
$6,173,000 to an unaffiliated buyer. The Company recognized a loss of $214,000 on the sale. The net proceeds from
the sale were used to reduce the borrowings outstanding on the Line of Credit.

On January 8, 2001, the Company opened a 121-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in Tysons
Corner, VA. The total cost of this project was $14,000,000.
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In October 2001, the Company entered into a contract to sell its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West
Hollywood, CA. This hotel was classified as “held for sale” at December 31, 2001 and, accordingly, the Company
recognized a loss of $250,000 (based on the difference between the estimated net sales proceeds and the hotel’s net
book value of $12,200,000 at December 31, 2001) in the fourth quarter of 2001. In July 2002, the Company closed on
the sale of this hotel and recognized a gain of $530,000 on the sale in 2002.

On September 15, 2002, the Company opened a 174-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in Saddle
River, NJ. The total cost of the project was $22,900,000.

4. Debt

Debt is comprised of the following at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

Interest Rate Monthly Payment Principal Balance
2002 2001 Amount Beginning Maturity 2002 2001
Variable rate debt (000s) (000s)
Line of Credit -- 3.74% (D) (1) 07/2004 -- $21,000
Industrial development bonds 1.30% 1.70 ) 8)) 12/2014  $ 10,000 10,000
Fixed rate debt
Mortgage note (3) 7.00 7.00 141,331 11/1996(2) 06/2010 16,118 16,665
First Term Loan 8.17 8.17 256,250 10/1997(2) 10/2007 26,221 27,084
Second Term Loan 8.15 8.15 355,236 04/1999(2) 03/2009 38,558 39,588
Third Term Loan 7.02 7.02 292,467 04/2000(2) 04/2010 38,004 38,779
Fourth Term Loan 7.16 7.16 436,918 10/2002(2) 10/2009 57,829 58,000
Fifth Term Loan 7.75 7.75 377,664 02/2005(2) 01/2011 50,000 50,000

$236,730  $261,116

(1) Interest only payments are due monthly.
(2) Interest only is due monthly until principal amortization begins at the date indicated.
(3) The stated interest rate on this mortgage note is 10.35%.

The industrial development bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is based upon the 30-day yield of a
group of tax-exempt securities selected by an independent third party. The industrial development bonds are
collateralized by letters of credit that have an annual fee of 1.25%.

The Company has an uncollateralized $135 million line of credit (the “Line of Credit™). The interest rate on
the Line of Credit is LIBOR plus 122.5 to 225 basis points. The maximum amount of borrowings outstanding under
the Line of Credit during the year ended December 31, 2002 was $25,000,000. The Company has bank funding
commitments remaining under its Line of Credit of $125,000,000 at December 31, 2002. However, the actual amount
that can be borrowed is subject to borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement. During the first
quarter of 2002, the Company negotiated an amendment to the Line of Credit. This amendment reset certain financial
covenant thresholds for 2002 and increased the allowable percentage of total debt to implied value of the Hotels from
40% to 50%. In January 2003, the Company obtained an extension of the Line of Credit amendment obtained in the
first quarter of 2002 to December 31, 2003. If the operating environment in 2003 worsens substantially from the
Company’s current expectations and the Company violates the amended covenants, the Company may have to locate
replacement financing for borrowings that may then be outstanding under the Line of Credit, reduce distributions to its
shareholders and/or significantly reduce its planned capital expenditures.

Each of the first four Term Loan agreements contains a debt service coverage ratio requirement. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its Line of
Credit and Term Loan agreements, as amended.

At December 31, 2002, 39 of the Company’s hotel properties (with a net book value of $448,210,000)
collateralized the Company’s fixed rate debt and 28 of the Company’s hotel properties were unencumbered. For the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company capitalized interest of $767,000, $196,000 and
$581,000, respectively, in connection with hotels under development.




Future scheduled principal payments for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2002 are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Amount
2003 § 4,556
2004 4,883
2005 5,884
2006 6,399
2007 27,566
Thereafter 187,442
$236,730

The Company’s Declaration of Trust limits the consolidated indebtedness of the Company to 50.0% of the
Company’s investment in hotels, at cost, after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any indebtedness.
The Company’s consolidated indebtedness was approximately 27.4% of its investment in hotels, at cost, at December
31, 2002.

5. Capital Shares and Partnership Interests

The Company’s Board of Trustees is authorized to provide for the issuance of 100 million common shares
and 20 million shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish the number of shares in each series and to
fix the designation, powers, preferences, and rights of each such series and the qualifications, limitations or restriction
thereof.

During the second quarter of 2002, Innkeepers completed the sale of 2,600,000 common shares in an
underwritten public offering. The gross and net proceeds of the offering were $26,338,000 and $24,926,000,
respectively. Innkeepers contributed the net proceeds to the Partnership in exchange for 2,600,000 common units of
limited partnership interest in the Partnership (“Common Units™) and the Partnership used the net proceeds of the
offering to repay borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit.

The Company has 4,630,000 8.625% Series A cumulative convertible preferred shares of beneficial interest
(the “Series A Preferred Shares”) outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The Partnership has issued to
Innkeepers the same number of Class A preferred units of limited partnership interest (“Class A Preferred Units”).
The Series A Preferred Shares are convertible into 1.4811 common shares at any time and, therefore, the Company
has reserved 6,857,493 common shares for issuance upon conversion. The Series A Preferred Shares may be
redeemed by the Company after May 18, 2003 at the liquidation preference of $25 per share and have no stated
maturity or sinking fund requirements. The Series A Preferred Shares are entitled to annual dividends equal to the
greater of (i) $2.15624 per share (30.53906 per share payable quarterly) or (ii) the cash dividend paid or payable on
the number of common shares into which a Series A Preferred Share is then convertible.

Limited partners (other than Innkeepers) who hold Common Units have redemption rights (“Redemption
Rights™) which enable them to cause the Partnership to redeem each of their Common Units for cash at the then-
current fair market value of a common share or, at Innkeepers’ option, one common share. All of the Redemption
Rights are currently effective. The Partnership has issued to Innkeepers Common Units equal to the number of
Innkeepers’ common shares outstanding. The Partnership will issue additional Common Units to Innkeepers for any
additional common shares it issues, in exchange for Innkeepers’ contribution to the Partnership of the proceeds from
the common share issuance,

Additionally, limited partners who hold preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership
(“Class B Preferred Units” and collectively with the Common Units, “Units”) have Redemption Rights which enable
them to cause the Partnership to redeem each of their Class B Preferred Units for cash at the then-current fair market
value of a common share or, at Innkeepers’ option, one common share, The Class B Preferred Units have a
liquidation preference of $11.00 per unit, may be converted into Common Units at any time on a one-for-one basis
and will be converted into Common Units on November 1, 2006 unless previously converted or redeemed. Quarterly
preferred distributions are payable on each Class B Preferred Unit, and are based on the dividends payable on the
common shares (the minimum Class B Preferred Unit annual distribution is $1.10 and the maximum is $1.155). The
current quarterly preferred distribution rate is $0.275 for each Class B Preferred Unit ($1.10 on an annualized basis).
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The Class B Preferred Units distributions are reflected in the accompanying statement of operations as “minority

interest, preferred.”

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company redeemed for cash 22,909 (for $236,000)
and 152,574 (for $1,926,000) Common Units, respectively, and issued 99,355 and 14,370 common shares in
redemption of the same number of Common Units, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the
Company redeemed 178,860 Class B Preferred Units for $1,967,000.

The following table summarizes the dividends or distributions declared on each Series A Preferred Share,
Class B Preferred Unit and common share and Common Unit for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000
Common Common Common
Series A Class B share Series A Class B share Series A Class B share
Preferred Preferred and Preferred Preferred and Preferred  Preferred and
Share Unit Unit Share Unit Unit Share Unit Unit
First quarter $0.53906 $0.27500 $0.08 $0.53906 $0.28875 $0.30 $0.53906 $0.28875 $0.28
Second quarter 0.53906 0.27500 0.08 0.53906 0.28875 0.30 0.53906 0.28875 0.28
Third quarter 0.53906 0.27500 0.08 0.53906 0.28875 0.30 0.53906 0.28875 0.28
Fourth quarter 0.53906 0.27500 0.08 0.53906 0.27500 0.01 0.53906 0.28875 0.28
Fourth quarter
— special -- -- 0.08 -- -- -- -~ -- --
$2.15624 $1.10000 $0.40 $2.15624 $1.14125 $0.91 $2.15624  $1.15500 $1.12

The timing and amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees
based on factors it deems relevant.

6. Percentage Lease Revenue

Each Percentage Lease provides for the payment of Percentage Rent each year based on the annual room
revenues of the hotel, subject to a minimum Base Rent. The table below sets forth the Percentage Rent and Base Rent
earned by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands).

2002 2001 2000
Base Rent $65,466 $ 65,174 $ 62,227
Percentage Rent 23,860 40,998 61,914
Base and Percentage rent classified in
discontinued operations (638) (632) (664)
$88,688 $105,540 $123,477

The Lessees have future minimum Base Rent commitments to the Company under the Percentage Leases.
Minimum future Base Rent due under the Percentage Leases, assuming no further increases in Base Rent pursuant to

increases in the Consumer Price Index, are as follows through the year 2012 (in thousands):

Year Amount
2003 $ 68,080
2004 67,059
2005 61,762
2006 33,674
2007 51,774
Thereafter 157,041
$459,390

The Company must rely on the Lessees to generate sufficient cash flow from the operation of the Hotels to
enable the Lessees to meet the rent obligations under the Percentage Leases. The obligations of the Summerfield
Lessee under its Percentage Leases and related agreements are collateralized by $4,759,220 in irrevocable letters of
credit, one of which is pledged to a lender of the Company. The obligations of the IH Lessee under its Percentage
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Leases are not collateralized and the IH Lessee has only nominal assets, other than working capital. The Lessees have
paid all rent obligations due under the Percentage Leases for 2002.

7. Earnings per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2002 2001 2000
Numerator: (Note 13) (Note 13)
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 1,603 $ 26,162 § 44,664
Preferred share dividends (9,983) (9,983) (9,983)
Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders from
continuing operations (8,378) 16,179 34,681
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels 530 (250) 214)
Discontinued operations (3,362) 256 324
Net income (loss) applicable to common $ (11,2100 % 16,185 $ 34,791
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share — weighted
average shares 35,954,229 34,293,929 34,193,546
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options 16,719 59,497 6,202
Restricted shares 118,003 107,708 52,137
Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share — adjusted
weighted average shares and assumed conversions 36,088,951 34,461,134 34,251,885
Earnings (loss) per share data:
Basic-continuing operations $ 023 $ 047 $ 1.01
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels 0.01 (0.0 0.01)
Discontinued operations _(0.09) 0.01 0.01
Basic $ (031) § 047 % 1.02
Diluted-continuing operations $ 023) 3 047 § 1.01
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels 0.01 (0.01) (0.01)
Discontinued operations (0.09) 0.01 0.01
Diluted $ (0.31) § 047 § 1.02

The conversion of Common Units into common shares would have no effect on earnings (loss) per share.
The conversion of the Series A Preferred Shares, the Class B Preferred Units and 1,349,500 of the options granted (as
discussed in Note 8) are anti-dilutive (i.e., assuming that they were converted into common shares would reduce the
loss per share) and, therefore, are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share. For the periods
where a loss was incurred, the denominator used for calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share is the same as the
denominator for basic earnings per share.

8. Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company’s share incentive plan for employees and officers (the “1994 Plan”) reserves 3,700,000
common shares for issuance (a) upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-qualified options or (b) as
restricted shares and performance shares. Options granted under the 1994 Plan expire not more than ten years from
the date of grant. The Company may grant up to 1,200,000 restricted shares and performance shares under the 1994
Plan. Restricted shares issued to date had voting and dividend rights from the date granted. At December 31, 2002,
there were 1,324,612 common shares available for issuance under the 1994 Plan, including a maximum of 478,362
restricted and performance shares.

The exercise price of common share options may not be less than fair market value of the common shares at
the date of grant. The table below delineates information concerning common share options for the vears ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.



2002 2001 2000
Number of  Weighted  Number of  Weighted  Numberof  Weighted

Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,281,500 $11.54 1,651,250 $11.82 2,037,500 $12.12
Granted -- -- 5,000 10.16 -- --
Exercised -- -- -- -- -- --
Cancelled -- - . 2,250 10.56 380,000 13.46
Forfeited -- -- 372,500 12.78 6,250 10.52
Outstanding at end of year 1,281,500 $11.34 1,281,500 $11.54 1,651,250 $11.82
Exercisable at end of year 1,165,500 $11.67 1,079,500 $11.71 988,500 $12.08
Weighted average fair value of
options granted - $0.85 $1.18
Price range of shares under option ~ $8.875 to $8.875 to $8.875 to
: ’ $13.6875 : $13.6875 $15.1250

Of the 1,281,500 common share options outstanding, 143,000 are incentive share options and 1,138,500 are
non-qualified options. The incentive share options and non-qualified options vest over varying periods, not exceeding
ten and five years, respectively.

Under the 1994 Plan, the Company granted 1,000 and 82,200 restricted shares to employees during the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, subject to a vesting schedule (no shares were granted in 2002). Of
the 721,638 restricted shares granted under the 1994 Plan, 459,594 restricted shares were vested at December 31,
2002. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of the restricted shares granted in 2001 and 2000 was
$10.16 and $10.44, respectively.

The Company’s trustees share incentive plan provides for the granting of up to 200,000 incentive share
options and restricted shares to trustees. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted.
Options granted under the trustees plan expire not more than ten years from the date of grant.

The Company has granted an aggregate of 74,000 non-qualified options to trustees with exercise prices
ranging from $6.93 to $16.6875. The common share options vest over varying periods not exceeding five years. As
of December 31, 2002, 74,000 of these common share options, with a weighted average exercise price of $10.64, were
vested and no common share options have been exercised, forfeited or terminated.

The Company has also granted 66,616 restricted shares at a weighted average grant date fair value per share
of $11.25 to its non-employee trustees, which vest over varying periods not to exceed five years. At December 31,
2002, 60,374 of these restricted shares were vested.

9. - Commitments

The Hotels are operated under franchise or management agreements with the Lessees as Residence Inn by
Marriott, Summerfield Suites by Wyndham, Sunrise Suites, Hampton Inn, Courtyard by Marriott, TownePlace Suites
by Marriott or Holiday Inn Express hotels. The Company has paid the cost of obtaining or transferring certain
franchise license agreements. The Company has loaned the IH Lessee $860,000 and $904,000, at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively, for the working capital deposit required under the IH Lessee’s management agreements (the
“Marriott Management Agreements”) with wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott™).
These advances are uncollateralized, due on demand and bear no interest. The franchise agreements and Marriott
Management Agreements require the Lessees to pay fees based on percentages of hotel revenue and certain other fees.

The Company has guaranteed the IH Lessee’s obligations under the franchise agreements and Marriott
Management Agreements, generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company
terminates the related Percentage Lease. These guarantees continue for the life of the related franchise or management
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agreement, which lives can range up to 20 years. In the event that the IH Lessee was not fulfilling its obligations
under the franchise or management agreements, the Company would become responsible for those obligations and
there is no limit on the Company’s obligations under these guarantees. The IH Lessee incurred fees of $16,138,000
under these agreements for the year ended December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2002, the IH Lessee owed the
franchisors $529,000 for franchise and other fees under the franchise agreements and the IH Lessee owed Marriott
$2,451,000 for management fees and items advanced by Marriott under the Marriott Management Agreements.

Under the Percentage Leases, the Company is obligated to pay the costs of certain capital improvements, real
estate and personal property taxes and property insurance for the Hotels (except that the Summerfield Lessee is
required to pay property insurance on the Hotels it leases from the Company). Additionally, the Company must make
available to the Lessees an amount equal to 4% of room revenues from the Hotels, on a monthly basis, for the periodic
replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels
(subject to certain exceptions as described below). Each of the term loans require that the Company make available
for such purposes, at the Hotels collateralizing those loans, varying amounts up to a maximum total of 5% of gross
revenues from such Hotels.

The Marriott Management Agreements require the Company to set-aside either 4% or 5% (depending on the
Hotel) of room revenue for certain capital expenditures at the Marriott managed hotels (the “FF&E Escrow™). The
Marriott Management Agreements also require the Company to fund certain capital expenditures in addition to the
FF&E Escrow. The Marriott Management Agreements and franchise agreements require the Company to maintain its
Marriott hotels in accordance with Marriott’s brand standards, which may require the Company to spend amounts in
excess of the previously described requirements.

The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 and May 2035, respectively, and a
98-year term ground lease expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its hotel properties. Minimum
annual rent payable under these leases is $498,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on increases in the
consumer price index.

With respect to 13 of the Hotels, if the Company were to sell those Hotels in taxable transactions, the
Company would become liable for certain tax liabilities incurred by Unit holders who exchanged interests in those
Hotels for Units in the Partnership when the Company acquired the hotel. The tax reimbursement liability with
respect to a Hotel is generally limited to a period within 10 years of the Hotel’s acquisition date.

The Company has obtained property, casualty and other insurance with loss limits and coverages deemed
reasonable by management (and with the intent to satisfy the requirements of lenders and franchisors). In doing so,
the Company has made decisions with respect to what deductibles, policy limits and terms are reasonable based on
management’s experience, the risk profile and loss history of the Company and the Hotels, the nature of the
Company’s Hotels and businesses, and the Company’s loss prevention efforts. The Company also considered the
substantial costs increases demanded by insurers when the Company renewed most coverages in November 2002,
which followed very substantial increases incurred at the time of the November 2001 renewal. These increases have
raised the Company’s insurance cost-to-revenue ratio significantly in 2001 and 2002, notwithstanding the Company’s
decision to decrease the policy limits and/or increase the required deductibles for certain coverages. That ratio is not
likely to decline in the near- to mid-term, and the cost increases applicable to the Company have had and are likely to
continue to have a detrimental affect on the Company’s earnings and Funds From Operations. There can be no
assurance that (i) the insurance obtained will fully protect the Company against insurable losses (i.e., losses may
exceed coverage limits); (ii) that the Company will not incur substantial deductibles; (iii) that the Company will not
incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable; or (iv) that current coverages will
continue to be available at reasonable rates.



10. Related Party Transactions

The Company has paid $100,000 to the IH Lessee for shared personnel and services in each of the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. This amount has been recorded in general and administrative expense in
the statements of operations. The Company also reimburses the IH Lessee for its proportionate share of rent under a
lease for its corporate office space which was $217,000, $217,000 and $209,000 for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In July 2002, in connection with the Company’s sale of its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West
Hollywood, California, the Company paid the IH lessee a lease termination fee of $62,000. The Company has also
reimbursed $169,000 to certain unit holders (including Rolf E. Ruhfus, a Trustee of the Company) for tax liabilities
resulting from the sale in 2002,

As a result of renovations made in January and February 2002 at the Company’s Holiday Inn Express —
Lexington, MA hotel which required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service, the Company agreed
to compensate the IH Lessee for the significant loss of room nights by reducing the Rent payable under the Percentage
Lease for this hotel by $39,000 in 2002. '

The Company anticipates that it will engage an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett™) to perform
certain renovation projects in 2003. The Company anticipates that it will enter into renovation contracts with the
Hatchett affiliate totaling approximately $2 to $3 million in 2003. The affiliate of Hatchett is approximately 45%
owned by Equity Inns, Inc. (“Equity”). An affiliate of the IH Lessee is negotiating to manage a hotel owned by
Equity commencing in 2003. The TH Lessee expects this contract to assist its affiliate in qualifying as an eligible
independent contractor under the REIT Moderization Act, which would facilitate a TRS Transaction as described in
Note 14. The Company has taken, and will continue to take, steps to confirm that the pricing, quality and service that
the Hatchett affiliate provides is substantially comparable to that which is generally available in the marketplace for
products and services that the Company will acquire from or through the Hatchett affiliate.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company commenced renovations at its Hampton Inn — Norcross, GA hotel
which required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service. The Company has agreed to compensate
the TH lessee for the significant loss of room nights by reducing the Rent payable under the lease for this hotel by an
amount of up to $120,000 in 2003.

See also Notes 9, 11 and 14 for additional related party transaction disclosures.

11. Litigation Settlement

In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (who is a minority shareholder in certain of the
IH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company, the TH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleges that he was
wrongfully terminated by the Company in breach of his employment contract with the Company, was wrongfully
terminated by the IH Lessee under his employment contract with the IH Lessee, was injured by various breaches of
fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director and majority shareholder of the IH Lessee, and various other
related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. In December 2002, the defendants entered into a settlement
agreement with the plaintiff that is contingent upon the closing of a TRS Transaction as described in Note 14. In
exchange for a complete release of all claims and in settlement of the litigation, (a) the Company agreed to pay the
plaintiff $1.8 million in cash and vest 116,908 unvested restricted common shares, which resulted in a non-cash
charge of $1.2 million, and (b) the IH Lessee agreed to pay the plaintiff $5.9 million. Mr. Fisher agreed to purchase
the plaintiff’s equity interest in the TH Lessee for $1 million. The Company’s settlement cost has been recorded in
“other charges” in the accompanying statement of operations. The Company also agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s
116,908 restricted shares, at his option, upon closing of a TRS Transaction at the then-current market price. If a TRS
Transaction does not close by April 30, 2003, in the absence of a further agreement among the parties, the litigation
will resume and the Company (and the [H Lessee and Mr. Fisher) presently intends to continue to aggressively defend
all allegations.
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12. Other Charges

Other charges for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 include the following (amounts in
thousands):

2002 2001 2000

Legal fees $372 $300 3200
Litigation settlement 2,946 -- --
Advisory services related to RMA 149 310 200
Lease termination costs - 172 --
Impairment charge 6,500 -- -
Write-off of deferred loan costs - -- 240
$9,967 $782 $640

The legal fees and litigation settlement are related to litigation with the Company’s former Chief Operating
Officer, the advisory services are related to the Company’s consideration of its alternatives under the REIT
Modernization Act, and the lease termination costs are related to the termination of the Percentage Lease with the
Summerfield Lessee on the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotel located in West Hollywood, CA, which was sold
on July 24, 2002.

The Company reviewed the carrying value of each hotel property at December 31, 2002 to determine if an
impairment in the carrying value of the investment exists. The Company prepared a projection of the undiscounted
future cash flows, without interest charges, of each Hotel and determined that its investment in one hotel is likely not
recoverable over the Company’s anticipated holding period. The Company then adjusted the carrying value of the
hotel to its estimated fair value based on the estimated discounted future cash flows and recorded an impairment
charge of $6,500,000 in 2002.

Upon closing of the Line of Credit in May 2000, the previous line of credit was extinguished and the loan
origination fees and costs associated with the previous line of credit were expensed.

13. Discontinued Operations

In 2002, the Company adopted the provision of FASB No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets.” During the third quarter of 2002, the Company classified one of its hotel properties as “held
for sale.” The Company has stopped depreciation of the hotel (which reduced 2002 depreciation expense by
$100,000) and has classified it as held for sale in the accompanying December 31, 2002 balance sheet. The results of
operations from this hotel are classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying statements of operations. The
previously reported 2001 and 2000 results of operations have been reclassified to reflect the classification of this hotel
as held for sale. As a result of the held for sale classification, the Company has reduced the carrying value of this
hotel to its estimated fair value (less costs to sell) of $2,000,000 and recognized a reserve for impairment loss of
$3,713,000 during 2002. The Company expects to complete the sale of this hotel in 2003.

The following table sets forth the components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2002 2001 2000
Percentage Lease revenue $ 638 $ 632 $ 664
Other income - 1 7
Depreciation 208y (293) (274)
Property taxes and insurance (79) (84) (73)
Reserve for impairment loss (3,713) - --
Discontinued operations (53,362) $ 256 $ 324




14. Subsequent Events

On February 25, 2003, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.08 per
common share and Common Unit, $0.53906 per Series A Preferred Share and $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit to
holders of record on March 28, 2003. The distribution is payable on April 29, 2003.

Prior to the passage of the REIT Modernization Act (“RMA”) effective January 1, 2001, REITs were
generally required to lease their hotels to entities in which they owned less than a 10% interest. The RMA permits a
REIT to lease its hotels to taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) in which the REIT can own up to a 100% interest. TRS
pay corporate level income tax and may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to use the
TRS structure. One of those conditions is that the TRS must hire, to manage the hotels, an ‘eligible independent
contractor’ (“EIC”) that is actively engaged in the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the
REIT. An EIC cannot (i) own more than 35% of the REIT, (ii) be owned more than 35% by persons owning more
than 35% of the REIT or (iii) provide any income to the REIT (i.e., the EIC cannot pay fees to the REIT and the REIT
cannot own any debt or equity securities of the EIC). Affiliates of the IH Lessee are in the process of obtaining
management contracts on hotels owned by parties other than the REIT, in order to qualify as an EIC.

Due to Mr. Fisher’s control of the IH Lessee and his position with the Company, the Company’s Board of
Trustees formed a special committee of disinterested trustees, consisting of all of the Company’s trustees other than
Mr. Fisher, to review the strategic alternatives regarding the lessee position available under the RMA. The special
committee engaged an independent financial advisor to assist it in the analysis and also retained independent counsel
to advise it in connection with the negotiations and any transaction. In December 2002, the special committee began
negotiations with the IH Lessee regarding the possible structure and terms of a transaction (the “TRS Transaction™),
and those negotiations are continuing.

In January 2003, the Company and the TH Lessee entered into a letter of intent with Marriott for a transaction
under which the IH Lessee will convert the Marriott Management Agreements into long-term franchise agreements.
The IH Lessee will pay a royalty fee of 614 % of room revenues to Marriott for the first ten years of each franchise
agreement and a 5 % royalty thereafter. The term of the franchise agreements will be a minimum of 15 years.
Marriott will have enhanced rights to terminate after 10 years the franchise agreements for the five “Generation 1”
Residence Inn by Marriott hotels that are among the 17 hotels, and Marriott will have the right to terminate the
franchise agreement for one hotel after four years. The IH Lessee will also pay Marriott a conversion fee each year
for 10 years, beginning in 2004, equal to $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (after rent under the
Percentage Leases) in excess of a specified threshold. A portion of the conversion fee allocable to any hotel will be
waived for a year if, generally, the hotel’s room revenues for that year decline below certain levels and certain other
conditions are met. The Company will guarantee the IH Lessee’s obligations under the new franchise agreements,
including payment of the conversion fee. In connection with these conversions, the IH Lessee and the Company will
generally release Marriott from any liability accruing with respect to any Marriott-branded hotel owned by the
Company as of the conversion date. The IH Lessee expects to convert four of the 17 hotels on or about March 28,
2003 and the balance on or before June 20, 2003. The terms described above and the conversion of the 17 hotels to
management by the TH Lessee are subject to the execution of definitive documentation by the IH Lessee, Marriott and
the Company, and the satisfaction of other conditions including obtaining lender consents.

15. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS™) No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 addresses significant
issues regarding the recognition, measurement, and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and disposal
activities, including restructuring activities that are currently accounted for pursuant to the guidance that the Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the FASB has set forth in EITF Issue No 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring).” The scope of SFAS No. 146 also included (1) costs related to terminating a contract that is not a
capital lease and (2) termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a
one-time benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred compensation
contract. SFAS No. 146 will be effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS No.
146 had no impact on our results of operations or financial position for 2003.
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The FASB has issued SFAS No. 147, “Acquisitions of Certain Financial Institutions,” which is effective for
certain transactions arising on or after October 1, 2002. SFAS No. 147 will have no impact on the Company.

The FASB has issued SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and
Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company has adopted the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148. The Company currently accounts for stock-based employee compensation
in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations.
Accordingly, the alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation mandated by SFAS No. 148 are not applicable to the Company at this time.

FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 35, 57,
and 107 and rescission of FASN Interpretation No. 34,” was issued in November 2002. FIN 45 elaborates on the
disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain
guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor s required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee,
a lhability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN 45 does not prescribe a specific
approach for subsequently measuring the guarantor’s recognized liability over the term of the related guarantee. The
initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees
issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year-end. The disclosure
requirements in FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15,
2002. The Company has made the disclosures required by FIN 45.

FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 467), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an
interpretation of ARB No. 51,” was issued in January 2003. FIN 46 requires existing unconsolidated variable interest
entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risks among parties
involved. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and to variable
interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it
acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company believes that it has no unconsolidated variable interest entities that
would be consolidated under the requirements of FIN 46.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Innkeepers Hospitality

In our opinion, the accompanying combined balance sheets and the related combined statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Innkeepers Hospitality (as described in Note 1) at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of
Innkeepers Hospitality’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America which require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 25, 2003, except for Note 3 as to
which the date is March 13, 2003
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Innkeepers Hospitality
Combined Balance Sheets
December 31, 2002 and 2001

(in thousands, except share data)

2002 2001
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $12,490 $15,221
Marketable securities 2,549 3,102
Accounts receivable, net 3,263 3,920
Prepaid expenses 679 412
Total current assets 18,981 22,655
Qther assets 255 271
Total assets $19,236 $22,926
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,366 $ 4,330
Accrued expenses 4,835 4,292
Accrued litigation settlement 5,475 --
Payable to Manager 2,451 2,269
Due to Partnership 8,210 9,852
Total current liabilities 24,337 20,743
Other long-term liabilities 860 904
Total liabilities 25,197 21,647
Commitments (Note 5)
Shareholders’ equity (deficit):
Common shares, $1 par value, 9,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding at December
31, 2002 and 2001 9 9
Additional paid-in capital 1,160 890
Unrealized loss on marketable securities (894) (341)
Retained earnings (deficit) ) (6,236) 721
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) (5,961) 1,279
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $19,236 $22,926

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality
Combined Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands)

2002 2001 2000
Gross operating revenue:
Rooms $178,849 $200,017 $222,806
Food and beverage 267 242 294
Telephone 3,367 4,704 6,223
Other 3,585 4,376 4,304
Gross operating revenue 186,068 209,339 233,627
Departmental expenses:
Rooms 37,788 39,047 42,614
Food and beverage 290 270 295
Telephone 1,604 1,664 1,933
Other 1,610 1,732 2,064
Total departmental profit 144,776 166,626 186,721
Unallocated operating expenses:
General and administrative 15,310 16,793 17,882
Franchise and marketing fees 11,961 13,283 13,970
Advertising and promotions 10,354 10,642 11,374
Utilities 8,403 8.582 8,331
Repairs and maintenance 9,452 9,300 9,773
Management fees 2,576 3,888 5,421
Total unallocated operating expenses 58,056 62,488 66,751
Gross profit 86,720 104,138 119,970
Insurance (1,518) (1,072) (1,033)
Lessee overhead (5,086) (4,736) (3,810)
Litigation settlement (5,875) -- --
Percentage lease expense (79,996) (93,942) (110,122)
Net income (loss) (5,755) 4,388 5,005
Other comprehensive income — unrealized
gains (losses) on marketable securities (533) (228) 640
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (6,308) $ 4,160 $ 5,645

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality

Combined Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)

for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands, excepr share data)

Common Shares Unrealized
Additional loss on Retained  Shareholders'
paid-in marketable earnings equity
Shares Par Value capital securities (deficit) (deficit)
Balance at December 31, 1999 8,000 $8 $ 290 $(753) $1,040 $ 385
Paid-in capital -- -- 181 -- -- 181
Net income - - -- -- 5,005 5,005
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- -- -- 640 -- 640
Distributions declared -- -- - -- (5,867) (5,867)
Balance at December 31, 2000 8,000 8 471 (113) 178 544
Issuance of common shares 1,000 1 209 -- -- 210
Paid-in capital -- -- 210 -- -~ 210
Net income -- -- -- -- 4,388 4,388
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- -- -- (228) -- (228)
Distributions paid - -- -- -- (3,845) (3,845)
Balance at December 31, 2001 9,000 9 890 (341) 721 1,279
Paid-in capital -- -~ 270 -- -~ 270
Net loss - - - - (5,755) (5,755)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- -- -- (553) -- (553)
Distributions paid -- - -- -- (1,202) (1,202)
Balance at December 31, 2002 9000 $ 9 $ 1,160 $ (894) § (6,236) $ (5,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality

Combined Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(in thousands)

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(5,755) $ 4,388 $ 5,005
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation 66 32 24
Litigation settlement 5,475 -- -~
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 657 4,031 (3,103)
Prepaid expenses (267) (343) 469
Other assets - -~ 22
Accounts payable (964) (78) 674
Accrued expenses 543 (80) 28
Payable to Manager 182 (1,998) (892)
Due to Partnership (1,642) (3,168) 1,285
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (1,705) 2,784 3,512
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (50) (239 (6)
Net cash used by investing activities (50) (239) (6)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of advances from Partnership (44) (33) --
Paid-in capital 270 210 181
Distributions paid (1,202) (3,845) (5,402)
Issuance of common shares -- 210 --
Net cash used by financing activities (976) (3,458) (5,221)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,731) 913) (1,715)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15,221 16,134 17,849
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $12,490 $15,221 $16,134

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality
Notes to Combined Financial Statements

1. Organization

Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. and other entities under common control (collectively “IH” or the “IH Lessee™)
are controlled by Jeffrey H. Fisher and were formed primarily to lease and operate hotels owned by Innkeepers USA
Trust (“Innkeepers™) through Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Partnership,”
and together with Innkeepers, the “Company™). Mr. Fisher is the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of
the Board of Trustees of Innkeepers. The IH Lessee leased 61 hotels (the “IH Leased Hotels”) from the Company at
December 31, 2002.

The IH Lessee operates 44 of the IH Leased Hotels and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott International,
Inc. (“Marriott”) operate 17 of the IH Leased Hotels under management agreements with the TH Lessee.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents. All highly liquid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and the
balances may at times exceed federal depository insurance limits. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents
approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities. Marketable securities, which primarily consist of 267,450 common shares of the
Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are classified as available for sale and are carried at market value.
Marketable securities also include 20,500 preferred shares of the Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001, which are
convertible at any time into 30,363 common shares. The appreciation or depreciation in value of the marketable
securities, since purchase, is recorded in shareholders’ equity until realized.

Prepaid Expenses. Prepaid expenses consist primarily of prepaid insurance.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized as eamed. Credit evaluations are performed and an allowance
for doubtful accounts is provided against accounts receivable that are estimated to be uncollectible.

Franchise Fees. The cost of obtaining franchise licenses, for hotels subject to such licenses, is paid by the
Company on behalf of the IH Lessee, and the continuing franchise fees (generally a percentage of room revenue) ate
paid by the IH Lessee. :

Adbvertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Included in franchise and marketing fees are
fees (generally a percentage of room revenue) payable to marketing funds of the franchisors which were $4,925,000,
$5,474,000, and $6,241,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Percentage Lease Expense. Each IH Leased Hotel is leased by the Company to the IH Lessee under a
percentage lease agreement (“Percentage Lease”). The Percentage Lease for each IH Leased Hotel provides for rent
(*Percentage Rent”) based on fixed percentages of annual room revenue both below and in excess of certain specified
levels (“Thresholds™), subject to a minimum annual base rent (“Base Rent”). Base Rent and Thresholds increase each
year based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index for the previous year. Base Rent is paid monthly and
Percentage Rent is paid no later than 25 days after the end of each calendar quarter.

Base Rent is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the term of each Percentage Lease.
Percentage rent expense is recognized as expense when it is probable that room revenues will exceed the annual
specified levels.

Share Appreciation Rights. The IH Lessee has granted to certain employees and officers share appreciation
rights (“SARs”) entitling the holder to a cash payment equal to the difference between the Company’s common share
price on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the SAR. The IH Lessee accounts for the SARs granted to
employees under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). Under SFAS 123, the
IH Lessee recognizes expense or income (up to the extent that expense has been previously recognized) based on
changes in the fair value of the Company’s common shares.
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Income Taxes. The IH Lessee has elected S corporation status under the Internal Revenue Code.
Accordingly, the shareholders of the IH Lessee are taxed on an individual basis on their proportionate share of the IH
Lessee’s taxable income. Consequently, no provision for income taxes has been reflected in the financial statements.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Line of Credit

The IH Lessee established a $1,000,000 line of credit that is collateralized by 247,450 common shares and
20,500 preferred shares of the Company owned by the IH Lessee and guaranteed by Mr. Fisher. The line of credit
matures on December 24, 2004 and bears interest at LIBOR plus 190 basis points. The IH Lessee may borrow up to
50% of the then current market value of the pledged common and preferred shares. However, if the borrowing to
market value ratio at any time exceeds 60%, the TH Lessee is required to repay borrowings to bring the borrowing to
market value ratio below 50%. In March 2003, the IH Lessee borrowed $1,000,000 under the line of credit.

4. Share Appreciation Rights

The TH Lessee has granted to certain employees and officers share appreciation rights (“SARs”) entitling the
holder to a cash payment equal to the difference between the Company’s common share price on the date of exercise
and the exercise price of the SAR. The SARs vest over periods of up to five years and have a maximum term of ten
years. The following table sets forth certain information relating to the SARs for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000.

2002 2001 2000
Number of ~ Weighted  Numberof  Weighted  Number of  Weighted
Share Average Share Average Share Average
Appreciation  Exercise  Appreciation  Exercise  Appreciation  Exercise
Rights Price Rights Price Rights Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 442,800 $11.36 524,100 $11.33 294,600 $12.48
Granted - - - - 311,000 10.25
Exercised 6,200 10.25 24,300 10.25 -- --
Forfeited 96,600 10.25 57,000 11.56 81,500 11.38
Qutstanding at end of year 340,000 $11.69 442,800 $11.36 524,100 $11.33
Exercisable at end of year 292,400 $11.92 304,600 $11.76 - -
Price range of share appreciation $10.25t0 $10.25 to $10.00 to
rights $13.25 $13.25 $13.25
Expense recogmzed $ 33,000 $ 23,000 § 27,000
5. Commitments and Related Party Transactions

The TH Lessee has future lease commitments for office space through 2004. Minimum future rental
payments under this noncancelable operating lease is approximately $425,000 per year. The Company reimburses the
IH Lessee for its proportionate share of rent under this lease. Rent expense, excluding Percentage Lease expense and
net of the office rent reimbursement by the Company, was $205,000, $205,000 and $152,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 20600, respectively.

The IH Lessee has future minimum Base Rent commitments under the Percentage Leases to the Company
through 2012. Minimum future Base Rent payments under the Percentage Leases, assuming no further increases in
Base Rent pursuant to increases in the Consumer Price Index, are as follows (in thousands):

F-26




Year Amount

2003 $60,064
2004 59,042
2005 53,746
2006 45,658
2007 43,758
Thereafter 121,301

$383,569

For the year ended December 31, 2002, 13 of the IH Leased Hotels paid only the minimum Base Rent under
the Percentage Leases. For these hotels and any other hotels that reach Base Rent, the IH Lessee must continue to pay
Base Rent even if the room revenue declines further. The remaining IH Leased Hotels paid Percentage Rent that is in
excess of Base Rent. The table below sets forth the Base Rent and Percentage Rent expensed by the IH Lessee for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively (in thousands).

2002 2001 2000
Base Rent $57,635 $57,444 $ 53,489
Percentage Rent 22,361 36,498 56,633
$79,996 $93,942 $110,122

The IH Lessee has obtained liability and certain other insurance with loss limits and coverages deemed
reasonable by the IH Lessee’s management (and as may be required by lenders and franchisors). There can be no
assurance that the insurance obtained will fully protect the IH Lessee against insurable losses, that the IH Lessee will
not incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable or that current coverages will
continue to be available at reasonable rates. The IH Lessee has obtained general liability and umbrella, workers
compensation, employment practices liability, automobile, and other insurance with deductibles, loss limits and
coverages deemed reasonable by management (and with the intent to satisfy the requirements of the Company under
the Percentage Leases, the Company’s lenders, and franchisors). In doing so, the IH Lessee has made decisions with
respect to what deductibles, policy limits and terms are reasonable based on management’s experience, the risk profile
and loss history of the Hotels, the nature of the Hotels and their busiiiésses, and the TH Lessee’s loss prevention
efforts. The IH Lessee also considered the substantial costs increases demanded by insurers when the TH Lessee
renewed most coverages in November 2002, which followed very substantial increases incurred at the time of the
November 2001 renewal. These increases have raised the IH Lessee’s insurance cost-to-revenue ratio significantly in
2001 and 2002, notwithstanding the ITH Lessee’s decision to decrease the policy limits and/or increase the required
deductibles for certain coverages. That ratio is not likely to decline in the near- to mid-term, and the cost increases
applicable to the TH Lessee have had and are likely to continue to have a detrimental affect on the IH Lessee’s
earnings. Under the Percentage Leases, the IH Lessee is responsible for premiums on all casualty coverages, and the
Company is responsible for premiums on all property insurance coverages. The Company is a named insured or
additional named insured on most of the coverages paid for by the IH Lessee. There can be no assurance that (i) the
insurance obtained will fully protect the IH Lessee (or the Company) against insurable losses (i.e., losses may exceed
coverage limits); (ii) that the IH Lessee will not incur substantial deductibles; (iii) that the IH Lessee (or the Company)
will not incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable; or (iv) that current
coverages will continue to be available at reasonable rates.

At December 31, 2002, Marriott operated 17 of the IH Leased Hotels under management agreements with the
IH Lessee (the “Marriott Management Agreements”). The Marriott Management Agreements, generally, have an
initial term of 13 years (expiring in 2007 to 2013) and provide for base management fees of 2% of gross revenues at
the Marriott managed hotels and incentive management fees which is 50% (for seven of the hotels, the percentage is
65% up to 3.5% of gross revenue and 50% thereafter) of available cash flow (after rent under the Percentage Leases).
The payment of incentive management fees is subordinate to the [H Lessee’s obligations under the Percentage Leases
at the Marriott managed hotels. The Marriott Management Agreements also contain substantial penalties for early
termination without cause. Amounts due to Marriott under the Marriott Management Agreements are included in
“Payable to Manager” in the accompanying combined balance sheets. The right to operate the 17 hotels as Residence
Inn by Marriott hotels or TownePlace Suites by Marriott hotel is contained in the Marriott Management Agreements.
In lieu of a franchise fee, the Marriott Management Agreements provide for a system fee of 5% of gross revenues at
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the Marriott managed hotels. The system fee is included in “Franchise Fees” in the accompanying combined
statements of income.

On December 29, 2000, the IH Lessee and Marriott agreed to convert the Marriott Management Agreements
on teti Residence Inn by Marriott hotels to franchise agreements and the [H Lessee became the manager of the hotels.

In January 2003, the Company and the IH Lessee entered into a letter of intent with Marriott for a transaction
under which the IH Lessee will convert the Marriott Management Agreements into long-term franchise agreements.
The IH Lessee will pay a royalty fee of 6% % of room revenues to Marriott for the first ten years of each franchise
agreement and a 5 % royalty thereafter. The term of the franchise agreements will be a minimum of 15 years.
Marriott will have enhanced rights to terminate after 10 years the franchise agreements for the five “Generation 1”
Residence Inn by Marriott hotels that are among the 17 hotels, and Marriott will have the right to terminate the
franchise agreement for one hotel after four years. The TH Lessee will also pay Marriott a conversion fee each year
for 10 years, beginning in 2004, equal to $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (after rent under the
Percentage Leases) in excess of a specified threshold. A portion of the conversion fee allocable to any hotel wiil be
waived for a year if, generally, the hotel’s room revenues for that year decline below certain levels and certain other
conditions are met. The Company will guarantee the IH Lessee’s obligations under the new franchise agreements,
including payment of the conversion fee. In connection with these conversions, the IH Lessee and the Company will
generally release Marriott from any liability accruing with respect to any Marriott-branded hotel owned by the
Company as of the conversion date. The IH Lessee expects to convert four of the 17 hotels on or about March 28,
2003 and the balance on or before June 20, 2003. The terms described above and the conversion of the 17 hotels to
management by the IH Lessee are subject to the execution of definitive documentation by the IH Lessee, Marriott and
the Company, and the satisfaction of other conditions including obtaining lender consents.

The Company has reimbursed the IH Lessee $100,000 for shared personnel and services for each of the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has advanced $860,000 and $904,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, to the TH
Lessee for the working capital deposit required under certain of the Marriott Management Agreements. These
advances are uncollateralized, non-interest bearing and included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
combined balance sheets.

Percentage Lease expense due to the Company that remains unpaid at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is
included in Due to Partnership in the accompanying combined balance sheets.

As a result of renovations made in January and February 2002 at the Company’s Holiday Inn Express —
Lexington, MA hotel which required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service, the Company has
agreed to compensate the [H lessee for the significant loss of room nights by reducing the Rent payable under the
lease for this hotel by $39,000 in 2002.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company commenced renovations at its Hampton Inn — Norcross, GA hotel
that required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service. The Company has agreed to compensate the
IH lessee for the significant loss of room nights by reducing the Rent payable under the lease for this hotel by an
amount of up to $120,000 in 2003.

Mr. Fisher has agreed to fund any working capital requirements of the IH Lessee during 2003.
6. Employee Benefit Plans

The IH Lessee sponsors a defined contribution employee benefit plan (the “Plan”). Substantially all
employees who are age 21 or older and have at least one year of service, as defined, are eligible to participate in the
Plan. Employees may contribute up to 15% of their compensation to the Plan, subject to certain annual limitations.
The IH Lessee made a contribution of $15,000 to the Plan in 2002 and the IH Lessee absorbs certain administrative
expenses of the Plan.

The IH Lessee sponsors a self-insured health plan for its employees. The IH Lessee has made a provision for
reported and unreported claims incurred as of December 31, 2002 and 2001. The TH Lessee also maintains individual
and aggregate stop loss insurance policies.
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During 2001, the IH Lessee implemented a deferred compensation plan for the benefit of certain of its
officers and employees. Under the plan’s terms, the IH Lessee granted the participants an aggregate of 20,000
Innkeepers shares held by the TH Lessee. The shares vest at the end of five years and will be distributed at that time.
The plan also contains provisions that accelerate a portion of the vesting in each year that certain performance
conditions are met. No shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2002 or 2001. Accordingly, the IH Lessee
still holds all of the shares and the shares are included in the investment in marketable securities. The IH Lessee
amortizes the grant date fair value over the estimated vesting periods of the shares, not exceeding five years.

7. Litigation Settlement

In May 2000, the [H Lessee’s former president (who is a minority shareholder in certain of the [H Lessee
entities and a former officer in the Company) filed suit against the [H Lessee, the Company and Mr. Fisher. The suit
alleges that he was wrongfully terminated by the [H Lessee in breach of his employment contract with the IH Lessee,
was wrongfully terminated by the Company under his employment contract with the Company, was injured by various
breaches of fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director and majority shareholder of the IH Lessee, and
various other related claims against the IH Lessee and the Company. In December 2002, the defendants entered into a
settlement agreement with the plaintiff that is contingent upon the closing of a TRS Transaction as described in Note
8. In exchange for a complete release of all claims, {(a) the IH Lessee agreed to pay the plaintiff $5.9 million and (b)
the Company agreed to pay the plaintiff $1.8 million in cash and vest 116,908 unvested restricted common shares,
which resulted in a non-cash charge of $1.2 million. Mr. Fisher agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s equity interest in the
IH Lessee for §1 million. The IH Lessee’s settlement cost has been recorded in “litigation settlement” in the
accompanying statement of operations. If a TRS Transaction does not close by April 30, 2003, in the absence of a
further agreement among the parties, the litigation wilt resume and the IH Lessee (and the Company and Mr. Fisher)
presently intends to continue to aggressively defend all allegations.

In September 2001, the IH Lessee terminated its former Vice President of Operations and, in November
2001, this former officer filed for arbitration claiming a breach of his employment agreement. In 2002, the arbitrator
awarded the former Vice President of Operations $300,000 plus attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by the plaintiff of
$75,000. The IH Lessee has recorded this as an expense in 2002, which is included in “Lessee Overhead” in the
accompanying statements of operations.

8. Subsequent Event

Prior to the passage of the REIT Modernization Act (“RMA”) effective January 1, 2001, REITs were
generally required to lease their hotels to entities in which they owned less than a 10% interest. The RMA permits a
REIT to lease its hotels to taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) in which the REIT can own up to a 100% interest. TRS
pay corporate level income tax and may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to use the
TRS structure. One of those conditions is that the TRS must hire, to manage the hotels, an ‘eligible independent
contractor’ (“EIC”) that is actively engaged in the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the
REIT. An EIC cannot (i) own more than 35% of the REIT, (ii) be owned more than 35% by persons owning more
than 35% of the REIT or (iii) provide any income to the REIT (i.e., the EIC cannot pay fees to the REIT and the REIT
cannot own any debt or equity securities of the EIC). Affiliates of the IH Lessee are in the process of obtaining
management contracts on hotels owned by parties other than the REIT, in order to qualify as an EIC.

Due to Mr. Fisher’s control of the IH Lessee and his position with the Company, the Company’s Board of
Trustees formed a special committee of disinterested trustees, consisting of all of the Company’s trustees other than
Mr. Fisher, to review the strategic alternatives regarding the lessee position available under the RMA. The special
committee engaged an independent financial advisor to assist it in the analysis and also retained independent counsel
to advise it in connection with the negotiations and any transaction. In December 2002, the special committee began
negotiations with the IH Lessee regarding the possible structure and terms of a transaction (the “TRS Transaction™),
and those negotiations are continuing.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated February 25, 2003
appearing on page F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedule
listed in the index on page F-1 of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 25, 2003
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2002

2001

2000

Cost of land and improvements, and buildings
and improvements:

Balance at beginning of year

$752,974,825

$727,245,529

$724,157,401

Additions 16,731,825 26,908,109 10,209,286
Disposals (13,228,883) (1,178,813) (7,121,158)
Balance at end of year $756,477,767 $752,974,825 $727,245,529
Accumulated depreciation on land
improvements, buildings and improvements:
Balance at beginning of year $90,779,140 $71,161,269 $52,694,780
Additions 20,718,633 20,759,698 19,484,870
Disposals (2,284,466) (1,141,827) (1,018,381)
Balance at end of year $109,213,307 $90,779,140 $71,161,269
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RISK FACTORS

SOME OF THE INFORMATION YOU WILL FIND IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K, AND IN
OUR OTHER FILINGS UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND OUR PROSPECTUSES OR
ANY PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENTS, MAY CONTAIN "FORWARD-LOOKING" STATEMENTS. ALSO,
DOCUMENTS SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY US WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION MAY
CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. YOU CAN IDENTIFY THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS BY
THEIR USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING WORDS SUCH AS "MAY," "SHOULD," "COULD," "PLANS,"
"INTENDS," "EXPECTS," "ANTICIPATES," "ESTIMATES," "PROJECTS," "CONTINUES," "IS DESIGNED T0,"
"POTENTIAL" OR OTHER SIMILAR WORDS. THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS DISCUSS FUTURE EVENTS
OR EXPECTATIONS OR CONTAIN PROJECTIONS OR ESTIMATES. WHEN CONSIDERING THESE
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, YOU SHOULD KEEP IN MIND THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS.
THESE RISK FACTORS COULD CAUSE OUR ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY AND
ADVERSELY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.

The following risk factors are not necessarily exhaustive, particularly as to possible future events, and new
risk factors may emerge periodically. Many things can happen that can cause our actual results to be very different
than those we describe in our SEC filings. Any statements we make that are not historical facts should be
considered to be forward-looking statements. We make no promise to update any of our forward-looking
statements, or to publicly release the results if we revise any of them.

We Rely on Others to Operate our Hotels and for our Cash Flow.

In order for us to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or “REIT”, third parties must operate
our hotels. Under prior law, we were required to lease our hotels to entities that we did not own. As a result we
lease substantially all of our hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. (or affiliated entities, the “IH Lessee™) and
affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc. (the “Summerfield Lessee”). Under the terms of the operating leases for
our hotels (“Percentage Leases”), our ability to participate in operating decisions is very limited. Even if we believe
that our hotels are not being operated efficiently, we may not be able to require a lessee to change the way it
operates hotels. Moreover, we depend on lease payments from our lessees for substantially all of our revenues.
Under current law, while we may lease hotels to taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) that we own, if we do so the
TRS must engage a third-party operator to manage the hotels. Therefore, even under current law, our ability to
direct and control how our hotels are operated is less than if we were able to manage our hotels directly (see
“Business — General — Potential Transaction Involving the IH Lessee’s Lease Position” in the first part of this
report). Jeffrey H. Fisher controls the IH Lessee and is the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of Innkeepers See “— Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — the IH Lessee”
below. ‘

The Lessees Rely Solely on the Operations of our Hotels for Liguidity.

The TH Lessee has limited liquidity and a substantial shareholders’ deficit (see “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — The IH Lessee” in the first part of this report). The
Percentage Leases may be terminated if a default under a lease occurs; a default under one Percentage Lease with
the TH Lessee constitutes a default under all of the Percentage Leases with the TH Lessee. Nonetheless, if the ITH
Lessee cannot pay rent or comply with its other obligations under the Percentage Leases, we may have limited
ability to collect those amounts or require its compliance. See also “— Conflicts of Interest and Related Party
Transactions — The [H Lessee” below.

The Summerfield Lessee leases six of the Hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels™) that are not leased by the IH
Lessee, under Percentage Leases. The obligations of the Summerfield Lessee under its Percentage Leases and
related agreements are collateralized by $4,759,220 in irrevocable letters of credit, one of which is pledged to a
lender to the Company, and are guaranteed by Wyndham. According to Wyndham, it had a net loss for the year
ended December 31, 2002 of approximately $500 million. As a result, we believe that Wyndham may be unable to
meet its guarantee obligations, and relies exclusively on the cash flow of the Summerfield Hotels to generate
sufficient cash flow to pay rent and satisfy its capital expenditure and other obligations under its Percentage Leases.
There can be no assurance that the Summerfield Hotels will generate sufficient cash flow to allow the Summerfield




Lessee to meet its obligations under the Percentage Leases. See also “Business — General — Property Operations —
The Summerfield Lessee™ in the first part of this report.

September 11, 2001°s Events, the Current U.S. Economic Recession and Prospects for Military Action Have
Negatively Affected, and Could Continue to Negativelv Affect, Both the Hotel Industry and our Results of
Operations and Financial Condition.

Before September 11, 2001, our hotels had begun experiencing declining revenue per available room, or
“RevPAR,” as a result of the slowing U.S. economy. The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and the after-
effects (including the prospects for more terror attacks in the U.S.), as well as the economic climate, have
substantially reduced business and leisure travel throughout the U.S. and hotel industry RevPAR generally.
RevPAR at our hotels specifically has declined substantially since September 11, 2001. While RevPAR at our
hotels has improved somewhat from the depressed levels in the weeks following the events of September 11,
RevPAR at our hotels remains well below pre-September 11, 2001 levels and may remain at depressed levels.
Moreover, armed conflict and the prospects of war in Iraq (and possibly other regions) have muted any economic
recovery and could further depress travel and the travel industry. We cannot predict the extent to which these
factors will continue to directly or indirectly impact the hotel industry or our operating results in the future.
Continued lower RevPAR at our hotels could have an adverse affect on our results of operations and financial
condition, including our ability to remain in compliance with our debt covenants, our ability to fund capital
improvements at our hotels, and our ability to make shareholder distributions necessary to maintain our status as a
REIT. Additional terrorist attacks, acts of war or similar events could have further material adverse effects on the
hotel industry at large and our operations in particular.

We have also been particularly adversely affected by our concentration of hotels in California, and in the
Silicon Valley specifically, where the decline of technology companies and business during the current recession
has been pronounced. In 2002, 20% of our Percentage Lease revenue came from our California hotels. We do not
know to what extent that sector will rebound, or when a recovery in the sector will gain momentum. A recovery in
this business sector may lag a recovery in the economy in general, which would limit or delay our participation in
such a recovery. See “— Concentration of Investment in California, Pacific Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and
Michigan” below.

Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions.

Jeffrev H. Fisher. Affiliates of Mr. Fisher contributed Hotels to the Company on a favorable tax basis in
connection with our initial public offering in 1994. The sale, refinancing or prepayment of indebtedness secured by
those Hotels may trigger adverse tax consequences to Mr. Fisher. Conflicts of interest, therefore, exist between the
Company and Mr. Fisher regarding any transaction involving those Hotels that could trigger adverse tax
consequences to Mr. Fisher.

The IH Lessee. At December 31, 2002, we leased 61 Hotels to the IH Lessee pursuant to Percentage
Leases. Mr. Fisher controls the IH Lessee. Each Percentage Lease had an initial term of at least 10 years (except
for two hotels leased for five-year terms), and the oldest leases begin expiring in the fourth quarter of 2004. Under
the Percentage Leases, the TH Lessee is required to pay the greater of (a) a fixed base rent or (b) percentage rent
based on the hotel revenue, and certain additional charges, and is entitled to all profits from the operation of the
hotels after the payment of rent, operating expenses and other expenses (including management fees). Payments of
rent under the Percentage Leases with the IH Lessee constituted approximately 90% of the Company’s 2002
Percentage Lease revenues. For 2002, the IH Lessee incurred or paid the Partnership an aggregate of approximately
$80 million in lease payments and had combined net loss of $5.8 million. The IH Lessee has a shareholders’ deficit
of $6 million (which includes a $5,875,000 contingent litigation settlement charge) at December 31, 2002.
Therefore, the Company must rely on the cash flow generated by the IH Lessee from the operations of the Hotels to
satisfy IH’s obligations under the Percentage Leases and any other obligations. Because Mr. Fisher is the Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Company, and controls the IH Lessee,
conflicts of interest do or may exist between Mr. Fisher and the Company regarding (a) enforcement of the terms of
the Percentage Leases, (b) whether and on what terms Percentage Leases will be renewed upon the expiration of
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their current terms and (c) whether and on what terms additional leases or management contracts will be awarded to
the IH Lessee.

Prior to the passage of the REIT Modernization Act (“RMA”) effective January 1, 2001, REITs were
generally required to lease their hotels to entities in which they owned less than a 10% interest. The RMA permits a
REIT to lease its hotels to taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS™) in which the REIT can own up to a 100% interest.
TRS pay corporate level income tax and may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to
use the TRS structure. One of those conditions is that the TRS must hire, to manage the hotels, an ‘eligible
independent contractor’ (“EIC”) that is actively engaged in the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other
than the REIT. An EIC cannot (i) own more than 35% of the REIT, (i1) be owned more than 35% by persons
owning more than 35% of the REIT or (iii) provide any income to the REIT (i.e., the EIC cannot pay fees to the
REIT and the REIT cannot own any debt or equity securities of the EIC). Affiliates of the IH Lessee are in the
process of obtaining management contracts on hotels owned by parties other than the REIT, in order to qualify as an
EIC. Due to Mr. Fisher’s control of the [H Lessee and his position with the Company, the Company’s Board of
Trustees formed a special committee of disinterested trustees, consisting of all of the Company’s trustees other than
Mr. Fisher, to review the strategic alternatives regarding the lessee position available under the RMA. The special
committee engaged an independent financial advisor to assist it in the analysis and also retained independent
counsel to advise it in connection with the negotiations and any transaction. In December 2002, the special
committee began negotiations with the [H Lessee regarding the possible structure and terms of a transaction (the
“TRS Transaction”), and those negotiations are continuing.

From mid-December 2001 to mid-February 2002, approximately 80% of the rooms at the Holiday Inn
Express - Lexington, MA were taken out of service to accommodate significant renovations required by the
franchisor. The renovations and other franchisor-imposed conditions also adversely affected the hotel’s ability to
generate revenue from the rooms remaining in service. As revenue was materially decreased during this period, we
agreed to waive our right to collect base rent from the TH Lessee under the Percentage Lease for the hotel for
January and February 2002. In addition, we agreed to a credit against future rent to compensate for the decreased
amount of income generated by the IH Lessee in January and February 2002, as compared to the average results for
those months in the previous two years. As a result, we reduced the rent due to us by $39,000 in 2002.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company commenced renovations at its Hampton Inn — Norcross, GA hotel
that required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service. The Company has agreed to compensate
the IH lessee for the significant loss of room nights by reducing the Rent payable under the lease for this hotel by an
amount of up to $120,000 in 2003.

In October 2001, we terminated a Percentage Lease with the Summerfield Lessee on the Summerfield
Suites by Wyndham hotel located in West Hollywood, CA (the “West Hollywood Hotel”). Among other reasons
for terminating the lease, we contemplated marketing the hotel for sale and sought to unencumber the hotel from the
Summerfield Lessee’s interests. The IH Lessee agreed to enter into a five year Percentage Lease with us on the
West Hollywood Hotel and began operating the hotel. The West Hollywood Hotel secured, in part, a loan to the
Company by a third party lender, and the lender would not agree to a change in the economic terms of the lease.
Therefore, the [H Lessee agreed to enter into the new lease with us for the West Hollywood Hotel on the same rent
termns as the Summerfield Lessee’s prior lease, understanding that the hotel would likely be sold in the near- to mid-
term. The IH Lessee’s Percentage Leases permits us to terminate a lease and sell the related hotel unencumbered
by the lease, if we pay the IH Lessee the fair market value of the leasehold interest being terminated, either in cash
or with one or more replacement leases on other hotels. The IH Lessee and the Company understood that if the
West Hollywood hotel was sold before late 2002, it was likely to produce losses for the IH Lessee due to the poor
hotel business environment after the September 11 attacks and due to the rent formula that the IH Lessee was
required to accept. Therefore, we agreed that if the West Hollywood Hotel was sold before the TH Lessee was able
to recover its expected short-term losses on the hotel, we would reimburse the IH Lessee a lease termination fee
equal to its accumulated losses, up to a maximum of $225,000. The West Hollywood hotel was sold on July 24,
2002 and we paid the [H Lessee a termination fee of $62,000. The parties agreed that such payment would satisfy
our obligation under the Percentage Lease to compensate the IH Lessee for the termination of the lease.




The Company shares office space with the IH Lessee, for which it reimburses the IH Lessee. In addition,
the Company and the IH Lessee share the services of certain employees performing certain corporate staff,
administrative and similar functions, for which cost allocations are made. The Company paid the IH Lessee
$100,000 in 2002 for the net amount of these allocations.

In May 2000, the former Chief Operating Officer of the Company (who is a minority shareholder of certain
of the TH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company, the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. Because the parties named
in the suit may have competing interests, conflicts of interest may exist regarding litigation tactics and settlement.
The suit alleges that he was wrongfully terminated by the Company under his employment contract with the
Company, was wrongfully terminated by the IH Lessee under his employment contract with the IH Lessee, was
injured by various breaches of fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director and majority shareholder of
the IH Lessee, and various other related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. In December 2002, the
defendants entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff that is contingent upon the closing of a TRS
Transaction. Please see “~ Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — The IH Lessee” above. In
exchange for a complete release of all claims and in settlement of the litigation, (a) the Company agreed to pay
plaintiff $1.8 million in cash and vest 116,908 unvested restricted common shares, which resulted in a non-cash
charge of $1.2 million, and (b) the IH Lessee agreed to pay the minority shareholder $5.9 million. Mr. Fisher
agreed to purchase the plaintiff’s equity interests in the IH Lessee for $1 million. The Company also agreed to
purchase the plaintiff’s 116,908 restricted shares, at his option, upon closing of a TRS Transaction at the then-
current market price. If a TRS Transaction does not close by April 30, 2003, in the absence of a further agreement
among the parties, the litigation will resume and the Company (and the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher) presently intends
to continue to aggressively defend all allegations.

Franchise Licenses; Management Agreements. The TH Lessee, which is controlled by Mr. Fisher, holds all
of the franchise licenses for the Hotels leased by the TH Lessee (to the extent such hotels have franchise
agreements). The IH Lessee pays the franchise fees for all of the Hotels leased to it that are subject to franchise fees,
except for franchise license application and transfer fees, which typically are paid by us. Since our inception in
1994, we have paid franchise license application, transfer and related fees for hotels leased to the IH Lessee in the
aggregate amount of approximately $995,000. We have also entered into agreements with franchisors under which
we have guaranteed certain obligations of the [H Lessee under franchise agreements, including obligations to pay
royalties and other fees to the franchisors, generally in exchange for the right to substitute a different lessee as the
franchisee under the relevant franchise agreement if we terminate the Percentage Lease for a franchised hotel.

The IH Lessee is also the primary contracting party under management agreements with subsidiaries of
Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott™) relating to the 17 Hotels leased to the TH Lessee and managed by Marriott
(“Marriott Management Agreements”). The right to operate those Hotels under the Residence Inn by Marriott or
TownePlace Suites by Marriott brands is generally contained in the Marriott Management Agreements, and not in
separate franchise agreements. The IH Lessee pays the management and other fees payable under the Marriott
Management Agreements. We have loaned to the TH Lessee an aggregate of approximately $860,000, which the
IH Lessee was required to make available to Marriott for initial working capital at certain Hotels managed by
Marriott. In addition, we advanced the IH Lessee a 544,400 working capital loan when it began leasing and
operating the West Hollywood Hotel in October 2001. This advance was repaid in July 2002 when the West
Hollywood Hotel was sold. These loans are unsecured, bear no interest, and are payable on demand. We generally
expect that a working capital loan for a hotel will be repaid at the termination of the related Percentage Lease.

We have executed most of the Marriott Management Agreements as a third party, pursuant to which we
have guaranteed certain of the obligations of the IH Lessee under those agreements, including obligations to pay
management fees, franchise system fees, and other fees to Marriott. As a result, we could have direct liability to
Marriott for the IH Lessee’s financial obligations under the Marriott Management Agreements if the TH Lessee
breached those agreements.

In January 2003, the Company and the IH Lessee entered into a letter of intent with Marriott for a
transaction under which the IH Lessee will convert the Marriott Management Agreements into long-term franchise
agreements. The IH Lessee will pay a royalty fee of 6! % of room revenues to Marriott for the first ten years of
each franchise agreement and a 5 % royalty thereafter. The term of the franchise agreements will be a minimum of
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15 years. Marriott will have enhanced rights to terminate after 10 years the franchise agreements for the five
“Generation 1” Residence Inn by Marriott hotels that are among the 17 hotels, and Marriott will have the right to
terminate the franchise agreement for one hotel after four years. The IH Lessee will also pay Marriott a conversion
fee each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004, equal to $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (after
rent under the Percentage Leases) in excess of a specified threshold. A portion of the conversion fee allocable to
any hotel will be waived for a year if, generally, the hotel’s room revenues for that year decline below certain levels
and certain other conditions are met. The Company will guarantee the IH Lessee’s obligations under the new
franchise agreements, including payment of the conversion fee. In connection with these conversions, the IH
Lessee and the Company will generally release Marriott from any liability accruing with respect to any Marriott-
branded hotel owned by the Company as of the conversion date. The IH Lessee expects to convert four of the 17
hotels on or about March 28, 2003 and the balance on or before June 20, 2003. The terms described above and the
conversion of the 17 hotels to management by the IH Lessee are subject to the execution of definitive
documentation by the IH Lessee, Marriott and the Company, and the satisfaction of other conditions including
obtaining lender consents.

As we have guaranteed certain obligations of the IH Lessee under franchise agreements and Marriott
Management Agreements, conflicts of interest exist between the Company and Mr. Fisher regarding the
performance of the IH Lessees under the franchise agreements or Marriott Management Agreements or other
actions or failures to act by the TH Lessee which could result in liability to us under our guarantees.

Jack P. DeBoer. In November 1996, we acquired seven Residence Inn by Marriott hotels (the “DeBoer
Hotels™) from affiliates of Jack P. DeBoer (the “DeBoer Group”), including Rolf E. Ruhfus. Messrs. DeBoer and
Ruhfus are trustees of the Company. The DeBoer Group received Class B preferred units of limited partnership
interest in the Partnership (“Class B Preferred Units”) in partial consideration for the acquisitions. Following the
acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels, Mr. DeBoer joined our Board of Trustees. Mr. DeBoer joined the Board under
an arrangement requiring the Company to nominate Mr. DeBoer for election to the Board and to support his
nomination, except if Mr. DeBoer (i) acts or fails to act in a manner that the Board deems detrimental to the
Company and as a result of which the Board determines unanimously that it cannot nominate Mr. DeBoer, (b)
ceases to own at least 25% of the Class B Preferred Units that he owned upon the closing of the acquisition of the
DeBoer Hotels acquisition or (c) is legally disqualified from serving as a trustee.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the DeBoer Group that may result from a sale
of the DeBoer Hotels, we agreed that for a period of up to ten years following the closing of the acquisition of the
DeBoer Hotels, (i) a taxable sale of a DeBoer Hotel will require the consent of the applicable members of the
DeBoer Group and (ii) we will maintain at all times outstanding indebtedness of at least approximately $40 million
(the “Required Indebtedness™). The Required Indebtedness is subject to reduction upon the occurrence of certain
events, including the death of, or certain redemptions or taxable transfers of the Class B Preferred Units held by,
members of the DeBoer Group. If we sell a DeBoer Hotel without the required consent or fail to maintain the
Required Indebtedness, we agreed to indemnify the applicable members of the DeBoer Group for certain resulting
income tax liabilities, which could be substantial. Notwithstanding these indemnification rights, and particularly
after the indemnification period ends, conflicts of interest may exist between the Company and Mr. DeBoer
regarding transactions involving the DeBoer Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the
DeBoer Group.

Mr. DeBoer and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development
of hotels, including extended-stay hotels. Mr. DeBoer is the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,
President and a significant shareholder of Candlewood Hotel Company, Inc. (“Candlewood”), a public hotel
company that is the owner, operator and franchisor of Candlewood and Cambridge Suites hotels, an economy
extended-stay hotel chain founded by Mr. DeBoer. Hotels developed by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates, including
Candlewood and Cambridge Suites hotels, may compete with our hotels for guests, and hotel companies with which
Mr. DeBoer is affiliated, including Candlewood, may compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for
qualified employees. Accordingly, the interests of the Company and Mr. DeBoer could be different in connection
with matters relating to our Hotels or proposed acquisitions that are competitive with hotels owned or being
considered for acquisition or development by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates.




Each Class B Preferred Unit held by the DeBoer Group may be redeemed for an amount of cash equal to
the then-trading value of a Common Share on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or, at our option, one
common share. Assuming full redemption of all Units held by the DeBoer Group and the issuance of common
shares in exchange for those Class B Preferred Units, the DeBoer Group would own approximately 7.6% of the
common shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 (assuming no redemptions of Units held by others).

The Company and the IH Lessee have, for the last several years, placed substantially all of their insurance
through Manning & Smith, Wichita, Kansas, a full service commercial insurance broker that has developed a
specialty in insuring hotels. The Summerfield Lessee also obtains through Manning & Smith substantially all of the
insurance coverages required to be maintained by its Percentage Leases with the Company. Manning & Smith is a
private company of which Mr. DeBoer owned 47% of the stock. Mr. DeBoer informed the Company that as of the
time that the Company (and the [H Lessee) renewed most of its insurance coverages, in November 2002, he had
disposed of his interest in Manning & Smith. Mr. DeBoer has informed us that he was not an officer of Manning &
Smith and did not participate in its management or the setting of its corporate policies. Under the Percentage
Leases with the IH Lessee, certain insurance coverages are required to be paid for by the Company (generally,
property coverages for casualties such as fire, earthquake, etc.) and other customary coverages are required to be
paid for by the IH Lessee (generally, liability coverages such as general liability and crime). Both parties are,
generally, named as the insured or as an additional named insured on these policies. In addition, each party pays for
worker’s compensation, employment practices liability and, in the Company’s case, trustees’ and officers’
insurance. The Company and the IH Lessee have historically purchased many of these coverages under blanket
policies and allocated costs between them as required by the Percentage Leases or, if not addressed by the
Percentage Leases, as otherwise agreed between them.

The gross amount of the premiums paid for the twelve months ending October 31, 2002 for coverages
placed by Manning & Smith was approximately $2,201,000 for the Company and approximately $1,200,000 for the
IH Lessee. Most of our coverages renewed on November I, 2002. Due primarily to (a) the effects on the insurance
markets of the September 11, 2001 attacks, (b) the significant number of relatively older wood-frame, non-
sprinklered hotels owned by us, (c) the loss history of our insurers on the Company’s and/or the TH Lessee’s written
premiums and (d) insurance companies’ losses in the investment markets, the Company and the IH Lessee’s
premiums increased by an average of approximately 26% for the policy year ending October 31, 2003 over the 2002
policy year. In addition, the Company will be subject to higher deductibles and more coverage exclusions than in
the past and, in some cases, such as for umbrella liability and California earthquake coverage, lower limits of
coverage. Each year, the Company and the IH Lessee seck to confirm, by obtaining alternate bids and/or
independent advice, that their coverages are sufficient and that the premiums are generally consistent with
premiums charged to similarly situated companies. However, there are no assurances that the Company and the IH
Lessees are not paying more in premiums than if they placed their coverages through one or more brokers other than
Manning & Smith. See also “— Investment Risks in the Real Estate Industry Generally may Adversely Affect our
Ability to Make Distributions to our Shareholders — Uninsured and Underinsured losses” below.

Rolf E. Ruhfus. In June 1997, we acquired the Summerfield Hotels from affiliates of Rolf E. Ruhfus (the
“Summerfield Group™). The Summerfield Group received common units of limited partnership interest in the
Partnership (“Common Units”) in partial consideration for the acquisitions. Following the acquisition of the
Summerfield Hotels, Mr. Ruhfus joined our Board of Trustees. Mr. Ruhfus joined the Board under an arrangement
requiring us to neminate- Mr. Ruhfus for election to the Board and to suppert his nomination, except if Mr. Ruhfus
(i) acts or fails to act in a manner that the Board deems detrimental to us and as a result of which the Board
determines unanimously that it cannot nominate Mr. Ruhfus, (b) ceases to own at least 25% of the Common Units
that he owned upon the closing of the Summerfield Hotel acquisition or (c) is legally disqualified from serving as a
trustee.

Mr. Ruhfus is a director of Wyndham International, Inc. In October 2001, we terminated the Summerfield
Lessee’s lease of one of the Summerfield Hotels, and leased that hotel to the IH Lessee pending the sale of that hotel
in July 2002. We lease the six remaining Summerfield Hotels to the Summerfield Lessee. Mr. Rufhus serves on the
Board of Directors of Wyndham International, Inc., the parent of the Summerfield Lessee and the manager and
franchiser of the Summerfield Hotels. Pursuant to the terms of the Percentage Leases, the Summerfield Lessee is
required to pay the greater of (a) a fixed base rent or (b) percentage rent based on the revenues of the hotels, and
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certain other additional charges, and is entitled to all profits from the operation of the hotels after the payment of
rent, operating expenses and other expenses (including insurance). For the year ended December 31, 2002, the
Summerfield Lessee incurred or paid us an aggregate of approximately $9.3 million in lease payments under the
Percentage Leases for the Summerfield Hotels. Conflicts of interest may exist between the Company and Mr.
Rufhus regarding enforcement of the terms of those Percentage Leases.

In October 2001, we paid the Summerfield Lessee $160,000 to terminate its Percentage Lease on the West
Hollywood Hotel. We had been engaged in discussions with the Summertield Lessee regarding the performance of
the hotel, various performance tests under the hotel’s Percentage Lease and the parties’ respective rights and
obligations under the Percentage Lease and related agreements. Ultimately, we decided to pay a relatively small
amount of money to terminate the Summerfield Lessee’s right to operate the West Hollywood Hotel, which
coincided with our decision to market the hotel for sale. We believe that the Summerfield Lessee failed certain
performance tests at one or more of the Summerfield Hotels in 2002, which would give rise to certain rights under
the Percentage Leases for the effected Summerfield Hotels, possibly including the right to terminate those
Percentage Leases. We are in discussions with the Summerfield Lessee regarding our rights under the Percentage
Leases and a possible resolution of these matters.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the Summerfield Group that may result from
a sale of the Summerfield Hotels, we agreed that for a period of up to seven years following the closing of the
acquisition of the Summerfield Hotels, any taxable sale of a Summerfield Hotel will require the consent of the
applicable members of the Summerfield Group. If we sell a Summerfield Hotel without the required consént, we
agreed to indemnify the applicable members of the Summerfield Group for certain resulting income tax liabilities,
which could be substantial. Notwithstanding this indemnification, and particularly after the indemnification period
ends, conflicts of interest may exist between the Company and Mr. Ruhfus regarding transactions involving the
Summerfield Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the Summerfield Group. In 2001,
we classified the West Hollywood Hotel as “held for sale,” and made a special tax election to recognize a gain. As
a result of this election, we triggered a tax liability to members of the Summerfield Group, and paid them $169,000
in January 2002 in satisfaction of our indemnification obligations.

Mr. Ruhfus and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of
hotels, including extended-stay hotels. As noted above, Mr. Ruhfus is a Board member of Wyndham International,
Inc. Wyndham owns, operates and franchises Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotels as well as other full and
limited service hotels and hotel brands. An entity controlled by Mr. Ruhfus also owns the Sierra Suites brand,
which is a mid-priced extended-stay hotel brand founded by Mr. Ruhfus. Affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus own and operate
several Sierra Suites hotels and Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotels. Hotels developed by Mr. Ruhfus and/or
Wyndham, including Summerfield Suites by Wyndham hotels, may compete with our hotels for guests and
companies with which Mr. Ruhfus is affiliated may compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified
employees. Accordingly, the interests of the Company and Mr. Ruhfus could be different in connection with
matters relating to the Company’s Hotels or proposed acquisitions that are competitive with hotels owned or being
considered for acquisition or development by Wyndham.

Wyndham has guaranteed the obligations of the Summerfield Lessee, and has posted $4,759,220 in letters
of credit as security for its obligations under the Percentage Leases for the six Summerfield Hotels leased to the
Summerfield Lessee (“Summerfield Leases™). In 2002, Wyndham reported a net loss of approximately $500
million.

Mr. Ruhfus’ roles as trustee of the Company and director of Wyndham may pose conflicts regarding when,
whether and to what extent (a) obligations under the Summerfield Leases and related guarantees are adhered to
and/or (b) remedies are pursued and obtained by the Company under the Summerfield Leases, including draws
under the letter of credit.




If We Complete a Transaction Under The REIT Modernization Act. We Will Have More Exposure to Hotel
Operations.

As noted under “~ Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — the [H Lessee” above, under the
RMA, we can own TRS to which we can lease hotels if they are operated by third parties. This would permit us to
retain more control over a hotel than is afforded by our current lease structure. Nonetheless, our ability to mandate
changes in operations by our operators will still be more limited than if we operated the hotels directly. Under
applicable tax law, the rent payable to us under our Percentage Leases must be based on revenue (and not income)
of the hotels. This structure limits our ability align our Lessees’ financial interests with our interests. TRS must
retain third parties to manage the hotels that it leases. In the case of many of the hotels currently leased to the IH
Lessee, Mr. Fisher would likely control that manager.

TRS would also capture any after-tax net income (after the payment of management fees) currently being
retained by the IH Lessee. In the future, if hotels that are currently leased to the ITH Lessee are instead leased to
TRS, we would be subject to all of the operating risks of those hotels, whereas under our current structure the IH
Lessee retains most of the risks of the operations of those hotels. We also would be exposed to the operating risks
of any newly acquired or developed hotels if we leased those hotels to TRS. If the operating results of hotels. leased
to a TRS declined or, with respect to newly acquired or developed hotels, did not perform to-expectations, it would
negatively affect our results, cash flow and ability to pay distributions. These operating risks include declines in
hotel revenues and increases in hotel operating expenses (including franchise fees, labor costs, taxes and insurance).
In addition, TRS will be required to pay a management fee to the manager, regardless of whether the hotels are
profitable. See “— Our Ability to Make Distributions to Shareholders May be Affected by Factors Beyond our
Control” below.

We are also considering whether and to what extent we may take advantage of the RMA with respect to
our hotels that are leased to the Summerfield Lessee.

Any consideration paid to terminate an existing lease would be an expense in the then-current period for
financial reporting purposes, and such payments could be material.

If we Cannot Obtain Additional Financing, our Growth will be Limited.

We are required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year in order to
continue to qualify as a REIT. As a result, after our capital expenditures our retained earnings available to fund
acquisitions or development are nominal. We will rely primarily upon the availability of debt or equity capital to
fund these activities. Our ability to grow through acquisitions or development of hotels will be limited if we can’t
continue to obtain additional financing. Our Declaration of Trust limits our outstanding indebtedness to 50% of
our investment in hotel properties at cost, and our loan agreements are more restrictive. Market conditions may
make it difficult to obtain financing and we can’t assure you that we will be able to obtain additional debt or equity
financing or that we will be able to obtain it on favorable terms.

We are Subject to Various Risks Related to our Use of, and Dependence on, Debt.

The amount we have to pay on variable rate debt, such as our $135 million uncollateralized line of credit,
increases as interest rates increase, which may decrease cash available for distribution to shareholders. We cannot
assure you that the Company will be able to meet its debt service obligations. If we do not meet our debt service
obligations, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure. Changes in economic conditions and/or our
financial results or prospects could () result in higher interest rates on variable rate debt, (b) reduce the availability
of debt financing generally or debt financing at favorable rates, (c) reduce cash available for distribution to
shareholders and (d) increase the risk that we could be forced to liquidate assets to repay debt, any of which could
have a material adverse affect us.

In January 2003, we obtained an extension of the Line of Credit amendment obtained in the first quarter of
2002, which is effective until December 31, 2003. If the operating environment in 2003 worsens substantially from
our current expectations and we violate the amended covenants, we may have to locate replacement financing for



borrowings that may then be outstanding under the Line of Credit, reduce distributions to our shareholders and/or
significantly reduce our planned capital expenditures. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we were in compliance
with the financial covenants contained in its loan agreements (including the Line of Credit, as amended).

If we violate covenants in our debt agreements, including under our $135 million line of credit, we could
be required to repay all or a portion of our indebtedness before maturity at a time when we might be unable to
arrange financing for such repayment on attractive terms, if at all.  Violations of certain line of credit covenants
may result in our being unable to borrow unused amounts under our line of credit, even if repayment of some or all
borrowings is not required.

In any event, financial covenants under our current or future debt obligations could impair our planned
business strategies, by limiting our ability to borrow (a) beyond certain amounts or (b) for certain purposes.

Qur Ability to Maintain our Historic Rate of Distributions to our Shareholders is Subject to Fluctuations in
our Financial Performance, Operating Results and Capital Improvements Requirements.

As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income each year to our shareholders.
In the event of continued or future downturns in our operating results and financial performance or unanticipated
capital improvements to our hotels, we may be unable to declare or pay distributions to our shareholders at
historical rates. (See “Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters” in the first
part of this report.) The timing and amount of distributions are in the sole discretion of our Board of Trustees,
which will consider, among other factors, our financial performance, debt service obligations and applicable debt
covenants (if any), and capital expenditure requirements. We cannot assure you either that we will continue to
generate sufficient cash in order to fund distributions at the same rate as our historic rate, or that our Board of
Trustees will continue to maintain our distribution rate at the same levels as we have in the past.

Among the factors which could adversely affect our results of operations and decrease our distributions to
shareholders are reduced rents from our lessees under the Percentage Leases; increased debt service requirements,
including those resulting from higher interest rates on variable rate indebtedness; and capital expenditures at our
hotels, including capital expenditures required by the franchisors of our hotels. Among the factors which could
reduce the rents of our lessees under the Percentage Leases are decreases in hotel revenues. Hotel revenue can
decrease for a number of reasons, including increased competition from new hotels and decreased demand for hotel
rooms. These factors can reduce both occupancy and room rates at our hotels and reduce rents to be received by us
under the Percentage Leases from our lessees. See also “— Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions —
The IH Lessee” above.

Qur Ability to Make Distributions to Shareholders mayv be Affected by Factors Bevond our Control.

Operating Risks.

Our hotels are subject to various operating risks common to the hotel industry, many of which are beyond
our control, including the following:

e our hotels compete with other hotel properties in their geographic markets and many of our competitors have
substantial marketing and financial resources;

e over-building in our markets, which adversely affects occupancy and revenues at our hotels;

¢ dependence on business and commercial travelers and tourism; and

e adverse effects of general, regional and local economic conditions and increases in energy costs (e.g. recent
electricity cost increases in California and the Pacific Northwest) or labor costs and other expenses affecting

travel, which may affect travel patterns and reduce the number of business and commercial travelers and
tourists.
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These factors could adversely affect our lessees’ hotel revenues and expenses and their ability to make
lease payments, which in turn would adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

Concentration of Investment in California, Pacific Northwest, Florida, [llinois, Texas and Michigan.

Ten of our hotels are located in California, eight of which are in the greater San Francisco/San Jose area.
In addition, six of our hotels are located in the Pacific Northwest (six in the Seattle, WA / Portland, OR area), five
of our hotels are located in each of Florida and Michigan and four of our hotels are located in each of the Chicago,
Illinois and Dallas, Texas areas. Adverse events, such as economic recessions or natural disasters, including
earthquakes, hurricanes or high-wind, could cause a loss of revenues from these hotels, which may be greater as a
result of our concentration of assets in these areas. We may not carry insurance coverage for these losses, or the
insurance may be insufficient to replace our investment or otherwise restore our econormic position with respect to a
hotel. That could result in less cash available for distribution to shareholders.

In 2001, the technology-related business sector suffered a substantial downturn, including many
bankruptcies and layoffs, which dramatically reduced business travel. The technology sector is largely concentrated
in California, and in particular Silicon Valley where eight of our California hotels are located. The technology
sector downturn more severely reduced related business travel than the business travel reduction resulting from the
downturn in the economy in general. As a result, in 2002, Percentage Lease revenue from our eight Silicon Valley,
California hotels was 49% lower than in 2000, and also decreased as a percentage of overall Percentage Lease
revenue from 28% in 2000 to 20% in 2002. Our concentration in California made the negative effects of the
economic recession on our business more pronounced as compared to some hotel companies with less concentration
in California. Due to the severity of the downturn and questions about the viability and ability to obtain financing
of substantial parts of the technology sector, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent this sector will
rebound as compared to the economy in general. We believe, though, that the recovery in this sector is likely to lag
a recovery in the general economy, and there is no assurance that our hotels will succeed in finding hotel business to
wholly replace the business lost from the technology sector (and related businesses).

Capital Expenditures.

Our hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements, including replacements,
from time to time, of furniture, fixtures and equipment. The franchisors of our hotels may also require periodic
capital improvements as a condition of keeping the franchise licenses. Generally, we are responsible for the costs of
these capital improvements, which gives rise to the following risks:

e cost overruns and delays;

e renovations can be disruptive to operations and can displace revenue at the hotels, including revenue lost while
rooms under renovation are out of service;

» the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovations may not be available on
attractive terms; and

o the risk that the return on our investment in these capital improvements will not be what we expect.

We have in the past funded capital expenditures from cash flow from operations and, to a lesser degree, by
borrowing. There can be no assurance that we will not need to borrow to fund future capital improvements. See “
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Capital Expenditures” in the first part of this report.

We anticipate engaging an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett”) to perform certain renovation
projects in 2003. We anticipate that we will enter into renovation contracts with the Hatchett affiliate totaling
approximately $2 to $3 million in 2003. The affiliate of Hatchett is approximately 45% owned by Equity Inns, Inc.
(“Equity™). An affiliate of the IH Lessee is negotiating to manage a hotel owned by Equity commencing in 2003.
The IH Lessee expects this contract to assist its affiliate in qualifying as an EIC under the RMA, which would
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facilitate a TRS Transaction. See “— Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — The TH Lessee™ above.
We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to confirm that the pricing, quality and service that the Hatchett
affiliate provides is substantially comparable to that which is generally available in the marketplace for products and
services that we will acquire from or through the Hatchett affiliate.

Competition for Guests.

The upscale extended-stay and mid-price segments of the hotel business are highly competitive. Our hotels
compete on the basis of location, room rates and quality, service levels, reputation, and reservation systems, among
many other factors. There are many competitors in our market segments, and many of them have substantially
greater marketing and financial resources than our operators or us. New hotels are always being constructed and
opening, and these additions to supply create new competitors, in some cases without corresponding increases in
demand for hotel rooms. The result in some cases may be lower revenue, which would result in lower cash
available for distribution to shareholders.

Competition for Acquisitions: Sales.

We compete for hotel acquisitions with entities that have similar investment objectives as we do and that
have substantially greater financial resources than we have. These entities generally may be able to accept higher
levels of debt, or otherwise may tolerate more risk than we have determined is prudent for our Company. They may
also have better relations with franchisors, sellers or lenders. This competition could limit the number of suitable
investment opportunities offered to us. It may also increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell
to us, making it more difficult for us to acquire new properties on attractive terms.

We may decide to sell hotels, for a variety of reasons. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sell

_any hotels. on favorable terms, or that hotels will not be sold for a loss. See also, “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Innkeepers USA Trust — Critical Accounting Policies —
Long-Lived Assets” in the first part of this report. '

Seasonality of Hotel Business.

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Generally, occupancy rates and hotel revenues are greater in the
second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters. This seasonality can cause quarterly fluctuations in
our revenues.

Investment Concentration in Particular Segments of Single Industry.

Our entire business is hotel-related. Our current investment strategy is to own primarily upscale extended
stay hotels, with a specific focus on Residence Inn by Marriott hotels, and limited service hotels, primarily Hampton
Inn hotels. Adverse conditions in the hotel industry, in our segments of the industry or in the Residence Inn by
Marriott or Hampton Inn brands, will have a material adverse effect on our lease revenues and cash available for
distribution to our shareholders.

Our Development Activities may be More Costly Than we Have Anticipated.

As part of our growth strategy, we plan to develop additional hotels. Development involves many substantial risks,
which include the following:

actual development costs may exceed our budgeted or contracted amounts;
e construction delays may prevent us from opening hotels on schedule;

e we may not be able to obtain all necessary zoning, land use, building, occupancy and construction permits;

our developed properties may not achieve our desired revenue or profit goals;
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» we face intense competition for suitable development sites from competitors with greater financial resources
than ours; and

e we may incur substantial development costs and then have to abandon a development project before
completion.

Investment Risks in the Real Estate Industry Generally may Adversely Affect our Ability to Make
Distributions to our Shareholders.

General Risks of Investing in Real Estate.

Our investments in hotels are subject to varying degrees of risk that generally arise from the ownership of
real property. The underlying value of our real estate investments and our income and ability to make distributions
to our shareholders depend upon the ability of the operators of our hotels to maintain or increase room revenues.
Both income from our hotels and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by changes beyond our
control, including the following:

e adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;

e changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage financing;

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs of
compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

¢ the ongoing need for capital improvements, particularly in older structures;
¢ changes in real property tax rates and other operating expenses;

e civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters (which may result in
uninsured losses) and acts of war and terrorism;

e the relative illiquidity of real estate investments (see also “— Conflicts of Interest and Related Party
Transactions ~ Jeffrey H. Fisher,” “— Jack P. DeBoer” and “- Rolf E. Ruhfus" above); and

e other circumstances beyond our control.

Uninsured and Underinsured Losses.

The Company and the Lessees have obtained property, casualty and other insurance with loss limits and
coverages deemed reasonable by management (and with the intent to satisfy the requirements of lenders and
franchisors). In doing so, the Company and the Lessees have made decisions with respect to what deductibles,
policy limits and terms are reasonable based on management’s experience, the risk profile and loss history of the
Company and the Hotels, the nature of the Company’s Hotels and businesses, the Company’s and TH Lessee’s loss
prevention efforts and the cost of insurance.

All 10 of our hotels in California (and certain of our other hotels, such as our five hotels in the Pacific
Northwest) are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. These hotels are located in areas of high
seismic risk and some were constructed under pre-1985 building codes. No assurance can be given that an
earthquake would not render significant damage to the hotels that have been constructed in compliance with more
recent building codes, or are in areas of lower seismic risk. Additionally, areas in Florida where five of our hotels
are located may experience hurricane or high-wind activity. The Company has earthquake insurance on our hotels
in California and wind insurance on certain of our hotels located in Florida. However, recovery under these policies
is subject to substantial deductibles, and there is no assurance that this insurance will fully fund the re-building or
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restoration of a hotel impacted by an earthquake, hurricane or high wind. We have no coverage from damage from
earthquakes, floods or high wind caused by terrorist attack.

Thirty-nine (39) of our Hotels are classified by insurers as “fire resistant” (generally, those Hotels with
masonry construction and/or fire sprinkler protection systems). The insurance policies covering (1) the property
insurance for those 39 Hotels, (2) the general liability insurance for all of our Hotels and (3) the umbrella liability
insurance for all of our Hotels includes certain coverage for losses caused by certain terrorist acts. Under those
policies, full coverage is available to us for damages caused by a covered terrorist act if the total damages caused by
the act, worldwide (i.e., for our losses and all other losses), are less than $25 million. If the total damage is more
than $25 million, our property loss coverage is limited to $5 million per covered Hotel, subject to the full policy
limit. The insurance policy covering property loss at our other 22 Hotels excludes damages caused by terrorist acts
entirely. The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (“Insurance Act”), which became effective in November 2002,
requires property and casualty insurers to offer terrorism insurance, for which they can charge additional premiums,
and provides federal funds to help insurers pay claims from terror attacks. Terror coverage terms offered under a
property or casualty policy cannot be materially less favorable, and are not required to be more favorable, than the
terms applicable to other risks insured by the policy. Pursuant to the Insurance Act, the Company’s and the IH
Lessee’s property and casualty insurers offered terror coverage to us. The Company has accepted such coverages.
Based on information provided by our insurance agent, we understand that coverage offered pursuant to the
Insurance Act applies, generally, to acts of terrorism on U.S. soil by foreign agents resulting in a total of more than
$5 million of property and casualty insurance losses. Therefore, our understanding of the coverages offered
pursuant to the Insurance Act is that they exclude losses from terrorist acts on U.S. soil by foreign agents that result
in a total of less than $5 million of losses. Also, our understanding is that all terror coverage, whether included in
the primary insurance policies or in the coverages offered under the Insurance Act, exclude coverage for losses
from, among other things, acts of terrorism by U.S. based groups or individuals, nuclear devices and acts of war.

Various types of catastrophic losses may not be insurable or may not be economically insurable. In the
event of a substantial loss, our insurance coverage may not cover the full current market value or replacement cost
of our lost investment. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other
factors might cause insurance proceeds to be insufficient to fully replace or renovate a hotel after it has been
damaged or destroyed.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance (1) that the insurance coverages that we and/or the Lessees have
obtained will fully protect us (or the Lessees) against insurable losses (i.e., losses may exceed coverage limits); (2)
that we (or the Lessees) will not incur large deductibles that will adversely effect our earnings; (3) that we (or the
Lessees) will not incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable; or (4) that
current coverages will continue to be available at reasonable rates. As a result, one or more large uninsured or
underinsured losses could have a material adverse affect on us (or the Lessees).

Our lenders require us to maintain certain insurance coverages. We believe that we have complied with the
insurance maintenance requirements under the governing loan documents. However, a lender may disagree, in
which case the lender could obtain additional coverages and, therefore, seek payment from us, or declare us in
default under the loan documents. In the former case, we could spend more for insurance than we otherwise deem
reasonable or necessary, or, in the latter case, subject us to a foreclosure on Hotels collateralizing one or more loans.
In addition, a material casualty to one or more Hotels collateralizing loans may result in (a) the insurance company
applying to the outstanding loan balance insurance proceeds that otherwise would be available to repair the damage
caused by the casualty, which would require us to fund the repairs through other sources, or (b) the lender
foreclosing on the Hotels if there is a material loss that is not insured.

For further information about our insurance coverages and related matters, please see Note 9 to our

financial statements beginning on page F-1 above, and “Risk Factors — Conflicts of Interest and Related Party
Transactions — Jack P. DeBoer” above,
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Failure to Comply With Governmental Regulations Could Affect our Operating Results.

Environmental Matters.

Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, an owner or operator of real estate may be
liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on such property. The law
often imposes liability whether or not the owner knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of hazardous
substances. Furthermore, a person that arranges for the disposal or transports for disposal or treatment of a
hazardous substance at a property owned by another may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of
hazardous substances released into the environment at that property. The costs of remediation or removal of such
substances may be very substantial, and the presence of such substances, or the failure to promptly remediate such
substances, may adversely affect the owner’s ability to sell real estate or to borrow using such real estate as
collateral. We may be potentially liable for the costs discussed above, and these costs could be material and could
affect the funds available for distribution to our shareholders.

Furthermore, various court decisions have established that third parties may recover damages for injury
caused by release of hazardous substances and for property contamination. For instance, a person exposed to
asbestos while staying in a hotel may seek to recover damages if her or she suffers injury from the asbestos. Lastly,
some of these environmental issues restrict the use of a property or place conditions on various activities. One
example is laws that require a business using chemicals to manage them carefully and to notify local officials if
regulated spills occurs.

We generally obtain Phase I environmental site assessments (“ESAs™) on our hotels at the time of
acquisition. The ESAs are intended to identify potential environmental contamination. The ESAs include a
historical review of the hotel, a review of certain public records, a preliminary investigation of the site and
surrounding properties, screening for the presence of hazardous substances and underground storage tanks, and the
preparation and issuance of a written report. The ESAs that we have obtained did not include invasive procedures,
such as soil sampling or ground water analysis.

The ESAs that we have obtained did not reveal any environmental liability or compliance concerns that we
believe would have a material adverse effect on our business, assets, results of operations or liquidity, nor are we
aware of any such liability. Nevertheless, it is possible that these ESAs do not reveal all environmental liabilities or
that there are material environmental liabilities or compliance concerns that we are not aware of. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that (1) future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liability, or
(ii) the current environmental condition of a hotel will not be affected by the condition of properties in the vicinity
of the hotels (such as the presence of leaking underground storage tanks) or by third parties unrelated to us.

Recent news accounts suggest that there is an increasing amount of litigation over claims that mold (or
another airborne contaminant) has damaged buildings or caused poor health. We have, infrequently, discovered
mold-related damage in a limited number of our hotels. In each case, we believe that we traced the source to one or
more water intrusions (e.g., roof leak, plugged air conditioner condensation lines, etc.). We corrected those issues
and removed or otherwise remediated any elements of the buildings or their contents affected by mold, moisture,
etc. The costs to repair or replace affected elements of the buildings and their contents have not been material, we
are aware of no mold-related litigation that is pending or threatened against us, and we do not believe that mold is,
or will in the future be, an issue of material consequence to us. We believe that we and the Lessees have
satisfactory procedures for early identification of moisture intrusion and other mold-inducing conditions at our
properties. However, mold (and certain other airborne contaminants) occurs naturally and is present in some
quantity in virtually every structure, so we cannot assure you that it is not present, or will not in the future be
present, in our hotels, and it is unclear whether potential plaintiffs will successfully establish that mold (or another
airborne contaminant) causes or exacerbates certain health conditions. If any such potential plaintiffs (who could
include hotel guests and employees) are successful, and mold (or another airborne contaminant) does occur in our
hotels, we could incur liability for the defense or disposition of such suits. The Company generally has no
insurance coverage for the cost of repairing or replacing elements of a building or its contents that are affected by
mold (or other environmental conditions), or for defending or disposing of such suits.



Americans With Disabilities Act.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the “ADA,” all public accommodations must meet
various federal requirements to access and use by disabled persons. Compliance with the ADA’s requirements
could require removal of access barriers, and our failure to comply could result in the U.S. government imposing
fines or in private litigants winning damages. If we are required to make substantial modifications to our hotels,
whether to comply with the ADA or other changes in governmental rules and regulations, our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

Fluctuations in Property Taxes and Insurance Costs can Adversely Affect our Distributions to our
Shareholders.

Each of our hotels is subject to real and personal property taxes. These taxes on our hotel properties may
increase or decrease as tax rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. If
property taxes increase, our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

We carry insurance on all of our hotels and our business. The costs of property and casualty insurance
carried by the Company and/or the IH Lessee rose approximately 26% for the 2003 insurance year (ending
generally, October 31) as compared to the 2002 insurance year. These increases were due primarily to the
disruption in the insurance and stock markets caused by the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks and the current
economic recession, to significant payouts that our insurers have made or may have to make in the future on certain
covered claims by or against us, and to the location (i.e., California) and physical characteristics (i.e., non-
sprinklered) of a number of our hotels. These factors, as well as any future covered losses or other casualties, may
result in (a) our insurance costs continuing to rise, (b) our inability to obtain (or economically obtain) important
insurance coverages and/or (c) an increased risk of exposure to casualties if our insurance deductibles are
substantially increased or the limits of our insurance coverages are substantially reduced. While in absolute dollars
property tax is a much larger expense than insurance for us, our ability to make distributions could be adversely
affected if insurance costs continue to increase. Please see Note 9 to the Company’s financial statements beginning
on page F-1 and “~ Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — Jack P. DeBoer” and “— Investment Risks
in the Real Estate Industry Generally may Adversely Affect our Ability to Make Distributions to our Shareholders —
Uninsured and Underinsured Losses” above.

Franchise Requirements Could Adversely Affect our Distributions to our Shareholders.

Our managers must comply with operating standards and terms and conditions imposed by the franchisors
of the hotel brands under which our hotels operate. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to
confirm adherence to their operating standards. The failure of a hotel to maintain standards could result in the loss
or cancellation of a franchise license. With respect to operational standards, we rely on our operators to conform to
such standards. The franchisors may also require us to make certain capital improvements to maintain the hotel in
accordance with system standards, the cost of which can be substantial. It is possible that a franchisor could
condition the continuation of a franchise on the completion of capital improvements which management or the
Board of Trustees determines are too expensive or otherwise not economically feasible in light of general economic
conditions or the operating results or prospects of the affected hotel. In that event, management or the Board of
Trustees may elect to allow the franchise to lapse or be terminated. The IH Lessee is obligated to fund any
operating loss at the 17 hotels subject to Marriott Management Agreements. Operating losses could result from a
number of factors, including increased expenses resulting from changes in Marriott’s system standards. The TH
Lessee has limited assets from which to fund operating losses. If the IH Lessee fails or is unable to fund such
operating losses, Marriott may have the right to terminate the related Marriott Management Agreement and with it
the affected hotel’s right to operate under a Marriott brand. In addition, when the term of a franchise expires, the
franchisor has no obligation to issue a new franchise. The loss of a franchise could have a material adverse effect
on the operations or the underlying value of the affected hotel because of the loss of associated name recognition,
marketing support and centralized reservation systems provided by the franchisor. The loss of a franchise could
also have a material adverse effect on cash available for distribution to shareholders.




The Ability of our Board of Trustees to Change our Major Policies at any Time may not be in Your Interest.

Our Board of Trustees determines many of our major corporate policies, including our acquisitions,
growth, operations and distribution policies. The Board of Trustees may amend or revise these and other policies at
any time without the vote or consent of our shareholders.

Provisions of our Declaration of Trust and Marvland Law may Limit the Ability of a Third Party to Acquire
Control of our Company.

Ownership Limitation.

Our Declaration of Trust provides that no person may directly or indirectly own more than 9.8% of our
common shares and preferred shares. This may prevent an acquisition of control of our company by a third party
without our Board of Trustees’ approval, even if shareholders believe the change of control is in their best interest.

Staggered Board of Trustees.

Under our Declaration of Trust, our Board of Trustees has three classes of Trustees. Trustees for each
class are elected for staggered three-year terms. The staggered terms of our Trustees may restrict the ability to
change control of our company, even if shareholders believe a change of control is in their best interest. The
staggered terms for our Trustees may also discourage offers or other bids being made for our shares at a premium
over the market price.

Authority to Issue Preferred Stock.

QOur Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board of Trustees to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock and to establish the preferences and rights of any shares issued. We issued 4,630,000 Series A Preferred
Shares in 1998. The issuance of shares of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in
control of our company, even if sharcholders believe that a change of control is in their best interest.

Marvland Anti-Takeover Statutes.

We are subject to various provisions of Maryland law placing restrictions and requiring compliance with
various procedures designed to protect the shareholders of Maryland REITs against unfair or coercive mergers and
acquisitions. These restrictions and procedural requirements may discourage takeover offers for, or changes in
control of our company, even if shareholders believe that such events may be in their interest.

Our Failure to Qualify as a REIT Under the Federal Tax Laws will Result in Adverse Tax Consequences.

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code™). If we qualify as a REIT, with certain exceptions, we will not be subject to federal
income tax at the Company level on our taxable income that is distributed to shareholders. A REIT is subject to a
number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distribute at least
90% of its annual taxable income. Failure to qualify as a REIT will render the Company subject to federal income
tax (including any applicable minimum tax) on its taxable income at regular corporate rates and distributions to the
holders of common shares in any such year will not be deductible by the Company. If the Internal Revenue Service
- were to challenge successfully the tax status of the Partnership as a partmership for federal income tax purposes, the
Partnership would be taxable as a corporation. In that event, the Company would likely cease to qualify as a REIT
for a variety of reasons. Although the Company does not intend to request a ruling from the Internal Revenue
Service as to its REIT status, the Company has, in the past, obtained the opinion of its legal counsel that, as of the
date of the opinion, the Company qualifies as a REIT. These opinions were based on certain assumptions and
representations and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or any court. Even if we qualify for taxation as
a REIT, we are subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our income and property.
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QOur Share Ownership Limitation mav Prevent Certain Transfers of our Common Shares,

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares of
beneficial interest may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to
include certain entities). Furthermore, if any shareholder or group of shareholders of one of the lessees of our hotels
owns, actually or constructively, 10% or more of our shares of beneficial interest, the lessee could become a
related-party tenant of the Company, which likely would result in loss of our REIT status (a “taxable REIT
subsidiary” is exempt from this rule). Our Declaration of Trust prohibits direct or indirect ownership (taking into
account applicable ownership provisions of the Code) of more than 9.8% of the outstanding common shares or any
other class of outstanding shares of beneficial interest by any shareholder or group (the “Ownership Limitation™).
Generally, the shares of beneficial interest owned by related or affiliated owners will be aggregated for purposes of
the Ownership Limitation. Any transfer of shares of beneficial interest that would prevent us from continuing to
qualify as a REIT under the Code will be void ab initio, the intended transferee of such shares will be deemed never
to have had an interest in such shares, and such shares will be designated “Shares-in-Trust.” Further, we will be
deemed to have been offered Shares-in-Trust for purchase at the lesser of the market price (as defined in the
Declaration of Trust) on the date we accept the offer and the price per share in the transaction that created such
Shares-in-Trust (or, in the case of a gift, devise or non-transfer event [as defined in the Declaration of Trust], the
market price on the date of such gift, devise or non-transfer event). Therefore, the record holder of shares of
beneficial interest in excess of the Ownership Limitation will experience a financial loss when such shares are
redeemed, if the market price falls between the date of purchase and the date of redemption.

We have, in limited instances from time to time, permitted certain owners to own shares in excess of the
Ownership Limitation. The Board of Trustees has waived the Ownership Limitation for such owners after
following procedures set out in the Company’s Declaration of Trust, under which the owners requesting the waivers
provided certain information and the Company’s counsel provided certain legal opinions. These waivers
established levels of permissible share ownership for the owners requesting the waivers that are higher than the
Ownership Limitation - if the owners acquire shares in excess of the higher limits, those shares are subject to the
risks described above in the absence of further waivers. The Board of Trustees is not obligated to grant such
waivers and has no current intention to do so with respect to any owners who (individually or aggregated as the
Declaration of Trust requires) do not currently own shares in excess of the Ownership Limitation.
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3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2
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10.4
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10.6(a)

10.6(b)

10.6(c)

10.6(d)

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10(a)

Description of Exhibits

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Bylaws of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Common Share Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1-A to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Form of Percentage Lease (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Right of First Refusal and Option to Purchase (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust 1994 Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Innkeepers USA Trust Non-Employee Trustees’ Share Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 13, 1997).

Employment Agreement of Jeffrey H. Fisher (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(a) to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Employment Agreement of David Bulger (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(b) to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Employment Agreement of Gregory M. Fay (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(c) to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Employment Agreement of Mark A. Murphy (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(d) to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

Form of Exclusive Hotel Development Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No.
33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Innkeepers
Hospitality, Inc. for the Hampton Inn - West Palm Beach, Florida (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Consolidated Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and
Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. for certain hotels (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2000, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, Bank of America, N.A., Bank One, N.A., First Union National Bank and
PNC National Association and the lenders named therein (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).
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10.10(c)

10.11

10.12
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10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

First Amendment of Credit Agreement, Dated April 19, 2002 and effective as of March 29, 2002,
among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Bank of America, N.A., as
Issuing Bank, and Credit Lyonnais New York Branch, as Syndication Agent (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 31, 2002).

Second Amendment of Credit Agreement, dated April 19, 2002 and effective as of March 29,
2002, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, Bank of America,
N.A., as [ssuing Bank, and Credit Lyonnais New York Branch, as Syndication Agent (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-k filed on February 15,
2003). '

Seven Contribution Agreements, each dated as of September 16, 1996, between various
partnerships and Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership for the seven DeBoer Hotels (previously
filed as Exhibits 2.1 - 2.7 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 22, 1996 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Contribution Agreement between a partnership subsidiary of Innkeepers USA Trust and a
Summerfield Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of percentage lease agreement for Summerfield acquisition hotels (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Agreement on Franchise-Related matters between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships,
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Management Company, L.P., dated
as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form §-K filed on July 18§,
1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Lease Master Agreement between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Lease Company, L.P., dated as of June 20, 1997
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and
incorporated herein by reference). '

Voting Agreement among Jeffrey H. Fisher, Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships, and the beneficial holders of Units issued
to the Summerfield Group, dated June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Redemption and Registration Rights Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships and the beneficial holders of
Units issued to the Summerfield Group dated as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan agreement, dated as of September 24, 1999, among Bank of America, N.A., as lender, and
Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated September 24, 1999, from Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers
Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2000, from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Addison (TX), L.P., and Innkeepers RI Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,
2001).

Form of Deed of Trust for the loan evidenced by the Promissory Note filed as Exhibit 10.20
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,
2001).
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Loan Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1995, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Financing Partnership I, L.P., as borrower.

Promissory Note, dated as of October 6, 1995, from Innkeepers Financing Partnership II, L.P. to
Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

Assumption and Release Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1996, between Innkeepers
Residence Sili II, L.P. and Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Deed of Trust and Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of May 31, 1995, by
Innkeepers Residence Sili II, L.P. (as successor to original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts
Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Promissory Note, dated as of May 31, 1995, by Innkeepers Residence Sili II, L.P. (as successor to
original borrower) in favor of Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Loan Agreement, dated as of March 5, 1997, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Wichita East,
L.P., Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers Financing Partnership III, L.P., as
borrowers.

Promissory Note, dated as of March 5, 1997, by Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P.,
Innkeepers Residence Wichita East, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P. and Innkeepers
Financing Partnership 111, L.P. to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

Loan Agreement, dated as of February 19, 1998, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as
lender, and Innkeepers Financing Partnership 1V, L.P., Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers
Westchester, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General II, L.P., as borrowers.

Promissory Note, dated as of February 19, 1998, by Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P.,
Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P., Innkeepers Westchester, L.P., and Innkeepers Summerfield
General 11, L.P., to Nomura Asset Capital Corporation.

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP



EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES

Innkeepers USA Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company™), operates principally
through two entities, (i) Innkeepers Financial Corporation, a Virginia corporation (“IFC”), which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and (il) Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership, a Virginia limited partnership (the
“Partnership”), of which IFC is the sole general partner. All of the Company’s hotels are owned by the Partnership
or subsidiary limited partnerships that are owned 99% by the Partnership and 1% by either the Company directly or
corporations that are wholly-owned by the Company. The following table lists all of the subsidiaries of the
Company (other than [FC and the Partnership):

Innkeepers Financial Corporation 11
Innkeepers Financial Corporation I1I
Innkeepers Financial Corporation IV
Innkeepers Financial Corporation V
Innkeepers Financing Partnership, L.P.
Innkeepers Financing Partnership II, L.P.
Innkeepers Financing Partnership 111, L.P.
Innkeepers Financing Partnership IV, L.P.
Innkeepers Hampton Norcross, Inc.
Innkeepers Hampton Norcross, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Addison, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Addison, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Arlington, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Arlington, L.P.

Innkeepers Residence Atlanta-Downtown, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Denver-Downtown, L.P.

Innkeepers Residence East Lansing Inc.
Innkeepers Residence East Lansing L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Eden Prairie, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Eden Prairie, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Grand Rapids, Inc.

Innkeepers Residence Grand Rapids, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Portland, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Portland, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence San Mateo, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence San Mateo, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Shelton, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Sili I, L.P
Innkeepers Residence Sili 11, Inc.
Innkeepers Residence Sili 11, L.P.
Innkeepers Residence Wichita East, L.P.
Innkeepers RI Altamonte, Inc.
Innkeepers RI Altamonte, L.P.
Innkeepers RI General, Inc.

Innkeepers RI General, L.P.

Innkeepers RI Northwest, Inc.
Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P.
Innkeepers Schaumburg, L.P.
Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P.
Innkeepers Summerfield General I, L.P.
Innkeepers Sunrise Tinton Falls, L.P.
Innkeepers Westchester, L.P.



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Accountants

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements of Innkeepers USA
Trust on Form S-3 (File No. 33-97932, 333-20309, 333-31923, 333-37505, 333-53919, 333-53955, 333-58811,
333-70873, 333-93465, 333-43074 and 333-43076), of our reports (i) dated February 25, 2003 relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Innkeepers USA Trust; (i) dated February 25, 2003 relating to the financial
statement schedule of Innkeepers USA Trust; and (iil) dated February 25, 2003 relating to the combined financial
statements of Innkeepers Hospitality, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We also consent to the
reference 1o our firm under the caption “Selected Financial Data.”

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 13, 2003



CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey H. Fisher, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Innkeepers USA Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4/ The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have;

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions);

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Date: March 14, 2003

/s/ Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President




CERTIFICATION

1, David Bulger, certify that:
1. [ have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Innkeepers USA Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have;

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions);

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Date: March 14, 2003

/s/ David Bulger
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer




CERTIFICATION

I, Roger Poliak, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Innkeepers USA Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a matetial fact necessary to make the statements made regarding Innkeepers Hospitality, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements of Innkeepers Hospitality, and other financial
information included in this annual report regarding Innkeepers Hospitality, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Innkeepers Hospitality as of, and for, the periods
presented in this annual report;

4. Innkeepers Hospitality’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for Innkeepers
Hospitality and have;

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
Innkeepers Hospitality, including its combined affiliates, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of Innkeepers Hospitality’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a
date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. Innkeepers Hospitality’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to Innkeepers Hospitality’s auditors and board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions), and to
the audit committee of the Innkeepers USA Trust Board of Trustees;

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect Innkeepers Hospitality’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for Innkeepers Hospitality’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in Innkeepers Hospitality’s internal controls; and

6. Innkeepers Hospitality’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 14, 2003

/s/ Roger Pollak
Vice President of Accounting — Innkeepers Hospitality










